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Business Description
Equifax empowers businesses and consumers with information they can trust. We are a global leader in 
credit, risk and marketing information solutions, employment and income verifi cation, as well as human 
resources business process outsourcing services. Leveraging one of the largest sources of consumer and 
commercial data, along with advanced analytics and proprietary technology, we create customized insights 
that enrich both the performance of businesses and the lives of consumers.
 Customers have trusted Equifax for more than 100 years to deliver innovative solutions with the highest 
integrity and reliability. Businesses – large and small – rely on us for consumer and business credit intelligence, 
portfolio management, fraud detection, decisioning technology, marketing tools, workforce solutions, and 
much more. We empower individual consumers to manage their personal credit information, protect their 
identities and maximize their fi nancial well-being.
 Headquartered in Atlanta, Georgia, Equifax Inc. employs approximately 7,000 people in 14 countries 
throughout North America, Latin America and Europe. Equifax is a member of Standard & Poor’s (S&P) 
500® Index. Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol EFX.

 Twelve Months Ended 
 December 31,
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2007 2006  Change

Operating revenue $ 1,843.0 $ 1,546.3 19%
Operating income $ 486.2 $ 436.1 11%
Operating margin  26.4%  28.2% nm
Net income $ 272.7 $ 274.5 -1%
Diluted earnings per share  $ 2.02 $ 2.12 -5%
Weighted-average common shares outstanding (diluted) $ 135.1  129.4 4%
Cash provided by operating activities  $ 449.9 $ 372.1 21%
Stock price per share at December 31, $ 36.36 $ 40.60 -10%

Diluted earnings per share, adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP)* $ 2.32 $ 2.16 7%
 nm – not meaningful

*See reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measures to the corresponding GAAP financial measures on page 11.

Financial Highlights

E Q U I FA X  B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S

Richard F. Smith
Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer of Equifax since 
December 2005. Chief Executive Offi cer and Director 
since September 2005. Chief Operating Offi cer of GE 
Insurance Solutions from 2004 to August 2005; President 
and Chief Executive Offi cer of GE Property and Casualty 
Reinsurance from 2003 to 2004; President and Chief 
Executive Officer of GE Property and Casualty 
Reinsurance – Americas of GE Global Insurance Holdings 
Corporation from 2001 to 2003; and President and Chief 
Executive Offi cer of GE Capital Fleet Services from 
1995 to 2000.

William W. Canfi eld
Director since 2007. President of TALX Corporation, 
a subsidiary of Equifax Inc. Prior to the 2007 acquisition 
of TALX Corporation by Equifax Inc., Mr. Canfi eld served 
as President, Chief Executive Offi cer and director of 
TALX from 1986 to 1988 when he also became Chairman 
of the Board of TALX. He is also a director of Concur 
Technologies, Inc.

John L. Clendenin 
Director since 1982 and Lead Director from 2002 until 
2004. He served as Chairman, President and Chief 
Executive Offi cer of BellSouth Corporation from 1983 until 
his retirement in 1996. He continued to serve as Chairman 
until 1997. He also is a director of The Kroger Company, 
The Home Depot, Inc., Acuity Brands, Inc. and Powerwave 
Technologies, Inc. He will be retiring from the Equifax 
board in May 2008.

James E. Copeland, Jr. 
Director since 2003. Retired Chief Executive Offi cer of 
Deloitte & Touche LLP and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, 
public accounting fi rms. He served in such capacity from 
1999 until his retirement in 2003. He is also a director 
of Coca-Cola Enterprises Inc., ConocoPhillips and 
Time Warner Cable, Inc.

A. William Dahlberg 
Director from 1992 until his retirement in 2007. Retired 
Chairman of the Board of Mirant Corporation, an 
international energy producer, from 2000 to 2006. 
Previously, from 1995 until 2001, he served as Chairman 
and Chief Executive Offi cer of The Southern Company and, 
prior to that time, was President and Chief Executive 
Offi cer of Georgia Power Company.

Robert D. Daleo
Director since August 2006. Executive Vice President 
and Chief Financial Offi cer of The Thomson Corporation, 
a provider of integrated information solutions, since 1998. 
He has served as a director of The Thomson Corporation 
since 2001. He is a member of the Board of Trustees for 
the New Jersey Community Development Corporation.

Walter W. Driver, Jr.
Director since 2007. Chairman – Southeast of Goldman 
Sachs & Company since January 2006. Prior to that, 
Mr. Driver was Chairman of King & Spalding LLP, 
an international law fi rm, from 1999 to 2005. He is also 
a director of Total System Services, Inc.

Mark L. Feidler
Director since March 2007. Founding partner in 
MSouth Equity Partners, a private equity fi rm based in 
Atlanta. Former President, Chief Operating Offi cer and 
director of BellSouth Corporation from July 2005 until 
January 2007. He was appointed Chief Operating 
Offi cer of BellSouth Corporation in January 2005 and 
served as its Chief Staff Offi cer during 2004. He is also 
a director of New York Life Insurance Company. 

L. Phillip Humann 
Director since 1992. Executive Chairman of the Board 
of SunTrust Banks, Inc., a multi-bank holding company, 
since 2007. Also at SunTrust, he served as Chairman 
and Chief Executive Offi cer from 2004 to January 2007; 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offi cer from 
1998 to 2004; and President from 1991 to 1998. He is 
also a director of Coca-Cola Enterprises Inc., Haverty 
Furniture Companies, Inc. and the Federal Reserve 
Bank of Atlanta.

Lee A. Kennedy 
Director since 2004. President, Chief Executive 
Offi cer and director of Fidelity National Information 
Services, Inc., since 2006. He served as Chief 
Executive Officer of Certegy Inc. from 2001 until 
2006 when Certegy merged with Fidelity National 
Information Services, Inc. Prior to the spin-off of 
Certegy from Equifax, he served as President and 
Chief Operating Offi cer and a director of Equifax 
from 1998 June 2001. 

Siri S. Marshall
Director since August 2006. Retired General Counsel, 
Secretary, and Chief Governance and Compliance 
Offi cer of General Mills, Inc., a diversifi ed foods maker 
and distributor. She served in such capacity from 1994 
until her retirement in January 2008. She is also a 
director of Ameriprise Financial, Inc. and the Yale Law 
School Center for the Study of Corporate Law.

Larry L. Prince 
Director since 1988 and Lead Director since 2006. 
Chairman of the Executive Committee of Genuine Parts 
Company, an automotive parts wholesaler since 2005. 
He served as Chairman of the Board of Genuine Parts 
Company from 1990 until 2005 and Chief Executive 
Offi cer from 1989 until 2004. He is also a director of 
SunTrust Banks, Inc. and Crawford & Co. 

Newly Appointed Board Member
Mark B. Templeton

Director since February 2008. 
President and a director of Citrix 
Systems, Inc., a global software 
development fi rm, since 1998 and 
Chief Executive Offi cer from 2001 
to the present. Mr. Templeton also 
served as Chief Executive Offi cer of 

Citrix from 1999 to 2000 and as Senior Executive Offi cer 
of Citrix from 2000 to 2001. 

Jacquelyn M. Ward 
Director since 1999. Retired Chairman and Chief 
Executive Offi cer of Computer Generation Inc., a 
telecommunications company she co-founded, from 
1968 until it was acquired by Intec Telecom Systems 
in 2000. She is also a director of Bank of America 
Corporation, Flowers Foods, Inc., Sanmina-SCI 
Corporation, SYSCO Corporation and WellPoint, Inc.

Left to right (seated): Larry L. Prince, A. William Dahlberg, Richard F. Smith; left to right (standing): William W. Canfi eld, Lee A. Kennedy, 
Siri S. Marshall, L. Phillip Humann, John L. Clendenin, James E. Copeland, Jr., Jacquelyn M. Ward, Walter W. Driver, Jr., Robert D. Daleo, Mark L. Feidler
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Our customers are better informed through our unique 
data on business, employment and consumers.

INFORM

Our analytics leverage our unique data to provide powerful 
insights that help enrich business customers’ performance 
and consumers’ lives.

ENRICH

Our proprietary technology delivers information solutions 
and insights that empower customers to make the right 
decisions at the right time – and with greater confi dence.

EMPOWER
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The past year has been one of great ambition and great 

accomplishment on the part of a dedicated and determined 

Equifax team. We kept our commitments to shareholders 

by delivering another record performance in 2007, generat-

ing $1.84 billion in revenue and $2.32 in adjusted earnings 

per share. We also introduced innovative new products; 

increased penetration of Enabling Technologies and 

analytics; diversified our revenue base significantly when 

we completed the largest acquisition in Company history; 

and invested in new markets. 

All of this was accomplished in a culture where 

accountability and commitment to performance are 

inherent to who we are today and will be tomorrow. I am 

very proud of our performance and want to congratulate 

all of our employees on a job well done, as well as for 

their contributions to helping Equifax inform, enrich and 

empower our customers around the world.

A RESILIENT BUSINESS MODEL 

AND DIVERSIFIED REVENUE 

Over the past 12 months, the Company’s financial results 

have reflected the increasing breadth and diversity of 

our customer base, value-added solutions, geographic 

footprint and business franchise. Today, for example, we 

generate less than one-third of our global revenue from 

traditional financial institutions – down from 50 percent 

a few years ago. Our diverse and resilient business model 

helps us perform in challenging economic environments, 

such as the one we experienced in the United States 

during much of 2007. While growth slowed in our U.S. 

Consumer Information Solutions (USCIS) business, our 

four other businesses delivered outstanding results.

Below are highlights of our 2007 performance by 

business unit:

•  U.S. Consumer Information Solutions experienced flat 

revenue due to consumer lending pressures and a 

weaker economy creating a tough year for many of our 

largest customers. U.S. consumer online revenue grew 

through increased penetration of analytics and Enabling 

Technologies, offset by decreases in mortgage reporting, 

credit marketing and direct marketing services.

•  Our International business delivered a strong 

performance, growing revenue 17 percent and 10 per-

cent in local currency as they broadened their product 

line to address increasingly complex business needs. 

This business also expanded operating margins across 

much of Europe, Latin America and Canada. 

•  TALX, our newest business unit, achieved revenue 

of $179.4 million, and added 23.1 million records 

to The Work Number® database, which now totals 

166 million consumer employment and income 

records. The TALX integration, including revenue 

and expense synergies, is exceeding our expectations.

•  North America Personal Solutions delivered impressive 

results – revenue grew 22 percent and operating mar-

gin was 22 percent – as it shifted its strategy to more 

aggressively market subscription-based services. These 

subscription-based services now account for 69 percent 

of sales, up from 53 percent in 2006.

•  North America Commercial Solutions had a strong 

year with revenue climbing 37 percent as we expanded 

product offerings and continued to add files to our 

databases. We also fully integrated Austin-Tetra’s supplier 

and customer data management capabilities to offer 

enterprise-wide customer and supplier visibility. 

Rick Smith
Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer

To Our Shareholders:

EQU-NAR_PTR.cgla indd   1EQU-NAR_PTR.cgla indd   1 3/11/08   2:11:06 PM3/11/08   2:11:06 PM
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FOUR PILLARS OF GROWTH 

In 2007, our team demonstrated how we lead and perform 

in challenging market conditions, keep our commitments, 

and continue to make significant progress in each of the 

four pillars of our growth strategy. 

Equifax is winning a greater share-of-wallet, in large 

part due to product innovation and value-based pricing 

which together delivered nearly three percentage points of 

revenue growth in 2007. During the year, we introduced 

more than 50 new products. Similarly, we are integrating 

our Enabling Technologies and analytic services more 

effectively into comprehensive solutions while aligning 

price with the higher value delivered. By 2010, we expect 

new products introduced during the previous three years 

to add $200 million in incremental revenue. 

Equifax Enabling Technologies and analytic solutions 

are increasing their penetration. Our proprietary tech-

nologies and analytics are strong global competitive 

differentiators that enrich data to create valuable insights 

for our customers – and we are integrating them into all 

of our business units. Over the past year, the number of 

online transactions delivered through Enabling Technologies 

increased from 27 percent to 29 percent in the United States. 

In 2007, 17 percent of U.S. online transaction volume 

included scores from analytical models built by Equifax, 

up from 13 percent in 2006. 

Already, Enabling Technologies and analytic solutions 

represent 13 percent of total international revenue. In fact, 

InformationWeek magazine recently cited this technological 

leadership by naming us one of its “Magnificent Seven” 

and noting that, at Equifax, “technology and business 

strategy are one and the same.”

Equifax is investing in unique data assets. One of 

our most significant accomplishments in 2007 was the 

acquisition of TALX Corporation, a leading provider of 

employment verification and other workforce solutions. 

The core asset of the TALX business is The Work Number® 

consumer employment and income database. Consumer 

credit, demographic and employment data offer a unique 

competitive advantage for our growth strategy. 

Equifax is expanding into adjacent markets. New 

geographic markets will be an important source of long-

term growth. We have targeted four countries – India, 

Russia, Mexico and China – whose demographic and 

economic profiles point to opportunities for growth in both 

consumer and commercial information-based businesses. 

Equifax has submitted an application to the Reserve Bank 

of India (RBI) to operate a credit information company 

in response to RBI’s request for applications in 2007. In 

February 2008, we reached a preliminary understanding 

with CRISIL Limited and Tata Capital Limited to jointly 

develop plans to create a credit information company in 

India. In 2008, we will enter other markets where our 

strategy will vary according to local market dynamics 

and our relationships with key partners in those coun-

tries. These expansion opportunities will help drive 

the long-term growth and strong financial performance 

of our Company. 

INNOVATION AND A HIGH-PERFORMANCE CULTURE 

Innovation is a hallmark of the Equifax culture and 

transcends every level of our Company. Our strategic 

initiatives are succeeding in large part due to a cultural 

transformation. We continue to build on our best-in-class 

workforce and to further advance meritocracy. The next 

generation of innovators and leaders will be those who 

embrace this transformation, best embody One Team, 

One Voice, One Vision, and contribute to the growth 

of our business. 

To Our Shareholders continued

REVENUE BY BUSINESS UNIT

 U.S. Consumer 
 Information Solutions 53%

 International 26%
 TALX 10%
 North America 

 Personal Solutions 8%
  North America Commercial
Information Solutions 3%

A more diverse revenue base has led to a more resilient 
business model.
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For new products, we have developed a finely tuned 

decisioning mechanism that ensures investment is directed 

toward projects meeting market needs and yielding the 

highest returns. This process has been responsible for 

broadening our mortgage business from a single product 

into a comprehensive solution suite. Equifax Settlement 

Services provides customers with a faster, more efficient 

product solution for the mortgage closing process. 

The innovation process begins with a clear 

understanding of our customer needs. “Voice-of-the-

customer” insights are regularly fed to our Growth 

Council, a team of innovative thinkers from across the 

Company who ideate solutions around customer needs. 

Our new collaborative intranet portal, Idea Marketplace, 

enables employees around the world to also offer ideas for 

new products and solutions that better serve customers.

A high-performance culture demands excellence. 

Global Centers of Excellence are proving critical to our 

strategic transformation. Organizing around specialized 

disciplines and expertise at the enterprise level, our busi-

nesses receive higher-level support, so they can focus 

more intently on their customers’ needs. For instance, 

Global Operations is implementing LEAN initiatives and 

processes – reducing service level costs so that greater 

resources can be directed toward growth and innovation.

Innovation and a commitment to excellence are 

transforming Equifax into an increasingly customer-centric 

company. An organization that is creating leading-edge 

solutions which empower our business customers to 

compete more efficiently and effectively – and con-

sumers to take a more active role in managing their 

credit. This transformation was recognized when Equifax 

was named as one of FORTUNE magazine’s 2007 most 

admired companies – a well-deserved honor for the 7,000 

Equifax employees world-wide.

POISED FOR GROWTH 

The past two years have been a period of tremendous 

progress at Equifax. Our business model was tested by 

the severe economic climate in the U.S. housing and credit 

markets. Despite pressure on our largest business unit, 

Equifax delivered a strong performance. Carefully 

listening to our clients; providing insights to help them 

understand market trends; and creating solutions that work 

in all economic environments will contribute to the 

continued success of Equifax. The economic challenges 

remain as I prepare this letter, further reinforcing the 

importance and the need for our insights and solutions.

As we enter 2008, Equifax is in an unprecedented 

position to inform, enrich and empower our customers. 

This position offers great potential for growth, which we 

are turning into performance and value for our shareholders. 

We have a resilient and diverse business model. We have 

a clearly defined growth strategy driven by a strong 

management team. We have a culture of highly motivated 

employees to execute this strategy. And we have a con-

sistent record of meeting our shareholders’ expectations.

While much has been accomplished in our 109-year 

history, we have even more to achieve. As a nimble, 

innovative and customer-centric organization, our team 

has what it takes to continue winning in the marketplace 

for our customers, our shareholders and our employees. 

Sincerely,

Richard F. Smith

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

REVENUE BY INDUSTRY

 Financial 32%
 Mortgage 12%
 Consumer 10%
 Commercial 8%
 Retail 7%
 Automotive 7%
 Human Resources 5%
 Telecommunications 5%
 Other(1) 14%

(1) Other includes revenues from government, 
marketing services, insurance and healthcare 
end-users.

Traditional financial institutions comprise less than one-third 
of consolidated revenue today.

EQU-NAR_PTR.cgla indd   3EQU-NAR_PTR.cgla indd   3 3/11/08   2:12:07 PM3/11/08   2:12:07 PM



4  E Q U I FA X   |   2 0 0 7  A N N U A L R E P O RT

U.S. Consumer Information Solutions empowers companies 

to better manage their businesses. We help our clients 

acquire new customers, retain them and garner greater 

revenue and profit from existing customers. In this process, 

we become an essential part of our clients’ decision-

making, their customer relationship management and their 

new business development – all of which makes Equifax 

critical to our clients’ businesses every second of every day.

Our consumer information business is experiencing 

a new era of opportunity, driven by unique predictive 

analytics and Enabling Technologies that provide real-

time, integrated solutions to clients across a diverse 

range of industry segments. As a result, we are able to 

provide our clients with insight and visibility into their 

businesses as never before. 

For instance, we can analyze a client’s portfolio 

to reveal which of their customers are going elsewhere to 

obtain new accounts. Armed with this intelligence, we can 

work with clients to design customized solutions that better 

target prospects and customers, monitor activity, and 

cross-sell services – turning a lost opportunity into additional 

revenue and a more loyal customer. Equifax Settlement 

Services is another example of how we offer integrated 

solutions that incorporate new and existing products. 

Combining traditional mortgage closing functions with 

analytic and marketing data, this product suite provides 

clients with a more efficient settlement process in as little 

as one day, rather than weeks. As both examples illustrate, 

we have the opportunity to expand our client relationships 

by participating with them in a broader range of decision 

points and service solutions.

In every case, Equifax is more successful because 

we are helping our clients better acquire, serve and retain 

customers. In addition, they increase their revenue and 

profitability. Because these solutions are in real time, 

opportunity translates into real dollars faster than ever – 

for our clients and for Equifax. 

DANN ADAMS

PRESIDENT, 
U.S. CONSUMER INFORMATION SOLUTIONS

“Our internal mantra is ‘Great companies are known for the 
problems they solve, not the products they sell.’ We have 
more data assets, more powerful analytics and more robust 
technology than ever before. By integrating these into unique 
solutions that address customer challenges, we are delivering 
an entirely new level of customer value.”

U.S. Consumer Information Solutions

Approximately 30 percent of all our online transactions 
use capabilities from our broad suite of Equifax 
Enabling Technologies.

ENABLING TECHNOLOGY TRANSACTIONS
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The Equifax International businesses empower global 

commerce. This is a big statement built on a simple idea: 

We solve client challenges so they can grow revenues and 

maximize their return on investment. We make this happen 

by introducing Equifax products and Enabling Technologies 

from one geographic market to another, sharing best 

practices among our global management team and exe-

cuting at the local level. This is, in effect, a business of 

exporting good ideas and good processes. Our strategy is 

very profitable. In 2007, operating margins reached 29.8 

percent on revenues of $472.8 million. 

The momentum we have established will continue 

through several initiatives. One initiative is to “overachieve” 

in core businesses – which differ by country. This means 

winning both more clients and a greater share of each client’s 

expenditures. Another is driving growth by adapting best-

in-class products and services to other countries.

For example, we are developing a strategy across multiple 

geographies to leverage InterConnect™, an enabling tech-

nology that has been a transformational force in our Equifax 

North America business. Currently more than 80 new 

products are in our International development pipeline. 

A third initiative involves developing adjacent markets, 

such as government, healthcare, mortgage and telecom-

munications. Furthermore, we will drive future growth 

through geographic expansion. We have identified four 

countries – India, Russia, Mexico and China – where we 

intend to develop a presence in coming years, though the 

timing and entry strategy will differ by country. 

Through the continuing hard work of our team, 

Equifax is building an even stronger – and growing – 

International business.

International

A STRONG AND GROWING INTERNATIONAL PRESENCE

Our businesses outside of the U.S. are currently in countries 
that together total more than 400 million people and have an 
aggregate gross domestic product of $9 trillion – approximately 
70 percent of the U.S. Gross Domestic Product. 

RUDY PLODER

PRESIDENT, 
INTERNATIONAL

“Success in our International business reflects a true team 
effort. Our global senior management continually share their 
respective successes to determine in which countries we 
can make these successes work next. Many of our clients are 
global companies needing solutions across multiple geographies. 
Thanks to the cohesiveness of our management team, we can 
meet their expectations. Regardless of whether our clients are 
in the developed or developing world, they demand best-in-class 
service – and we deliver day in and day out.”

 Current Markets

 Target Markets

EQU-NAR_PTR.cgla indd   5EQU-NAR_PTR.cgla indd   5 3/11/08   2:12:36 PM3/11/08   2:12:36 PM
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TALX empowers companies with workforce information 

solutions. These solutions include employment verification 

and other employment-related services for over 9,000 

clients in the United States and more than 75 percent of 

companies in the FORTUNE 500® Index. The TALX 

sweet spot is managing workforce information. The Work 

Number® database contains over 166 million employment 

records, and we are adding over one million new records 

per month. We use technology to enrich our solutions and 

empower our customers – much like Equifax Enabling 

Technologies. Accordingly, our business model parallels 

other Equifax business units, with two-thirds of our revenue 

recurring and diversified among multiple vertical segments.

We will apply to our business the same strategies 

that are driving growth throughout Equifax today:

•  Growing unique data assets – The Work Number® 

database – and leveraging them across new markets, 

new applications and new customer segments 

•  Cross-selling our high-value services to existing 

customers and gaining more share-of-wallet 

•  Bringing to market select new services that meet 

client needs for value and streamlined workflow 

As part of Equifax, these growth drivers are more 

dynamic than ever before. Lead generation and cross-selling 

opportunities are a top priority, and synergistic efforts are 

well under way between TALX and other Equifax busi-

ness units. As these synergies gain traction, customers will 

discover new and powerful solutions to help manage 

relationships with those most important to them: their 

customers and their employees. 

TALX

BILL CANFIELD

PRESIDENT, TALX

“Our core business revolves around employment verification 
through The Work Number®, tax management and talent 
assessment services. We gather workforce information from 
employers and serve as their agents for employment verification. 
We then market our services to companies needing to verify 
employment and income information. Our leading verification 
market segments include pre-employment screening, social 
services, consumer finance, auto lending and mortgage lending. 
Though some of our customers overlap with existing Equifax 
customers, many do not – creating enormous opportunity to 
cross-sell our respective client bases.”

The Work Number® database is at the core of our 
workforce solutions business. 

THE WORK NUMBER® DATABASE 
1997-2007
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North America Personal Solutions empowers consumers 

to manage their financial health. When consumers want to 

protect themselves against identity theft, we can help. When 

consumers want to actively manage information about 

themselves as part of their overall financial management, 

again, we can help. These consumers account for about 

76 percent of spending in the $1.25 billion personal 

solutions marketplace. 

Over the past year, we have repositioned our business 

to focus almost entirely on acquiring and retaining these 

“Protectors” and “Managers” – and the results have been 

positive. Recurring subscription revenue rose to 69 percent 

of our total revenue, growing closer to our goal of 75 per-

cent. This repositioning also is improving profitability as 

we focus on the highest-margin areas of the market. 

Acquiring and retaining customers, as well as 

increasing the dollars they spend with us, have been, and 

will continue to be, our key growth drivers. Our success 

depends on one dynamic: understanding and listening to 

customers. We are doing so more effectively than ever. 

We improved customer experience at our primary 

point of contact by introducing a new consumer portal and 

redesigned website. Overall, customer satisfaction with 

site usability is up 17 percent. We also expanded call center 

operations to better meet the needs of our growing subscrip-

tion customer base and thereby improve retention. And 

we shifted the tone of our CRM program from sales-driven 

to loyalty-based, a strategy yielding positive customer 

response. We expect momentum to continue as Personal 

Solutions maintains its course of empowering consumers 

to take greater control over their financial well-being.

North America Personal Solutions

Consumers are more worried 
about protecting their identities

Internet is changing the way 
commerce is conducted

Consumer networks are 
rapidly growing

STEVE ELY

PRESIDENT, 
NORTH AMERICA PERSONAL SOLUTIONS

“Listening to consumers and responding to their needs is at the 
heart of our business. We have unique capabilities to help con-
sumers manage their financial health and protect their identities.
Today, we help consumers understand the power of their credit 
while providing needed insight to make good financial decisions 
throughout their lives. With a trusted reputation for managing 
extremely confidential information, we continue to explore ways 
to serve consumers in the ever-changing digital world.” 

GROWING A RECURRING REVENUE STREAM

2004-2007

Increasing the number of subscription customers is growing 
recurring revenue for North America Personal Solutions.
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North America Commercial Information Solutions 

empowers businesses to do business with one another. 

We have entered the $1.7 billion commercial market by 

establishing a leadership position of enabling large busi-

nesses to work with small businesses. Small business 

transactions account for the majority of commercial credit 

lending activity in the United States and Canada – and our 

clients have told us that the small business sector offers 

critical growth potential. 

 Our credit databases are 

the largest in the industry for 

U.S. and Canadian small busi-

ness information, placing us in 

a unique position to help our 

clients grow. At year-end, our 

commercial databases contained credit information on 

approximately 24 million U.S. and 2.4 million Canadian 

businesses. U.S. files continue to grow in depth and 

breadth. Enhancements include more multi-industry 

payment experiences, extensive financial services 

information and public record data, such as Secretary 

of State as well as Securities and Exchange Commission 

registrations. In addition, our market-leading corporate 

linkage technology reveals business-to-business relation-

ships and is supported by superior predictive analytics.

Furthermore, best-in-class decisioning products, 

such as scoring models that blend both proprietor and 

small business data, enable 

clients to make more sound 

risk or marketing decisions. 

This type of unique 

intelligence is helping our 

clients win in the marketplace. 

Our financial exchange members 

tell us they are experiencing as much as a 15 percent 

increase in new account approvals while keeping delin-

quencies constant. We are confident that our commercial 

business can double in size and market share by 2010. 

North America Commercial Information Solutions

2007 HIGHLIGHTS

• Double-digit revenue growth

•  U.S. transaction volume up more than 30 percent

•  New client growth of more than 50 percent

•  Clients include top 30 small business credit 

card issuers 

MICHAEL SHANNON

PRESIDENT, 
NORTH AMERICA COMMERCIAL INFORMATION SOLUTIONS

“Our long-term goal is to be the premier provider of commercial 
decisioning solutions in the marketplace. We do so by providing 
our clients with a unique, 360-degree view of their existing 
and prospective customers; leveraging our proprietary Small 
Business Financial Exchange and comprehensive customer 
relationship management solutions; providing the industry’s 
most predictive scores; capitalizing on multi-industry risk 
decisioning platforms that support our unique data; and offering 
premier marketing solutions to clients.”

DOUBLE-DIGIT GROWTH

2004-2007
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Both revenue and operating income have increased 
year-over-year.

8  E Q U I FA X   |   2 0 0 7  A N N U A L R E P O RT

EQU-NAR_PTR.cglaR1.indd   8EQU-NAR_PTR.cglaR1.indd   8 3/13/08   5:44:33 PM3/13/08   5:44:33 PM



 E Q U I FA X   |   2 0 0 7  A N N U A L R E P O RT  9

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Richard F. Smith (2005)
Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer
Equifax Inc.

William W. Canfi eld (2007)
President – TALX
Equifax Inc.

John L. Clendenin (1982)
Retired Chairman of the Board
BellSouth Corporation
Committees: Finance; Governance

James E. Copeland, Jr. (2003)
Retired Chief Executive Offi cer
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Committees: Executive; 
Chairman of Audit Committee

Robert D. Daleo (2006)
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Offi cer
The Thomson Corporation
Committees: Audit; Finance

Walter W. Driver, Jr. (2007)
Chairman – Southeast
Goldman Sachs & Co.
Committee: Governance

Mark L. Feidler (2007)
Founding Partner of 
MSouth Equity Partners
Committee: Audit

L. Phillip Humann (1992)
Executive Chairman of the Board
SunTrust Banks, Inc.
Committees: Executive; Compensation, Human 
Resources and Management Succession; 
Chairman of Governance Committee

Lee A. Kennedy (2004)
President, Chief Executive Offi cer and Director
Fidelity National Information Services, Inc.
Committees: Executive; Governance; 
Chairman of Finance Committee

Siri S. Marshall (2006)
Retired General Counsel, Secretary, and 
Chief Governance and Compliance Offi cer
General Mills, Inc.
Committees: Governance; Compensation, 
Human Resources and Management Succession

Larry L. Prince (1988)
Chairman of the Executive Committee
Genuine Parts Company
Committees: Finance; Chairman of 
Compensation, Human Resources and 
Management Succession Committee; 
Chairman of Executive Committee; 
Lead Director

Mark B.Templeton (2008)
President, Chief Executive Offi cer and Director
Citrix Systems, Inc.
Committee: Finance

Jacquelyn M. Ward (1999)
Retired Chairman and 
Chief Executive Offi cer 
Computer Generation, Inc.
Committee: Compensation, Human Resources 
and Management Succession

Date indicates year of election.

CORPORATE OFFICERS
Richard F. Smith
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Offi cer

Lee Adrean
Corporate Vice President,
Chief Financial Offi cer

Kent E. Mast
Corporate Vice President,
Chief Legal Offi cer

Coretha M. Rushing
Corporate Vice President,
Chief Human Resources Offi cer

Paul J. Springman
Corporate Vice President,
Chief Marketing Offi cer

Robert J. Webb
Corporate Vice President,
Chief Information Offi cer

Dean C. Arvidson
Corporate Secretary

Nuala M. King
Corporate Controller

Mark E. Young
Treasurer

CONTACTS
Corporate Offi ces
Equifax Inc.
1550 Peachtree Street, N.W.
Atlanta, Georgia 30309
Telephone (404) 885-8000
www.equifax.com

Shareholder Services
Kathryn J. Harris
Offi ce of the Corporate Secretary
corpsec@equifax.com

Investor Relations
Jeffrey L. Dodge
investor@equifax.com

Public Relations
David M. Rubinger
pr@equifax.com

Transfer Agent and Registrar
American Stock Transfer & 
 Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane, Plaza Level
New York, New York 10038
Telephone (866) 665-2279

Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm
Ernst & Young LLP
55 Ivan Allen Jr. Boulevard,
Suite 1000
Atlanta, Georgia 30308

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S ,
C O R P O R A T E  O F F I C E R S  A N D  C O N T A C T S
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Equifax began operations in 1899 and became a publicly owned corporation 
in 1965. Equifax common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange 
under the symbol EFX.

DIVIDENDS 
Cash dividends have been paid by Equifax for 95 consecutive years. The 
Board of Directors sets the record and payment dates for dividends. A 
dividend of 4 cents per share was paid in March 2008. Equifax normally 
pays dividends on March 15, June 15, September 15 and December 15.

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE
Quarter 2007 2006

First   $0.04 $0.04
Second  0.04 0.04
Third   0.04 0.04
Fourth   0.04 0.04
Year    $0.16 $0.16

INVESTORS’ SERVICE PLAN
The Investors’ Service Plan provides shareholders and other investors with 
a convenient and economical way to purchase shares of Equifax common 
stock directly through the Plan. Current shareholders may purchase additional 
shares and non-shareholders may make initial investments through the Plan 
Administrator, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company. Shareholders 
may reinvest their quarterly dividends and may make optional cash invest-
ments weekly in amounts up to $10,000 per month. A brochure and 
enrollment form are available by calling toll-free (866) 665-2279.

ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING
The Equifax annual meeting of shareholders will be held at 9:30 a.m. on 
Friday, May 9, 2008, in the Walter C. Hill Auditorium at the High Museum 
of Art, Atlanta, Georgia. A proxy statement and notice of the meeting will 
be distributed to shareholders with this annual report.

EQUIFAX ON THE INTERNET
A broad range of consumer, business, investor and governance information 
is available at www.equifax.com.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Investor requests for fi nancial information may be directed by phone to 
(404) 885-8000; in writing to P.O. Box 4081, Atlanta, Georgia 30302; or by 
email to investor@equifax.com. Requests may be faxed to (404) 885-8988. 
Shareholders may obtain a copy of our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
without charge, by writing to the Corporate Secretary, P.O. Box 4081, 
Atlanta, Georgia 30302, or online from our website, www.equifax.com.

STOCK PRICES

     2007 2006 2005

Quarter High Low High Low High Low

First   $42.00 $35.91 $39.42 $36.20 $31.57 $26.97
Second  $44.88 $36.50 $38.86 $33.59 $36.52 $29.63
Third   $46.30 $35.93 $37.84 $30.15 $38.07 $32.60
Fourth  $40.21 $35.22 $41.64 $35.30 $38.98 $33.50
Year   $46.30 $35.22 $41.64 $30.15 $38.98 $26.97

Equifax is a registered trademark of Equifax Inc. InterConnect® is a 
registered trademark of Equifax Inc. THE WORK NUMBER® is a registered 
trademark of the TALX Corporation. All other trademarks and service marks 
not owned by Equifax Inc. or its subsidiaries that appear in this annual 
report are the property of their respective owners. Copyright ©2008, 
Equifax Inc., Atlanta, Georgia. All rights reserved. Printed in the U.S.A.

NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS
On May 11, 2007, we fi led with the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, the Annual CEO Certifi cation regarding Equifax’s compliance with the 
NYSE Listed Company Manual. In addition, Equifax has fi led as exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to its annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2007, the applicable certifi cations of its Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 
regarding the quality of Equifax’s public disclosures.
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 2007 2006

Diluted earnings per share – GAAP $2.02 $   2.12
Aquisition-related amortization 
 expense, net of tax 0.30 0.15
Litigation loss contingencies, net of tax – 0.04
Litigation settlement – (0.11)
Income tax benefit – (0.07)
Charge related to organizational realignment, 
 net of tax – 0.03
Diluted earnings per share, adjusted 
 for certain items – Non-GAAP $2.32 $   2.16

The references in the “Financial Highlights” section to “diluted 
earnings per share, adjusted for certain items” on the inside cover, 
to “adjusted earnings per share” on page 1, and to North America 
Personal Solutions operating income for 2006, excluding a litigation 
loss contingency, in the table on page 7 of this annual report, exclude 
certain items from the nearest equivalent presentation under U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. The non-
GAAP measures are provided to show the performance of our core 
operations without the effect of the excluded items, consistent with 
how our management reviews and assesses Equifax’s historical 
performance when measuring operating profi tability, evaluating 
performance trends and setting performance objectives. The non-
GAAP measures are not a measurement of fi nancial performance 
under GAAP, should not be considered as an alternative to net 
income, operating income, operating margin or earnings per share, 
and may not be comparable to non-GAAP fi nancial measures used 
by other companies.

Diluted Earnings per Share, Adjusted for Certain Items and Adjusted 
Earnings per Share. These non-GAAP measures each exclude the 
following items:

Acquisition-Related Amortization Expense. Excluding acquisition-
related amortization expense, net of tax, of $40.7 million and 
$19.3 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively, provides meaningful 
supplemental information regarding our fi nancial results for the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 as it allows 
investors to evaluate our performance for different periods on a more 
comparable basis by excluding items that relate to acquisition-related 
intangible assets.

Litigation Loss Contingencies. During the fi rst nine months of 2006, 
we recorded a $5.0 million, pretax, ($3.0 million, net of tax) loss 
contingency related to certain legal matters. Of this $5.0 million, 
a pretax loss of $4.0 million was recognized in selling, general 
and administrative expenses and $1.0 million was recognized in 
cost of services on our Consolidated Statements of Income. This 
loss is included within our North America Personal Solutions 
segment fi nancial results.
 During the third quarter of 2006, we also recorded a $4.0 million, 
pretax, ($2.5 million, net of tax) loss associated with certain litigation 
matters within our U.S. Consumer Information Solutions segment. 
Of this $4.0 million pretax loss, $3.5 million was recognized in 
selling, general and administrative expenses and $0.5 million was 

recognized in cost of services on our Consolidated Statements 
of Income.
 Management believes excluding these litigation matters from 
certain fi nancial results provides meaningful supplemental informa-
tion regarding our fi nancial results for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2006, as compared to the same period in 2007, 
since the litigation loss contingencies of such a material amount 
during the period are not comparable to similar activity in the 
subsequent period presented. 

Litigation Settlement. In June 2006, we consummated a settlement 
of claims against certain former selling shareholders of Naviant, Inc. 
In 2004, we served a demand for arbitration alleging, among other 
things, that the sellers were liable for rescission or for indemnifi -
cation as a result of breaches of various representations and 
warranties concerning information furnished to us in connection 
with our acquisition of Naviant, Inc. in 2002. As a result of this 
settlement, we recognized a $14.1 million non-taxable gain in other 
income, net, on our Consolidated Statement of Income for the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2006. 
 Management believes excluding this litigation settlement from 
certain fi nancial results provides meaningful supplemental infor-
mation regarding our fi nancial results for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2006, as compared to the same period in 2007, since 
the gain related to the litigation settlement associated with our 
previous acquisition of Naviant, Inc. is material and is not refl ective 
of our core operations. 

Income Tax Benefi t. During the third quarter of 2006, the applicable 
statute of limitations related to uncertain tax positions expired, 
resulting in the reversal of the related income tax reserve. The 
reversal of the reserve resulted in a $9.5 million income tax benefi t. 
The income tax benefi t was recorded in provision for income taxes 
on our Consolidated Statements of Income for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2006.
 Management believes excluding this income tax benefit 
from certain fi nancial results provides meaningful supplemental 
information regarding our fi nancial results for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2006, as compared to the same period in 2007, 
since an income tax benefi t of such a material amount is not 
comparable to similar activity in the subsequent period presented. 

Organizational Realignment. During the fourth quarter of 2006, 
we recorded a $6.4 million, pretax, ($4.0 million, net of tax) 
severance charge related to our organizational realignment. 
Management believes excluding this charge from certain fi nancial 
results provides meaningful supplemental information regarding 
our fi nancial results for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2006, as compared to the same period in 2007, since a charge of 
such a material amount during the periods is not comparable to 
similar activity in the subsequent period presented. 

2006 Operating Income of our North America Personal Solutions 
Segment. Excludes the litigation loss contingency of $5.0 million 
mentioned above, for the reasons noted. 

R E C O N C I L I A T I O N S  R E L A T E D  T O  N O N - G A A P  F I N A N C I A L  M E A S U R E S
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 Initial 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

 December 31,

    Initial 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Equifax Inc. $100 $106.26 $122.40 $166.33 $178.41 $160.43
Dow Jones U.S. General Financial Index $100 $137.38 $151.32 $163.32 $203.16 $172.01
S&P 500 Index $100 $128.68 $142.69 $149.70 $173.34 $182.87

The following five-year performance graph compares our 
cumulative total shareholder return with the Standard & Poor’s 
Composite Stock Index (S&P 500) and our peer group, the 
Dow Jones U.S. General Financial Index. The graph assumes 
that the value of the investment in our Common Stock, the 
S&P 500 Index and the peer group was $100 on the last trad-
ing day of fi scal 2002, and that all dividends were reinvested 
without commissions. 
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PART I

Item 1.
BUSINESS

OVERVIEW
Equifax Inc. (which may be referred to as Equifax, the Company, 
we, us or our) is a leading global provider of information solutions 
for businesses and consumers. Our products and services are 
based on comprehensive databases of consumer and business 
information derived from numerous types of credit, fi nancial, 
public record, demographic and marketing data. We use proprietary 
analytical tools to analyze this data to create customized insights, 
decision-making solutions and processing services for businesses. 
We help consumers understand, manage and protect their personal 
information and to make more informed fi nancial decisions. Upon 
our acquisition of TALX Corporation, or TALX, on May 15, 2007, 
we became a leading provider of payroll-related and human 
resources business process outsourcing services in the United 
States of America, or U.S.
 We currently operate in three global regions: North America 
(U.S., Canada and Costa Rica), Europe (the United Kingdom, 
or U.K., the Republic of Ireland, Spain and Portugal) and Latin 
America (Brazil, Argentina, Chile, El Salvador, Honduras, Peru 
and Uruguay). Of the countries in which we operate, 73% of our 
revenue was generated in the U.S. during 2007.
 We are organized and report our business results in 
fi ve operating segments, as follows:
 •  U.S. Consumer Information Solutions (USCIS). Provides 

consumer information solutions to businesses in the U.S. 
including online credit data and credit decision technology 
solutions, mortgage reporting and settlement solutions, 

consumer credit-based marketing services and direct 
marketing services based on demographic and other 
consumer information.

 •  TALX. Provides services enabling clients to outsource 
and automate the performance of certain payroll and 
human resources business processes, including employment 
and income verification, tax management and talent 
management services.

 •  North America Personal Solutions. Provides products to 
consumers enabling them to monitor and protect their credit 
information and make more informed fi nancial decisions.

 •  North America Commercial Solutions. Provides credit, 
financial, marketing and other information regarding 
businesses in the U.S. and Canada.

 •  International. Includes our Canada Consumer, Europe and 
Latin America business units. Products and services offered 
are similar to those available in the USCIS, North America 
Commercial Solutions and North America Personal Solutions 
operating segments but vary by geographic region.

 Our revenue base and business mix are diversifi ed among our 
fi ve segments as depicted in the following chart. We have further 
diversifi ed the mix of products and services we offer during 2007. 
As depicted in the chart below regarding our business mix, our 
core credit reporting operating segment, USCIS, represented 
53% of consolidated revenue in 2007 compared to 63% in 2006. 
Revenue from our newest operating segment, TALX, was 
generated from the date of its acquisition on May 15, 2007 through 
the end of the fi scal year. TALX represented 12% of our revenue 
growth in 2007, while the traditional Equifax operating segments 
contributed 7%. In our most recent quarter, the fourth quarter of 
2007, USCIS represented 47% of total company revenue, while 
TALX represented 15% of company revenue.
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For More Information About Us
We were founded in Atlanta, Georgia, in 1899, incorporated in 
Georgia in 1913, and have been known as Equifax Inc. since 1975. 
We have been publicly owned since 1965, have been listed on the 
New York Stock Exchange since 1971 and are a member of 
the S&P 500 and certain other stock indices.
 On our Internet web site, www.equifax.com, we post the 
following fi lings as soon as reasonably practicable after they are 
electronically fi led with, or furnished to, the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, or SEC. These reports are required by 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and include annual reports 
on Form 10-K; quarterly reports on Form 10-Q; current reports on 
Form 8-K; proxy statements on Schedule 14A; and any amendments 
to these reports or statements. The SEC also maintains a web site, 
www.sec.gov, that contains reports, proxy and information 
statements regarding issuers that fi le electronically with the 

SEC. The content on any web site referred to in this Form 10-K 
is not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K unless 
expressly noted.

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
Our product and service offerings are highly diversifi ed and include 
consumer and business credit information, information database 
management, marketing information, decisioning and analytical 
tools, and identity verifi cation services that enable businesses to 
increase the speed and quality of their decision making regarding 
credit offers and other services, mitigate fraud, manage portfolio 
risk and customer relationships and develop marketing strategies. 
We offer a portfolio of products marketed to individual consumers 
that enable them to better understand, manage and protect their 
fi nancial affairs. We provide employment and income verifi cation 
and human resources business process outsourcing services.
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 The following chart depicts the types of services offered by each of the business units within our segments.

Summary of Key Products and Services by Business Unit

USCIS
North 

America 
Personal 
Solutions

North 
America 

Commercial 
Solutions

International TALX

OCIS CMS DMS
Mortgage 
Services

Canada 
Consumer Europe

Latin 
America

The Work 
Number®

Tax & Talent
Management 

Services

Online consumer 
 credit reports X X X X X X

Consumer scores and 
 analytical services X X X X X X X X

Enabling technology 
 services (i.e., credit 
 decisioning platforms) X X X X X X

Consumer identity 
 authentication X X X X

Consumer marketing services
 and database management X X X X X X

Business credit reports,
 scores and analytical services X X X

Business marketing services
 and database management X X X

Business demographic 
 information X X X

Direct to consumer
 credit monitoring X X

Mortgage settlement services X

Income and employment 
 verification X

Tax management services X

Talent management services X
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 Each of our segments is described more fully below.

USCIS
USCIS provides consumer information solutions to businesses in 
the U.S. through four product lines, as follows:

Online Consumer Information Solutions (OCIS). OCIS products 
are derived from large databases of credit information that we 
maintain about individual consumers, including credit history, 
current credit status and consumer address information. Our 
customers utilize the credit report information we provide to make 
decisions for a wide range of credit and business purposes, such 
as whether, and on what terms, to approve auto loans or credit 
card applications, whether to allow a consumer to open a new 
utility or telephone account and similar business uses. We offer 
other analytical and predictive services based on the information 
in the consumer credit information databases to help further 
mitigate risk of granting credit by verifying the identity of a 
consumer seeking credit, predicting the risk of consumer bank-
ruptcy, or indicating the credit applicant’s risk potential for 
account delinquency, for example. These risk management 
services, as well as fraud detection and prevention services, 
enable our customers to monitor default rates and proactively 
manage their existing credit card or other consumer loan accounts.
 OCIS customers access products through a full range of 
electronic distribution mechanisms, including direct real-time 
access, which facilitates instant decisions, e.g., for the immediate 
granting of credit. We also create and host customized decisioning 
technology for customers to obtain custom scores and analytical 
results along with consumer credit information to enhance the 
timeliness and quality of their decision-making process. These 
enabling technology applications facilitate pre-approved offers 
of credit and automate a variety of credit decisions through our 
Interconnect and Decision Power online technology platforms 
as well as automate loan underwriting processes with our 
LoanCenter platform.

Mortgage Reporting Solutions (Mortgage Services). Our Mortgage 
Services products, offered in the U.S., consist of specialized credit 
reports that combine the reports of the three major consumer 
credit reporting agencies (Equifax, Experian and TransUnion) 
into one credit report provided in an online format, commonly 
referred to as a tri-merge credit report. Mortgage lenders use these 
tri-merge reports in making their mortgage underwriting decisions. 
We also offer, through our settlement services joint venture with 
ATM Corporation, certain mortgage settlement services, such as 
appraisal, title and closing services, with our traditional mortgage 
service offerings.

Credit Marketing Services (CMS). Our CMS products enable 
customers to manage their customer marketing efforts for effi ciency 
and effectiveness; identify and acquire new customers for credit 
relationships; and realize additional revenue from existing 
customers. These products utilize information derived from the 
credit-based consumer data that also underlies our OCIS products, 

provided in a batch output formatted to meet our customers needs. 
Customers use this detailed information to make decisions about 
which consumers to target for their credit-based marketing 
campaigns. We also provide account review services which assist 
our customers in managing their customers and prescreen services 
that help our clients identify potential new customers.

Direct Marketing Services (DMS). Our DMS products enable 
customers to target specifi cally defi ned market segments and 
individuals based on individual consumer demographic charac-
teristics; design more effective and economically-efficient 
marketing campaigns; facilitate improved direct mail response; 
and increase customer loyalty. We offer this information in the 
form of a list of consumers having specifi c attributes for ease of 
use by our customers. These lists categorize consumers based on 
meeting certain characteristics, interests or demographic attributes 
(e.g., those having recently acquired a new home). The information 
used in these products is acquired from third-party data compilers 
or is gathered from consumers directly through voluntary data 
submissions to us, an example of which is product registration 
cards. This permission-based information is generally less 
regulated and restricted than the credit information that we 
maintain; see the “Information Security and Government 
Regulation” section below. We also offer database management 
services which facilitate our customers’ use of demographic and 
credit data for marketing purposes.

TALX
TALX operates in the U.S. through two business units, as follows:

The Work Number® (TWN Services). TWN Services include 
employment and income verifi cation services; W-2 management 
services (which include initial distribution, reissue and correction 
of W-2 forms); paperless pay services that enable employees to 
electronically receive pay statement information as well as review 
and change direct deposit account or W-4 information; integrated 
electronic time capture and reporting services; paperless new-hire 
services to bring new workers on board using electronic forms; 
and I-9 management services designed to help clients electronically 
comply with the immigration laws that require employers to 
complete an I-9 form for each new hire.
 TWN Services enable employers to direct third-party verifi ers 
to our website or to a toll-free telephone number to verify the 
employee’s employment status and income data. During 2007, we 
launched a new TWN service, Find It, which expands employment 
verifi cation services to locate data which is not included in our 
existing TWN database.
 We rely on payroll data from over 1,600 organizations, 
including over half of the Fortune 500, to regularly update 
the TWN database. The database contained over 165.9 million 
employment records at December 31, 2007.

Tax and Talent Management Services. These services are aimed 
at reducing the cost to the human resources function of businesses 
by assisting with employment tax matters and planning and 
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improving the cost-effectiveness of talent management. We offer 
a broad suite of services designed to reduce the cost of unem-
ployment claims through effective claims representation and 
management and effi cient processing and to better manage the 
tax rate that employers are assessed for unemployment taxes. We 
also offer our customers comprehensive services designed to 
research the opportunity for obtaining employer-based tax credits, 
for example the federal work opportunity and welfare to work 
tax credits as well as employment-based state tax credits, process 
the necessary fi lings and assist the customer in obtaining the tax 
credit. In talent management, we also offer secure, electronic-based 
psychometric testing and assessments, as well as onboarding 
services using online forms to complete the new hire process for 
employees of corporate and government agencies.

North America Personal Solutions
Our Personal Solutions products give consumers information 
to make fi nancial decisions and monitor and protect credit and 
credit score information through our Credit Watch and Score 
Watch monitoring products. Consumers can obtain a copy of 
credit fi le information about them and their credit score. We offer 
monitoring products for consumers who are concerned about 
identity theft and data breaches. In November 2007, we launched 
the Credit Report Control service that allows consumers subscribing 
to our credit monitoring products to restrict access to their credit 
report to mitigate unauthorized use of Equifax credit fi le informa-
tion by third parties. Our products are available to consumers 
directly and through relationships with business partners who 
distribute our products or provide these services to their employees 
or customers.

North America Commercial Solutions
Our Commercial Solutions products are derived from databases 
of credit, fi nancial and marketing information regarding businesses 
in the U.S. and Canada. The business records included in the U.S. 
credit database have been developed primarily as a part of the 
Small Business Financial Exchange, Inc., or SBFE. We exclusively 
manage the SBFE database under contract with the owners of 
the data which include a number of commercial lending fi nancial 
institutions. This contract was renewed in 2007 and expires in 2012. 
Our company’s database includes loan, credit card, public records 
and leasing history data, as well as trade accounts receivable 
performance. In 2007, we further enhanced the depth of the 
database by adding Secretary of State and SEC registration 
information. We also offer scoring and analytical services, 
provided in an online format to customers obtaining a commercial 
credit report, that provide additional information to help mitigate 
the credit risk assumed by our customers. We also have a database 
which links approximately 35 million commercial demographic 
data records from around the world to build corporate family 
structures for enterprise visibility of customers and suppliers.

International
The International operating segment includes our Canada Consumer, 
Europe and Latin America business units. These business units 
offer products that are similar to those available in the USCIS 

operating segment, although data sources tend to rely more heavily 
on government agencies than in the U.S. These products generate 
revenue in Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Chile, El Salvador, Honduras, 
Peru, Portugal, Spain, the U.K. and Uruguay, with support operations 
located in the Republic of Ireland and Costa Rica.

Canada Consumer. Similar to our OCIS, Mortgage Services and 
CMS business units, Canada Consumer offers products derived 
from the credit information that we maintain about individual 
consumers. We offer many products in Canada, including credit 
reporting and scoring, consumer marketing, risk management, 
fraud detection and modeling services, together with certain 
of our decisioning products that facilitate pre-approved offers of 
credit and automate a variety of credit decisions.

Europe. Our European operation provides information solutions, 
marketing and personal solutions products. Information 
solutions and personal solutions products are generated from 
credit records that we maintain and include credit reporting and 
scoring, risk management, fraud detection and modeling services. 
They are sold in the U.K., Portugal and Spain. Our commercial 
products, such as business credit reporting and commercial risk 
management services, are only available in the U.K. Marketing 
products, which are similar to those offered in our CMS and 
DMS business units, are primarily available in the U.K, though 
we offer some products in Spain as well. We maintain support 
operations in the Republic of Ireland.

Latin America. Our Latin American operation provides consumer 
and commercial information solutions products and marketing 
products. We offer a full range of consumer products, generated 
from credit records that we maintain, including credit reporting 
and scoring, risk management, identity verifi cation and fraud 
detection services. Our consumer products are the primary source 
of revenue in each of the countries in which we operate, with the 
exception of Brazil where we are a market leader in commercial 
products. We offer our commercial products, which include credit 
reporting, decisioning tools and risk management services, in 
varying degrees to the countries we serve. We also provide a 
variety of consumer and commercial marketing products generated 
from our credit information databases, including account profi t-
ability and business profi le analysis, business prospect lists and 
database management, in varying degrees to the countries we 
serve. The other countries in which we operate include Argentina, 
Chile, El Salvador, Honduras, Peru and Uruguay.

OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY
Our strategic objective is to be the trusted provider of information 
solutions that empower our customers to make critical decisions 
with greater confi dence. Data is at the core of our value proposition 
to our customers. Through our people and technology, we create 
differentiated value for our customers by focusing on unique 
data for credit risk evaluation and high value, information-based 
decisions. Our long-term corporate growth strategy is driven by 
the following initiatives:
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 •  Increase penetration of our customers’ information solutions 
needs. We continue to increase our share of our customers’ 
spending on information-related services through the 
development and introduction of new products, pricing 
our services in accordance with the value they create for 
customers, increasing the range of current services utilized 
by customers, and improving the quality of sales and customer 
support interactions with consumers.

 •  Deploy enabling technology systems and analytics globally. 
We continue to invest in new technology to enhance the 
cost-effectiveness, security and functionality of the services 
we offer and differentiate our products from those offered 
by our competitors. In addition to custom products for large 
customers, we seek to develop off-the-shelf enabling technol-
ogy platforms that are more cost-effective for medium- and 
smaller-sized customers.

 •  Invest in unique data sources. We continue to invest in unique 
sources of credit and non-credit information to enhance the 
variety and quality of our services and improve our customers’ 
confi dence in data-based business decisions. Our North 
America Personal Solutions business is investing in data to 
enable consumers to more effectively manage their identity 
using online tools. Our TALX business will continue to add 
employee fi les in the TWN Services database. Areas of focus 
for investment in new sources of data include, among others, 
positive payment data, real estate data and new commercial 
business data.

 •  Pursue new vertical markets and expand into emerging 
markets. We see numerous opportunities to expand in related 
or emerging markets both in the U.S. and internationally. 
As an example, we acquired TALX, which has employment 
data that expands on the types of services we can offer our 
customers. Internationally, we intend to add to our business 
growth through expansion into new developing and emerging 
markets such as India, Russia, Mexico and China.

COMPETITION
The market for our products and services is highly competitive 
and is subject to constant change. Our competitors vary widely in 
size and the nature of the products and services they offer. 
Sources of competition are numerous and include the following:
 •  Competition for our consumer information solutions and 

personal solutions products varies by both application 
and industry, but generally includes two global consumer 
credit reporting companies, Experian Group Limited, or 
Experian, and TransUnion LLC, or TransUnion, both of 
which offer a range of consumer credit reporting products 
that are similar to products we offer, as well as a large 
number of smaller competitors who offer competing products 
in specialized areas such as fraud prevention, data vendors, 
providers of automated data processing services, and software 
companies offering credit modeling rules or analytical 
development tools. We believe that our products offer our 
customers an advantage over those of our competitors because 
of the quality of our data fi les, which we believe to be superior 

in terms of depth and accuracy and the differentiated 
information solutions services and decisioning technology 
that provides customers greater value. Our competitive 
strategy is to emphasize product features and quality while 
remaining competitive on price. Our marketing services 
products also compete with the foregoing companies and 
others who offer demographic information products, including 
Acxiom Corporation, or Acxiom, Harte-Hanks, Inc. and 
infoUSA, Inc. We also compete with Fair Isaac Corporation 
with respect to our analytical tools.

 •  Competition for our commercial solutions products primarily 
includes Experian and The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation. 
We believe our small business loan information from 
fi nancial institutions creates a unique database and product 
for the small business segment of that market.

 •  Competition for our employment and income verifi cation 
services includes large employers who serve their own 
needs through in-house systems to manage verifi cation 
as well as outsourcers who manage verifi cation services 
through a call center. Competition for complementary TWN 
Services includes payroll processors such as Automatic 
Data Processing, Inc., or ADP, Paychex, Inc. and Ceridian 
Corporation. Competitors of our Tax Management Services 
include in-house management of this function primarily by 
large employers; ADP; and a number of smaller regional 
fi rms that offer tax management services (Barnett Associates, 
Thomas & Thorngren, UC Advantage). Talent Management 
Services competitors include assessment service providers 
that offer proprietary content (Previsor, Inc., Development 
Dimensions International, Brainbench, Inc.), human resources 
consulting fi rms (AON Corporation, Watson Wyatt Worldwide, 
Inc., Right Management Consulting) and assessment or 
test publishers that have proprietary delivery platforms 
(Devine Group, Inc., Hogan Assessments Systems, Inc., 
SHL Group plc).

 We believe that none of our competitors offers the same mix 
of products and services as we do. Certain competitors may have 
larger shares of particular geographic or product markets or operate 
in geographic areas where we do not currently have a presence.
 We assess the principal competitive factors affecting our 
markets to include: technical performance; access to unique 
proprietary databases; availability in application service provider 
(ASP) format; product attributes such as quality, adaptability, 
scalability, interoperability, functionality and ease-of-use; product 
price; quickness of response, fl exibility and customer services 
and support; the effectiveness of sales and marketing efforts; 
existing market penetration; new product innovation; and our 
reputation as a trusted steward of information.

MARKETS AND CUSTOMERS
Our products and services serve clients across a wide range of 
industries, including fi nancial services, retail, telecommunications, 
utilities, automotive, brokerage, healthcare and insurance 
industries, as well as state and federal governments. We also 
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serve consumers directly. Our revenue stream is highly diversifi ed 
with our largest customer providing less than 3% of total revenue. 
The following table outlines the various end-users we serve:

 Percentage of Consolidated Revenue

Financial  32%
Mortgage  12%
Consumer  10%
Commercial  8%
Retail   7%
Automotive  7%
Human Resources  5%
Telecommunications  5%
Other (1)  14%
      100%

(1)  Other includes revenues from government, marketing services, insurance and 
healthcare end-users.

 We market our products and services primarily through our 
own direct sales organization that is organized around sales teams 
that focus on customer segments typically aligned by vertical 
markets and geography. Sales groups are based in our headquarters 
and in fi eld offi ces located in the U.S. and in markets outside the 
U.S. We also market our products and services through indirect 
channels, including alliance partners, joint ventures and other 
resellers. In addition, we sell through direct mail and various 
websites, such as www.equifax.com.
 Our largest geographic market segments are North America 
(the U.S., Canada, Costa Rica); Europe (the U.K., the Republic 
of Ireland, Spain and Portugal); and Latin America (Argentina, 
Brazil, Chile, El Salvador, Honduras, Peru and Uruguay).
 Revenue from international customers, including end-users 
and resellers, amounted to 27%, 28% and 27% of our total revenue 
in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

TECHNOLOGY AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
We generally seek protection under federal, state and foreign laws 
for strategic or fi nancially important intellectual property developed 
in connection with our business. Certain intellectual property, 
where appropriate, is protected by registration under applicable 
trademark laws or by prosecution of patent applications. We own 
several patents registered in the U.S. and certain foreign countries. 
We also have certain registered trademarks in the U.S. and in many 
foreign countries. The most important of these are “Equifax,” 
“TALX” and many variations thereof. These trademarks are 
used in connection with most of our product lines and services. 
Although these patents and trademarks are important and valuable 
assets in the aggregate, no single patent, group of patents or 
trademark, other than our Equifax trademark, is critical to the 
success of our business.
 We license other companies to use certain data, technology 
and other intellectual property rights we own or control, primarily 
as core components of our products and services, on terms that 
are consistent with customary industry standards and that are 
designed to protect our interest in our intellectual property. An 
example of this type of arrangement is our contract to exclusively 
manage the SBFE database from 2007 until 2012.

 We are licensed by others to use certain data, technology 
and other intellectual property rights they own or control, none 
of which is material to our business except for licenses from 
(1) Fair Isaac Corporation, relating to certain credit-scoring 
algorithms and the right to sell credit scores derived from them, 
which licenses have varying durations and generally provide 
for usage-based fees; and (2) Seisint, Inc., relating to a software 
platform which facilitates sales by our DMS and CMS units. These 
licenses have ten-year terms that began in 2002 and may be 
renewed on an annual basis thereafter. We do not hold any 
franchises or concessions that are material to our business or 
results of operations.

INFORMATION SECURITY AND 
GOVERNMENT REGULATION
Safeguarding the privacy and security of consumer credit 
information, whether delivered online or in an offl ine format, is 
a top priority. We recognize the importance of secure online 
transactions and we maintain physical, administrative, and technical 
safeguards to protect personal and business identifi able information. 
We have security protocols and measures in place to protect 
information from unauthorized access or alteration. These measures 
include internal and external fi rewalls, physical security and 
technological security measures, and encryption of certain data.
 Our databases are regularly updated by information provided 
by fi nancial institutions, telecommunications companies, other 
trade credit providers, public records vendors and governments. 
Various laws and regulations govern the collection and use of 
this information. These laws and regulations impact how we are 
able to provide information to our customers and have signifi cantly 
increased our compliance costs. We are subject to differing laws 
and regulations depending on where we operate.

U.S. Data and Privacy Protection
Our U.S. operations are subject to various federal and state laws 
and regulations governing the collection, protection and use of 
consumer credit and other information, and imposing sanctions 
for the misuse of such information or unauthorized access to data. 
Many of these provisions also affect our customers’ use of 
consumer credit or other data we furnish. The information 
underlying our North America Commercial Services and Direct 
Marketing Services businesses is less regulated than the other 
portions of our business. A signifi cant portion of the information 
maintained by our Direct Marketing Services business is 
voluntarily provided by individuals, thus this information 
is subject to fewer restrictions on use.
 These laws and regulations that may be applied to portions 
of our business include, but are not limited to, the following:
 •  The Fair Credit Reporting Act, or FCRA, which governs 

among other things the reporting of information to credit 
reporting agencies that engage in the practice of assembling 
or evaluating certain information relating to consumers, 
including Equifax’s credit reporting business; making 
prescreened offers of credit; the sharing of consumer report 
information among affi liated and unaffi liated third parties; 
access to credit scores; and requirements for data furnishers 
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and users of consumer report information. Violation of the 
FCRA, or of similar state laws, can result in an award of 
actual damages, as well as statutory and/or punitive damages 
in the event of a willful violation.

 •  The Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act of 2003, or 
FACT Act, which amended the FCRA and requires nationwide 
consumer credit reporting agencies, such as us, to furnish a 
free annual credit fi le disclosure to consumers, upon request, 
through a centralized request facility we have established 
with the other nationwide credit reporting agencies. The 
FACT Act also included requirements for fi nancial institutions 
to develop policies and procedures to identify potential 
identity theft and, upon the request of a consumer, to place a 
fraud alert in the consumer’s credit fi le stating that the con-
sumer may be the victim of identity theft or other fraud; 
consumer credit report notice requirements for lenders that 
use consumer report information in connection with risk-based 
credit pricing actions; requirements for entities that furnish 
information to consumer reporting agencies to implement 
procedures and policies regarding the accuracy and integrity 
of the furnished information, and regarding the correction of 
previously furnished information that is later determined 
to be inaccurate; and a requirement for mortgage lenders to 
disclose credit scores to consumers. Additionally, the FACT 
Act prohibits a business that receives consumer information 
from an affi liate from using that information for marketing 
purposes unless the consumer is fi rst provided a notice and 
an opportunity to direct the business not to use the informa-
tion for such marketing purposes (“opt-out”), subject to 
certain exceptions.

 •  The Financial Services Modernization Act of 1999, or 
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, or GLB, which, among other 
things, regulates the use of non-public personal fi nancial 
information of consumers that is held by fi nancial institutions. 
Equifax is subject to various GLB provisions, including rules 
relating to the physical, administrative and technological 
protection of non-public personal fi nancial information. 
Breach of the GLB can result in civil and/or criminal liability 
and sanctions by regulatory authorities, such as fi nes of up 
to $100,000 per violation and up to fi ve years imprisonment 
for individuals.

 •  The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act 
of 1996, or HIPAA, which requires reasonable safeguards 
to prevent intentional or unintentional use or disclosure of 
protected health information.

 •  Federal and state laws governing the use of the Internet and 
regulating telemarketing, including the federal Controlling 
the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing 
Act of 2003, or CAN-SPAM, which regulates commercial 
email, prohibits false or misleading header information, 
requires that a commercial email be identifi ed as an adver-
tisement, and requires that commercial emails give recipients 
an opt-out method.

 •  Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac regulations applicable to our 
credit reporting and mortgage services products, the Real 
Estate Settlement Procedures Act and HUD’s Regulation X, 

which requires the disclosure of certain basic information 
to borrowers concerning settlement costs and prohibits the 
charging of unearned fees and certain “kickbacks” or other 
fees for referrals in connection with a residential mortgage 
settlement service.

 A number of states in the U.S. have passed versions of security 
breach notifi cation and credit fi le freeze legislation. A fi le freeze 
enables identity theft victims, or in certain states recipients of 
data breach notices or all consumers, to place and lift a freeze on 
access to their credit fi les. File freeze laws impose differing 
requirements on credit reporting agencies with respect to how 
and when to respond to such credit fi le freeze requests and in the 
fees the agencies may charge for freeze-related actions.
 We continue to monitor federal and state legislative and 
regulatory issues involving data privacy and protection.

International Data and Privacy Protection
We are subject to data protection, privacy and consumer credit 
laws and regulations in the foreign countries where we do business.
 •  In Canada, the Personal Information Protection and Electronic 

Documents Act (2000) applies to organizations with respect 
to personal information that they collect, use or disclose in 
the course of commercial activities. It requires compliance 
with the National Standard of Canada Model Code for the 
Protection of Personal Information, covering accountability 
and identifying purposes, consent, collection, use, disclo-
sure, retention, accuracy, safeguards, individual access 
and compliance. The Federal Privacy Commissioner is 
invested with powers of investigation and intervention, and 
provisions of Canadian law regarding civil liability apply 
in the event of unlawful processing which is prejudicial to 
the persons concerned.

 •  In Europe, we are subject to the European Union, or EU, data 
protection laws, including the comprehensive EU Directive 
on Data Protection (1995), which imposes a number of 
obligations on Equifax with respect to use of personal data, 
and includes a prohibition on the transfer of personal infor-
mation from the EU to other countries that do not provide 
consumers with an “adequate” level of privacy or security. 
The EU standard for adequacy is generally stricter and more 
comprehensive than that of the U.S. and most other countries. 
In the U.K., the Data Protection Act of 1998 regulates the 
manner in which we can use third-party data. Recent 
regulatory limitations affect our use of the Electoral Roll, 
one of our key data sources in the U.K. Generally, the data 
underlying the products offered by our U.K. Information 
Services and Personal Solutions product lines, excluding 
our Commercial Services products, are subject to these reg-
ulations. In Spain and Portugal, the privacy laws which are 
subject to the EU Directive on Data Protection regulate all 
credit bureau and personal solutions activities. Except for 
negative data, the laws in Spain and Portugal generally 
require consumer consent for all Equifax activities.

 •  In Latin America, most countries generally follow the EU data 
protection model. This includes consumer data protection and 
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privacy laws and regulations in Argentina, Chile, Peru 
and Uruguay. There are also constitutional provisions in 
Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Peru and certain other countries 
which declare the right to a judicial hearing on the use of 
personal data, and grant individuals the right to access and 
correct information in the possession of data controllers in 
many of those countries.

TALX
The Tax Management business within our TALX segment is 
potentially impacted by changes in U.S. tax laws or interpretations, 
for example, those pertaining to work opportunity tax credits 
and unemployment compensation claims. A subsidiary of TALX, 
Talent Management, provides employee testing, assessment 
and talent management services to the federal government through 
a number of prime and subcontracts with federal agencies, 

including the Transportation Security Administration. These 
contracts may be adversely affected by changes in U.S. federal 
government programs or contractor requirements, including the 
adoption of new laws or regulations.

PERSONNEL
We employed approximately 7,000 employees in 14 countries as 
of December 31, 2007. None of our U.S. employees are subject 
to a collective bargaining agreement and no work stoppages have 
been experienced. Pursuant to local laws, our employees in Brazil, 
Spain and Argentina are subject to collective bargaining agreements 
that govern general salary and compensation matters, basic benefi ts 
and hours of work. Equifax is not a party to these agreements. 
Information regarding our executives is included in “Executive 
Offi cers of the Registrant” below.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The persons serving as our executive offi cers as of February 27, 2008, together with their ages, positions and brief summaries of their 
business experience, are as follows:

Name Age Position Executive Officer Since

Richard F. Smith 48 Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer 2005
Lee Adrean 56 Corporate Vice President and Chief Financial Offi cer 2006
Kent E. Mast 64 Corporate Vice President and Chief Legal Offi cer 2000
Coretha M. Rushing 51 Corporate Vice President and Chief Human Resources Offi cer 2006
Paul J. Springman 62 Corporate Vice President and Chief Marketing Offi cer 2002
Robert J. Webb 39 Corporate Vice President and Chief Information Offi cer 2006
J. Dann Adams 50 President, U.S. Consumer Information Solutions 2006
William W. Canfi eld 69 President, TALX 2007
Steven P. Ely 52 President, North America Personal Solutions 2007
Rodolfo O. Ploder 47 President, International 2006
Michael S. Shannon 52 President, North America Commercial Solutions 2006
Nuala M. King 54 Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller 2004

 There are no family relationships among our executive offi cers, 
nor are there any arrangements or understandings between any of 
the offi cers and any other persons pursuant to which they were 
selected as offi cers, except that Mr. Canfi eld was appointed to the 
Board at the effective time of the merger of TALX with and into 
a subsidiary of Equifax pursuant to the terms of that certain Agree-
ment and Plan of Merger dated February 14, 2007, among TALX 
Corporation, Equifax and Chipper Corporation.
 Mr. Smith has been Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer since 
December 15, 2005. He was named Chairman-Elect and Chief 
Executive Offi cer effective September 19, 2005 and was elected 
as a Director on September 22, 2005. Prior to that, Mr. Smith 
served as Chief Operating Offi cer, GE Insurance Solutions, from 
2004 to September 2005; as President and Chief Executive Offi cer 
of GE Property and Casualty Reinsurance from 2003 to 2004; as 
President and Chief Executive Offi cer of GE Property and Casualty 
Reinsurance – Americas of GE Global Insurance Holdings Corp. 
from 2001 to 2003; and as President and Chief Executive Offi cer, 
GE Capital Fleet Services from 1995 to 2000.

 Mr. Adrean joined Equifax as Corporate Vice President and 
Chief Financial Offi cer in October 2006. Prior to joining Equifax, 
he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi cer 
of NDCHealth Corporation since 2004. Prior thereto, he served 
as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of 
EarthLink, Inc. where he was employed from 2000 until 2004.
 Mr. Mast has served as Chief Legal Offi cer since he joined 
Equifax in 2000. His responsibilities include legal services, global 
sourcing, security and compliance, government and legislative 
relations, corporate governance and privacy functions.
 Ms. Rushing joined Equifax in May 2006 as Corporate Vice 
President and Chief Administrative Offi cer. Prior to joining 
Equifax, Ms. Rushing served as an executive coach and HR 
Consultant with Atlanta-based Cameron Wesley LLC. Prior 
thereto, she was Senior Vice President of Human Resources at 
The Coca-Cola Company, where she was employed from 1996 
until 2004.
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 Mr. Springman has served as Chief Marketing Offi cer since 
February 2004. He joined Equifax in 1990 and has held various 
executive positions, most recently serving as the head of the 
Predictive Sciences unit from August 2002 until February 2004. 
Prior thereto, Mr. Springman served as Group Executive, North 
America Information Solutions from September 2001 until 
August 2002.
 Mr. Webb joined Equifax in November 2004 as the Chief 
Technology Offi cer. Prior to joining Equifax, Mr. Webb was 
employed by General Electric Corporation from 1996 to 2004, 
where he held Chief Information Offi cer positions for GE Commer-
cial Finance, GE Global Consumer Finance and GE Energy 
Services. Prior thereto, he worked as an information technology 
and management consultant with EDS and Andersen Consulting.
 Mr. Adams assumed his current position in January 2007. 
He joined Equifax in 1999 and has served as Group Executive, 
North America Information Services from November 2003 
until December 2006; Senior Vice President, Equifax North 
America Sales from October 2001 until October 2003; and 
Senior Vice President, Financial Services from February 1999 
until October 2001.
 Mr. Canfi eld joined Equifax in May 2007 upon Equifax’s 
acquisition of TALX Corporation, for which he served as 
President and Chief Executive Offi cer from 1987 and Chairman 
since 1988.
 Mr. Ely joined Equifax in February 2004 and was appointed 
President, North American Personal Solutions in January 2007. 
He served as Group Executive, Personal Solutions from August 
2005 until December 2006 when he assumed his current position. 
From February 2004 until August 2005, Mr. Ely was Senior Vice 
President of Product Management and Marketing. Prior to joining 
Equifax, he was Senior Vice President, Worldwide Marketing 
of S1 Corporation from June 2001 until September 2003, and held 
senior marketing and software development management positions 
with NetVendor, Per-Se Technologies, Dun & Bradstreet Software, 
Sybase and NCR Corporation prior to that.
 Mr. Ploder joined Equifax in February 2004 and is President, 
International. Prior to that position, he was Group Executive, Latin 
America. Before joining Equifax, he was employed by MCI where 
he had been Vice President, International since 1999. Prior thereto, 
Mr. Ploder spent 13 years in the telecommunications industry, 
primarily in international management positions.
 Mr. Shannon assumed his current position in January 2007. 
Since joining Equifax in 1992, he has held various executive 
positions including, most recently, Group Executive, Europe from 
February 2002 until December 2006, and Managing Director, U.K. 
from July 2001 until February 2002.
 Ms. King joined Equifax in March 2004 as Vice President and 
Corporate Controller. Prior to joining Equifax, Ms. King served 
as Corporate Controller for UPS Capital from March 2001 until 
March 2004 and, prior thereto, held various executive positions 
with The Coca-Cola Company.

Item 1A. 
RISK FACTORS
Set forth below are some of the risks and uncertainties that, if they 
were to occur, could materially and adversely affect our business 
or that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the 
results contemplated by the forward-looking statements contained 
in this report and the other public statements we make.
 Forward-looking statements involve matters that are not historical 
or current facts.  Words such as “may,” “could,” “should,” “would,” 
“believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “seeks,” 
“plan,” “project,” “continue,” “predict,” or other words or expres-
sions of similar meaning are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain 
these identifying words.
 Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to:
 •  Projections of revenues, income, net income per share, 

capital expenditures, dividends, capital structure, or other 
financial measures;

 •  Descriptions of anticipated plans or objectives of our 
management for operations, products or services;

 • Forecasts of performance; and
 •  Assumptions regarding any of the foregoing.

 For example, our forward-looking statements include our 
expectations regarding:
 •  Regarding Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 

Statements, and our future liquidity needs discussed under 
“Liquidity and Financial Condition,” our ability to generate 
cash from operating activities and any declines in our 
credit ratings or financial condition which could restrict 
our access to the capital markets or materially increase our 
financing costs;

 •  With respect to our pension funding obligations and expected 
rate of return on plan assets discussed in “Pension Plans” 
in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Conditions and Results of Operations, or MD&A, in this 
Form 10-K, the impact of changes in accounting standards 
and pension funding laws and regulations, measurement 
of pension and other postretirement plan assets and pension 
liabilities, actuarial assumptions and future investment returns 
on pension assets and pension liabilities;

 •  With respect to Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements, “Commitments and Contingencies,” and 
“Contractual Obligations, Commercial Commitments 
and Other Contingencies” in MD&A, changes in the market 
value of our assets or the actual cost of our commitments or 
contingencies, including, without limitation, the negotiated 
or appraised price payable under the CSC option, if exercised;

 •  Regarding Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements, estimated future amortization expense related to 
definite lived purchased intangible assets at December 31, 
2007, our ability to accurately estimate the fair value of 
such assets;
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 •  Regarding Notes 2 and 3 of the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements, the fact that amounts recorded at 
December 31, 2007, related to the acquisition of TALX, 
and the associated estimates of future amortization, are 
preliminary estimates that will be finalized upon the 
completion of federal and state tax returns and valuation 
of acquired fixed assets;

 •  With respect to our business outlook discussed under 
“Business Overview” in MD&A, our views on the health 
and future growth of the U.S. and global economies during 
2008; and

 •  With respect to our USCIS business discussed under “Results 
of Operations—Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2007, 
2006 and 2005” in MD&A, our ability to protect operating 
margins during 2008.

 You should not unduly rely on forward-looking statements. They 
represent our expectations about the future and are not guarantees. 
Forward-looking statements are only as of the date they were made, 
and, except as required by law, they might not be updated to refl ect 
changes as they occur after the forward-looking statements are made.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks Related to Our Business and Growth Strategy

If we are not successful in implementing our long-term growth 
strategy, we may be unable to grow our business and our results 
of operations may be adversely affected.
We have developed a long-term growth strategy which includes 
(1) increasing our share of our customers’ spending on information-
related services through the development and introduction of new 
products, pricing our services in accordance with the value they 
create for customers, increasing the range of current services 
utilized by customers, and improving the quality of sales and 
customer support interactions with consumers; (2) increasing our 
customers’ use of our proprietary analytical, predictive and enabling 
technologies; (3) investing in and developing new, differentiated 
data sources that provide unique value to customers in their highest 
value decisioning needs; and (4) expanding into key emerging 
opportunities via acquisitions, partnerships, and/or internal develop-
ment, including related markets in the U.S., such as initiatives in 
the commercial, collections, and healthcare markets, as well as new 
geographic markets outside the U.S. If we are unable to successfully 
execute our growth strategy, we may not be able to grow our 
business, growth may occur more slowly than we anticipate, or 
our revenues, net income and earnings per share may decline.

We may incur risks related to acquisitions or significant investment 
in businesses which could jeopardize the success of these 
acquisitions and increase our costs.
Our long-term strategy includes growth through acquisitions and 
investments in businesses that offer complementary products, 
services and technologies. Any acquisitions or investments, 
including our recent acquisition of TALX as described in Part II, 

Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations,” will be accompanied by 
the risks commonly encountered in acquisitions of businesses. 
Such risks include:
 •  The financial and strategic goals for the acquired and 

combined business may not be achieved;
 •  The possibility that we will pay more than the acquired 

companies or assets are worth;
 •  Unexpected liabilities arising out of the acquired businesses;
 •  The difficulty of assimilating the systems, operations and 

personnel of the acquired businesses;
 •  The potential disruption of our ongoing business;
 •  The potential dilution of our existing shareholders and 

earnings per share;
 •  Unanticipated legal risks and costs;
 •  The distraction of management from our ongoing 

business; and
 •  The impairment of relationships with employees and 

customers as a result of any integration of new 
management personnel.

 These factors could harm our business, results of operations or 
fi nancial position, particularly in the event of a signifi cant acquisition. 
The acquisition of businesses having a significant presence 
outside the U.S. will increase our relative exposure to the risks 
of conducting operations in international markets.

Deterioration of current economic conditions may decrease our 
customers’ demand for consumer credit information, which may 
harm our results of operations.
Although we continue to take steps to diversify our lines of business, 
consumer credit reports we sell in the U.S. and certain international 
markets, including the U.K, Canada and in Latin America, remain 
a core product. In general, our customers use our credit information 
and related services to process applications for new credit cards, 
automobile loans, home mortgages, home equity loans and other 
consumer loans. They also use our credit information and services 
to monitor existing credit relationships. Consumer demand for credit 
(i.e., rates of spending and levels of indebtedness) tends to grow 
more slowly or decline during periods of economic contraction or 
slow economic growth. Rising rates of interest may reduce consumer 
demand for mortgage loans and also impact our mortgage services 
joint venture. A decline in consumer demand for credit or in levels 
of employment may reduce our customers’ demand for our consumer 
credit information. Consequently, our revenues from consumer credit 
information products and services could be negatively affected 
and our results of operations harmed if consumer demand for credit 
decreases. In addition, if current economic conditions in the 
U.S. decline further, this decline could detrimentally impact 
the economies of the countries outside the U.S. in which we 
operate and could infl uence customer demand for our non-consumer 
credit information-based businesses, including North America 
Commercial Solutions and TALX, which could further negatively 
impact our results of operations.
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The loss of access to credit and other data from external sources 
could harm our ability to provide our products and services.
We rely extensively upon data from external sources to maintain 
our proprietary and non-proprietary databases, including data 
received from customers, strategic partners and various government 
and public record sources. Our data sources could withdraw their 
data from us for a variety of reasons, including legislatively or 
judicially imposed restrictions on use. We also compete with 
several of our third-party data suppliers. If a substantial number 
of data sources or certain key data sources were to withdraw or 
be unable to provide their data, if we were to lose access to data 
due to government regulation, or if the collection of data becomes 
uneconomical, our ability to provide products and services to our 
clients could be materially adversely impacted, which could result 
in decreased revenues, net income and earnings per share.

Our markets are highly competitive and new product introductions 
and pricing strategies being offered by our competitors could 
decrease our sales and market share or require us to reduce our 
prices in a manner that reduces our operating margins.
We operate in a number of geographic, product and service markets 
that are highly competitive, as described above under “Competition.” 
We currently have a business relationship with Fair Isaac Corporation 
to resell their credit scoring product and are also involved in 
litigation with that firm arising from our development with 
TransUnion and Experian of the VantageScoreSM credit scoring 
product which is competitive with Fair Isaac’s products. Competitors 
may develop products and services that are superior to or that 
achieve greater market acceptance than our products and services.
 The sizes of our competitors vary across market segments, 
as do the resources we have allocated to the segments we target. 
Therefore, some of our competitors may have signifi cantly greater 
fi nancial, technical, marketing or other resources than we do in 
one or more of our market segments, or overall. As a result, our 
competitors may be in a position to respond more quickly than we 
can to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer 
requirements, or may devote greater resources than we can to the 
development, promotion, sale and support of products and services. 
Moreover, new competitors or alliances among our competitors 
may emerge and potentially reduce our market share, revenue or 
margins. If we are unable to respond as quickly or effectively to 
changes in customer requirements as our competition, our ability 
to expand our business and sell our products and services will be 
negatively affected.
 Some of our competitors also may choose to sell products 
competitive to ours at lower prices by accepting lower margins 
and profi tability, or may be able to sell products competitive to 
ours at lower prices given proprietary ownership of data, technical 
superiority or economies of scale. Price reductions by our competi-
tors could negatively impact our margins and results of operations, 
and could also harm our ability to obtain new customers on favorable 
terms. Historically, certain of our products have experienced 
declines in per unit pricing due to competitive factors and customer 
demand. If prices decline in the future at faster rates than in the 
past due to unforeseen changes in competition or customer demand, 
our business could be adversely affected.

 Our ability to increase our revenues will depend to some extent 
upon introducing new products and services, and if the marketplace 
does not accept these new products and services, our revenues 
may remain flat or decline.
To increase our revenues, we must enhance and improve existing 
products and continue to introduce new products and new versions 
of existing products that keep pace with technological developments, 
satisfy increasingly sophisticated customer requirements and 
achieve market acceptance. We believe much of our future growth 
prospects will rest on our ability to continue to expand into newer 
products and services. Products that we plan to market in the future 
are in various stages of development. We cannot assure that the 
marketplace will accept these products. If our current or potential 
customers are not willing to switch to or adopt our new products 
and services, our ability to increase revenues or improve operating 
margins will be impaired.

If we fail to keep up with rapidly changing technologies, our 
products and services could become less competitive or obsolete.
In our markets, technology changes rapidly and there are 
continuous improvements in computer hardware, network operating 
systems, programming tools, programming languages, operating sys-
tems, database technology and the use of the Internet. Advances 
in technology may result in changing customer preferences for 
products and services and delivery formats. If we fail to enhance 
our current products and develop new products in response to 
changes in technology, industry standards or customer preferences, 
our products and services could rapidly become less competitive 
or obsolete. Our future success will depend, in part, upon our ability 
to internally develop new and competitive technologies; use 
leading third-party technologies effectively; continue to develop 
our technical expertise; anticipate and effectively respond to 
changing customer needs; and infl uence and respond to emerging 
industry standards and other technological changes.

If we are unable to raise sufficient additional capital at an 
acceptable cost, we may be unable to continue to effectively 
compete and expand our business.
We may require additional capital to purchase assets, complete 
strategic acquisitions, repurchase shares on the open market or 
for general liquidity needs. Declines in our credit rating or limits 
on our ability to sell additional shares may adversely affect our 
ability to raise capital or materially increase our cost of capital. 
Our inability to raise additional capital at a reasonable cost may 
adversely impact our revenue growth and the price of our stock.

We may suffer adverse financial consequences if Computer 
Sciences Corporation requires us to purchase its credit reporting 
business when the public equity or debt markets or other financing 
conditions are unfavorable to us.
In 1988, we entered into an agreement with Computer Sciences 
Corporation, or CSC, and certain of its affi liates under which 
CSC’s credit reporting agencies utilize our computerized credit 
database services. Under this agreement, CSC has an option, 
exercisable at any time, to sell its credit reporting business to us. 
The option expires in August 2013. The option exercise price 
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will be determined by an appraisal process and would be due in 
cash within 180 days after the exercise of the option. We estimate 
that if CSC were to exercise the option today, the option price would 
be approximately $650.0 million to $725.0 million. This estimate 
is based solely on our internal analysis of the value of the business, 
current market conditions and other factors, all of which are subject 
to constant change. Therefore, the actual option exercise price 
could be materially higher or lower than the estimated amount. If 
CSC were to exercise its option, we would have to obtain additional 
sources of funding. We believe that this funding would be available 
from sources such as additional bank lines of credit and the issuance 
of public debt and/or equity. However, the availability and terms of 
any such capital fi nancing would be subject to a number of factors, 
including credit market conditions, the state of the equity markets, 
general economic conditions and our fi nancial performance and 
condition. Because we do not control the timing of CSC’s exercise 
of its option, we could be required to seek such fi nancing and 
increase our debt levels at a time when market or other conditions 
are unfavorable.

Our international operations subject us to additional business risks 
and related costs that may reduce our profitability or revenues.
During 2007, we generated approximately 27% of our revenues 
from business outside the U.S. As part of our growth strategy, we 
plan to continue to pursue opportunities outside the U.S. As a result, 
our future operating results could be negatively affected by a 
variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. Risks 
that could give rise to incremental costs in our international 
operations include: political and economic instability; changes 
in regulatory requirements and policy and the adoption of laws 
detrimental to our operations, such as legislation relating to the 
collection and use of personal data; negative impact of currency 
exchange rate fl uctuations; potentially adverse tax consequences; 
increased restrictions on the repatriation of earnings; and general 
economic conditions in international markets. We may not be able 
to avoid signifi cant expenditures should one or more of these risk 
factors occur.

Security is critically important to our business, and breaches of 
security, or the perception that e-commerce is not secure, could 
harm our business and reputation.
Business-to-business and business-to-consumer electronic 
commerce, including that which is Internet-based, requires the 
secure transmission of confi dential information over public networks. 
Several of our products are accessed through the Internet, including 
our consumer and commercial information services that are 
delivered via ePORT, our Internet delivery channel, and our 
Personal Solutions services accessible through the www.equifax.com 
website. Security breaches in connection with the delivery of our 
products and services via ePORT, our Personal Solutions website, 
or well-publicized security breaches not involving the Internet 
that may affect us or our industry, such as database intrusion, could 
be detrimental to our business, operating results and fi nancial 

condition. We cannot be certain that advances in criminal capabilities, 
new discoveries in the fi eld of cryptography or other developments 
will not compromise or breach the technology protecting the 
networks that access our products, consumer services and proprietary 
database information.

If we experience system failures, the delivery of our products 
and services to our customers could be delayed or interrupted, 
which could harm our business and reputation and result in the 
loss of customers.
Our ability to provide reliable service largely depends on the effi cient 
and uninterrupted operation of our computer network systems 
and data centers. Some of these systems have been outsourced to 
third-party providers. Any signifi cant interruptions could severely 
harm our business and reputation and result in a loss of customers. 
Our systems and operations could be exposed to damage or inter-
ruption from fi re, natural disaster, power loss, war, terrorist act, 
telecommunications failure, unauthorized entry and computer 
viruses. The steps we have taken and are taking to prevent a system 
failure, including backup disaster recovery systems, may not be 
successful, and our property and business interruption insurance 
may not be adequate to compensate us for all losses or failures 
that may occur.

The loss of key personnel, or the inability to attract and retain 
highly skilled personnel, could make it more difficult to run our 
business and reduce our likelihood of success.
We are dependent on our ability to attract and retain experienced 
sales, consulting, research and development, marketing, technical 
support and management personnel. The loss of our key employees 
and management might slow the achievement of important 
business goals. We may not be able to attract and retain skilled 
and experienced technical personnel on acceptable terms because 
of intense competition.

If our outside service providers and key vendors are not able to 
fulfill their service obligations, our business and operations 
could be disrupted, and our operating results could be harmed.
Outside service providers and vendors perform critical functions 
for us. While we have implemented service level agreements and 
have established monitoring controls, our operations could be 
disrupted if we do not successfully manage our service providers 
or if the service providers do not perform satisfactorily to agreed 
upon service levels. In addition, our business, reputation and 
operating results could be adversely affected.

If we fail to adequately protect our intellectual property rights, 
our ability to compete effectively could be diminished.
Our ability to compete effectively depends in part on the protection 
of our technology, products, services and brands through intellectual 
property right protections, including patents, copyrights, database 
rights, trade secrets and trademarks. The extent to which such rights 
can be protected and enforced varies in different jurisdictions.
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We face and could continue to face claims for intellectual property 
infringement, which could subject us to significant monetary 
damages or limit or prohibit us from using some of our technologies, 
products and services.
There is a risk of litigation relating to our use or future use of 
intellectual property rights of third parties. Third-party infringement 
claims and any related litigation against us could subject us to 
liability for damages, restrict us from using and providing our 
technologies, products or services or operating our business 
generally, or require changes to be made to our technologies, 
products and services. We are currently a defendant in litigation 
brought by Fair Isaac Corporation arising from our development 
with TransUnion and Experian of the VantageScore credit scoring 
product that is competitive with Fair Isaac’s products, in which 
the plaintiff has alleged trademark infringement, among other claims.

Our agreements with key long-term customers may not be renewed.
We have long-standing relationships with a number of our large 
customers. There can be no assurance that these relationships 
will continue, due to market competition, customer requirements 
and customer consolidation through mergers or acquisitions. 
Although our largest single customer represents less than 3% of 
our total revenue, the loss of a signifi cant number of major customers 
could materially adversely affect our business, reputation, fi nancial 
condition or operating results.

There may be further consolidation in our end-client markets.
To the extent that our existing clients merge with or are acquired 
by other entities who are not our clients or who use fewer of our 
services, such as in the fi nancial services sector, we could be 
adversely impacted if the surviving entities use fewer of our services 
or discontinue use of our services altogether, or if the number of 
potential clients is thereby reduced.

Our tax provisions may not be adequate, which would require us 
to pay greater than expected taxes.
Although we believe we have made appropriate provisions for taxes 
in the various jurisdictions in which we operate on the basis of 
current law, due to possible changes of law or challenges from tax 
authorities under existing laws it is possible that the provision may 
turn out to be insuffi cient and this could materially affect our 
fi nancial condition by causing us to incur additional tax expense.

The outcome of litigation or regulatory proceedings in which we 
are involved could subject us to significant monetary damages or 
restrictions on our ability to do business.
Various legal proceedings arise during the normal course of our 
business. These include individual consumer cases, class action 
lawsuits, and actions brought by regulators. While we do not 
currently believe that the outcome of any such pending or threatened 
litigation will have a material adverse effect on our fi nancial 
position, litigation is inherently uncertain and adverse developments 
or outcomes can result in signifi cant monetary damages, penalties 

or injunctive relief against us. Our insurance arrangements may 
be insuffi cient to cover an adverse judgment in a large lawsuit. 
See Part I, Item 3, “Legal Proceedings” for information on our 
material pending litigation.

Risks Relating to Our Industry

Changes in the legislative, regulatory and judicial environments 
may adversely affect our ability to collect, manage, aggregate and 
use data and may increase our costs of doing so.
The credit reporting, direct marketing and employment verifi cation 
industries are subject to substantial government regulation relating 
to individual privacy and the collection, distribution and use of 
information about individuals. The information and personal data 
we collect is subject to a variety of government regulations, 
including, but not limited to, those described above under 
“Information Security and Government Regulation.” In addition, 
public interest in individual privacy rights and the collection, 
protection, distribution and use of information about individuals 
may result in the adoption of new federal, state, local and foreign 
laws and regulations that could include increased compliance 
requirements and restrictions on the purchase, sale, maintenance, 
handling and sharing of information about consumers for commercial 
purposes. This could have a negative impact on our ability to collect 
such information provided by consumers voluntarily. Future laws 
and regulations with respect to the collection, management and 
use of data about individuals, and adverse publicity, judicial 
interpretations or potential litigation concerning the commercial 
use of such information may result in substantial regulatory 
compliance costs, litigation expense or a loss of revenue.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

We have the ability to issue additional equity securities, which 
would lead to dilution of our issued and outstanding common 
stock and could contain terms and rights that are superior to those 
of our common stock.
The issuance of additional equity securities or securities convertible 
into equity securities could result in dilution of the then-existing 
shareholders’ equity interests in us. We are authorized to issue, 
without shareholder approval, up to 300,000,000 shares of common 
stock, of which 133,433,311 shares were outstanding as of 
December 31, 2007, including shares held by employee benefi ts 
trusts. In addition, our Board of Directors has the authority to issue, 
without vote or action of shareholders, up to 10,000,000 shares 
of preferred stock in one or more series, and has the ability to fi x 
the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of any such 
series. Any such series of preferred stock could contain dividend 
rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, 
redemption prices, liquidation preferences or other rights superior 
to the rights of holders of our common stock. If we issue convertible 
preferred stock, a subsequent conversion may dilute the current 
common shareholders’ interest.
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Provisions in our articles of incorporation, bylaws, shareholder 
rights plan, other agreements and Georgia law may make it difficult 
for a third-party to acquire us, even in situations that may be 
viewed as desirable by our shareholders.
Our articles of incorporation, bylaws, shareholder rights plan, other 
agreements and the Georgia Business Corporation Code of the 
State of Georgia, or Georgia Code, contain provisions that may 
delay or prevent an attempt by a third-party to acquire control of 
our company. For example, our articles of incorporation:
 •  Provide for classified terms for the members of our Board 

of Directors;
 •  Authorize our Board of Directors to fill vacant directorships 

or to increase the size of the Board;
 •  Do not authorize our shareholders to remove a director 

without cause;
 •  Do not authorize our shareholders to cumulate voting in 

the election of directors; and
 •  Authorize the issuance of preferred stock with such 

rights, powers and privileges as the Board of Directors 
deems appropriate.

 In addition, our bylaws limit the ability of shareholders to 
bring business before a meeting of shareholders and do not allow 
our shareholders to act by written consent.
 We are a Georgia corporation and have elected to be governed 
by the “business combination” and “fair price” provisions of the 
Georgia Code, that could be viewed as having the effect of discourag-
ing an attempt to obtain control of us. The business combination 
provision generally would prohibit us from engaging in various 
business combination transactions with any interested shareholder 
for a period of fi ve years after the date of the transaction in which 
the person became an interested shareholder unless certain designated 
conditions are met.
 The fair price provision generally requires that, absent Board 
or shareholder approval of an acquisition or merger, an interested 
shareholder seeking to engage in a business combination transaction 
with us must pay the remaining shareholders the same price for their 
shares as was paid by the interested shareholder to acquire benefi cial 
ownership of 10% or more of our outstanding voting shares.
 We have also implemented a shareholder rights plan, sometimes 
referred to as a poison pill, which could make it uneconomical 
for a third-party to acquire our company on a hostile basis.
 These provisions could also discourage or impede a tender 
offer, proxy contest or other similar transaction involving control 
of us, even if viewed favorably by shareholders.

Item 1B.
UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

Item 2.
PROPERTIES
Our executive offi ces are located at 1550 Peachtree Street, N.W., 
Atlanta, Georgia, in a leased facility. Our other properties are 
geographically distributed to meet sales and operating requirements 
worldwide. We consider these properties to be both suitable and 
adequate to meet our current operating requirements, and most of 
the space is being utilized. We ordinarily lease offi ce space for 
conducting our business and are obligated under approximately 
80 leases and other rental arrangements for our headquarters and 
fi eld locations. We owned four offi ce buildings at December 31, 
2007, including buildings utilized by our Latin America operations 
and located in Sao Paulo, Brazil and Santiago, Chile. Our building 
located in Wexford, Republic of Ireland, which was utilized by 
our European operations, was sold in January 2007. In July 2007, 
we purchased the two buildings which house our Atlanta, Georgia 
data center. We also own 23.5 acres adjacent to this data center.
 For additional information regarding our obligations under 
leases, see Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
in this Form 10-K. We believe that suitable additional space will 
be available to accommodate our future needs.

Item 3.
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Equifax, certain of its subsidiaries, and other persons have been 
named as parties in various legal actions and administrative 
proceedings arising in connection with the operation of Equifax’s 
businesses. In most cases, plaintiffs seek unspecifi ed damages 
and other relief. These actions include the following:

Naviant Arbitration and Litigation. We commenced an arbitration 
proceeding against the shareholder sellers of Naviant, Inc., which 
we acquired in 2002, claiming they breached various representations 
and warranties concerning information furnished to us in connection 
with the acquisition transaction. We also fi led a lawsuit on August 13, 
2004, in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida, 
in a case captioned Equifax Inc. and Naviant Inc. v. Austin Ventures 
VII, L.P, et al. Thereafter, we released our claims against one selling 
shareholder, Seisint, Inc., as part of a settlement and settled our 
claims against certain other former selling shareholders on June 14, 
2006, in exchange for a cash payment to us of $15.2 million. On 
November 21, 2006, the District Court granted our request to lift 
the stay on our lawsuit so we could pursue our claims against the 
selling shareholders in that action. All parties voluntarily abandoned 
the arbitration proceedings. By joint stipulation, the District Court 
entered orders on December 27, 2007 and January 28, 2008, 
dismissing, without prejudice, claims and counterclaims of all parties 
except such claims asserted between Equifax and defendant Scott 
Hirsch (who claims unspecifi ed damages for allegedly aiding a 
breach of fi duciary duty by the shareholders’ representative in 
connection with the June 2006 settlement). The litigation continues 
as to such claims.
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NCRA/Standfacts Litigation. On March 25, 2004, the National 
Credit Reporting Association, Inc., or NCRA, a trade association 
of mortgage credit information resellers, and, separately, 23 of 
NCRA’s members, commenced suits against Equifax, Experian 
and TransUnion alleging various violations of antitrust and unfair 
practices laws. After a variety of rulings on procedural and substan-
tive issues, including grants on two occasions of all or part of 
defendants’ motions to dismiss, the remaining claims of all plaintiffs 
have been consolidated under a Third Amended Complaint, fi led 
June 29, 2005, in an action captioned Standfacts Credit Services, 
et al. v. Experian Information Solutions, Inc., Equifax Inc., and 
TransUnion, LLC, pending in the U.S District Court for the Central 
District of California. The amended complaint seeks injunctive 
relief and unspecifi ed amounts of damages. In 2005, the District 
Court granted defendants’ motions to dismiss all claims except for 
one remaining Sherman Act, Section 1 conspiracy claim. In late 
2006, 19 of the 23 original plaintiffs were dismissed from the case 
by agreement. On January 18, 2007, the District Court entered a 
fi nal order pursuant to stipulation of the parties dismissing all 
remaining claims of plaintiffs, with prejudice, and preserving only 
the right of certain plaintiffs to appeal the previous dismissal by the 
District Court of certain monopolization claims to the U.S. Court 
of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. Plaintiffs fi led their notice of 
appeal with the Ninth Circuit on February 15, 2007. The appellate 
briefi ng is scheduled to be completed in early 2008.

VantageScore Litigation. On March 14, 2006, Equifax and two other 
national credit reporting companies announced the development 
of VantageScore, a credit scoring system. VantageScore is being 
independently marketed and sold separately by Equifax and the 
two other national credit reporting companies through licensing 
agreements with VantageScore Solutions LLC, which is jointly 
owned by Equifax and the two other national credit reporting 
companies. On October 11, 2006, in an action captioned Fair Isaac 
Corporation v. Equifax Inc., Experian Information Solutions, Inc., 
TransUnion LLC and VantageScore Solutions LLC, Fair Isaac 
Corporation fi led a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District 
of Minnesota, alleging that the national credit reporting companies 
and VantageScore Solutions LLC violated antitrust laws, engaged 
in unfair competitive practices and false advertising and infringed 
plaintiff’s trademark by using a credit score product with a score 
range that overlaps the FICO® score range. Plaintiff seeks injunctive 
relief and treble damages under its antitrust claims. The defendants 
have fi led answers denying the claims. The magistrate judge has 
entered a scheduling order setting the close of all discovery by 
July 2008 and a trial readiness date of February 1, 2009. Equifax 
believes the lawsuit is without merit and will vigorously defend 
itself and VantageScore Solutions LLC against these claims.

California Bankruptcy Litigation. In a series of actions fi led in 
the U.S. District Court for the Central District of California 
between October 14, 2005 and November 2, 2005 which have 
now been consolidated, captioned Terri N. White, et al. v. Equifax 
Information Services LLC, Jose Hernandez v. Equifax Information 
Services LLC, Kathryn L. Pike v. Equifax Information Services 
LLC, and Jose L. Acosta, Jr., et al. v. Trans Union LLC, et al., 
plaintiffs asserted that Equifax violated federal and state law (the 
FCRA, the California Credit Reporting Act and the California 
Unfair Competition Law) by failing to follow reasonable procedures 
to determine whether credit accounts are discharged in bankruptcy, 
including the method for updating the status of an account following 
a bankruptcy discharge. The Pike plaintiff asserts only that Equifax’s 
conduct violated the California Credit Reporting Act. On May 15, 
2007, plaintiffs fi led motions seeking to certify a nationwide class 
of similarly situated consumers. Plaintiffs seek unspecifi ed damages 
and injunctive relief. Defendants have responded to these motions, 
and a hearing on these motions is scheduled for March 12, 2008. 
Discovery is ongoing.

Other. Equifax has been named as a defendant in various other 
legal actions, including administrative claims, class actions and 
other litigation arising in connection with our business. Some of 
the legal actions include claims for substantial compensatory or 
punitive damages or claims for indeterminate amounts of damages. 
We believe we have strong defenses to, and where appropriate, 
will vigorously contest, many of these matters. Given the number 
of these matters, some are likely to result in adverse judgments, 
penalties, injunctions, fi nes or other relief. However, we do not 
believe that these litigation matters will be individually material 
to our fi nancial condition or results of operations. We may explore 
potential settlements before a case is taken through trial because 
of the uncertainty and risks inherent in the litigation process.
 For information regarding contingent tax claims raised by the 
Canada Revenue Agency, and our accounting for legal contingencies, 
see Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in 
this Form 10-K.

Item 4.
SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO 
A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of our security holders during 
the fourth quarter of 2007.
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PART I I

Item 5.
MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S 
COMMON EQUITY, RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

MARKET INFORMATION
Our common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock 
Exchange under the ticker symbol “EFX.” The following table 
shows the high and low sales prices for our stock, as reported 
on the New York Stock Exchange, for each quarter in the last 
two fi scal years:

     2007 2006

(In dollars) High Low High Low

First Quarter $42.00 $35.91 $39.42 $36.20
Second Quarter $44.88 $36.50 $38.86 $33.59
Third Quarter $46.30 $35.93 $37.84 $30.15
Fourth Quarter $40.21 $35.22 $41.64 $35.30
Year   $46.30 $35.22 $41.64 $30.15

HOLDERS
At January 31, 2008, we had approximately 4,500 holders of record 
of our common stock; however, we believe the number of benefi cial 
owners of our common stock exceeds this number.

DIVIDENDS
Set forth below is the amount of cash dividends declared per share 
of Equifax common stock for each quarter in the last two fi scal years:

 2007 2006

First Quarter $0.04 $0.04
Second Quarter 0.04 0.04
Third Quarter 0.04 0.04
Fourth Quarter 0.04 0.04
Year   $0.16 $0.16

 While we have historically paid dividends to common 
shareholders, the declaration and payment of future dividends 
will depend on many factors, including our earnings, fi nancial 
condition, business development needs, and regulatory consider-
ations, and is at the discretion of our Board of Directors.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
The following table contains information with respect to purchases of our common stock made by or on behalf of Equifax or any 
“affi liated purchaser” (as defi ned in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), during our fourth quarter ended 
December 31, 2007:

       Total Number of Maximum Number
       Shares Purchased as Part (or Approximate Dollar Value) of
     Total Number of  Average Price of Publicly-Announced Shares that May Yet be Purchased
Period  Shares Purchased (1) Paid Per Share (2) Plans or Programs Under the Plans or Programs (3)

September 30, 2007    $161,732,130
October 1 – October 31, 2007 268,100 $38.01 268,100 $151,540,354
November 1 – November 30, 2007 1,652,596 $37.99 1,650,000 $ 88,860,236
December 1 – December 31, 2007 686,890 $37.21 670,000 $ 63,931,566

 Total  2,607,586 $37.79 2,588,100 $ 63,931,566

(1)  The total number of shares purchased includes: (a) shares purchased pursuant to our publicly-announced share repurchase program, or Program; and (b) shares 
surrendered, or deemed surrendered, in satisfaction of the exercise price and/or to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the exercise of employee stock 
options, totaling 0 shares for the month of October 2007, 2,596 shares for the month of November 2007, and 16,890 shares for the month of December 2007.

(2) Average price paid per share for shares purchased as part of our publicly-announced plan (includes brokerage commissions).
(3)  On February 14, 2007, in connection with our acquisition of TALX, the Board authorized and we publicly announced an increase in the Program to $783.0 million from 

$383.0 million; subsequently, on February 8, 2008, the Board increased the Program by an additional $250.0 million, and we publicly announced this increase on 
February 11, 2008.

DIVIDEND AND SHARE REPURCHASE RESTRICTIONS
Our Senior Credit Facility, as amended, restricts our ability to pay cash dividends on our capital stock or repurchase capital stock if 
default or event of default exists or would result, according to the terms of the agreement.
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Item 6.
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The table below summarizes our selected historical fi nancial information for each of the last fi ve years. The summary of operations data 
for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, has been derived 
from our audited Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K. The summary of operations data for the years ended 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 has been derived from our audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements not included in this report. The historical selected fi nancial information may not be indicative of 
our future performance and should be read in conjunction with the information contained in Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and the Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying Notes to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K.

 Twelve Months Ended
 December 31,

(In millions, except per share data)  2007 2006 (2) 2005 2004 2003

Summary of Operations:
Operating revenue  $1,843.0 $1,546.3 $1,443.4 $1,272.8 $1,210.7
Operating expenses  $1,356.8 $1,110.2 $1,021.4 $  897.0 $  896.5
Operating income  $  486.2 $  436.1 $  422.0 $  375.8 $  314.2
Income from continuing operations  $  272.7 $  274.5 $  246.5 $  237.3 $  180.7
Dividends paid  $   20.7 $   20.3 $   20.2 $   15.0 $   11.3
Per common share (diluted):
Income from continuing operations per share  $   2.02 $   2.12 $   1.86 $   1.78 $   1.32
Cash dividends declared per share  $   0.16 $   0.16 $   0.15 $   0.11 $   0.08
Weighted-average common shares oustanding (diluted) (1)  135.1 129.4 132.2 133.5 136.7

 As of December 31,

(In millions)  2007 (3) 2006 (2) 2005 2004 2003

Balance Sheet Data: (1)

Total assets  $3,523.9 $1,790.6 $1,831.5 $1,557.2 $1,553.5
Long-term debt, net of current portion  $1,165.2 $  173.9 $  463.8 $  398.5 $  663.0
Shareholders’ equity  $1,399.2 $  838.1 $  820.3 $  523.6 $  371.5

(1)  On May 15, 2007, we acquired all the outstanding shares of TALX. Under the terms of the transaction, we issued 20.6 million shares of Equifax common stock and 
1.9 million fully-vested options to purchase Equifax common stock, and paid approximately $288.1 million in cash, net of cash acquired. We also assumed TALX’s 
outstanding debt, which had a fair value totaling $177.6 million at May 15, 2007. We financed the cash portion of the acquisition initially with borrowings under our 
Senior Credit Facility, and subsequently refinanced this debt in the second quarter of 2007 with ten- and thirty-year notes. We subsequently repurchased 17.9 million 
shares of Equifax common stock through December 31, 2007 for $718.7 million, as authorized by our Board of Directors. For additional information about the TALX 
acquisition, see Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K.

(2)  On January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” or SFAS 123R, which resulted in additional stock-based 
compensation expense during 2007 and 2006 when compared to prior years. Stock-based compensation expense was $17.6 million, $17.4 million and $8.2 million for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

(3)  In 2007, total debt increased as a result of our issuance of $550.0 million of ten- and thirty-year fixed rate senior notes during the second quarter, our assumption of 
$75.0 million in senior guaranteed notes of TALX due 2012, and the commencement of a commercial paper program for general corporate purposes.
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Item 7.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
As used herein, the terms Equifax, the Company, we, our and us 
refer to Equifax Inc., a Georgia corporation, and its consolidated 
subsidiaries as a combined entity, except where it is clear that the 
terms mean only Equifax Inc.
 All references to earnings per share data in Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis, or MD&A, are to diluted earnings per 
share, or EPS, unless otherwise noted. Diluted EPS is calculated 
to refl ect the potential dilution that would occur if stock options 
or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised and resulted 
in additional common shares outstanding.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW
We are a leading global provider of information solutions, 
employment and income verifi cation and human resources business 
process outsourcing services. We leverage one of the largest sources 
of consumer and commercial data, along with advanced analytics 
and proprietary technology, to create customized insights which 
enable our business customers to grow faster and more effi ciently 
and inform and empower consumers.
 Businesses rely on us for consumer and business credit 
intelligence, portfolio management, fraud detection, decisioning 
technology, marketing tools, and human resources and payroll 
services. We also offer a portfolio of products that enable individual 
consumers to manage their financial affairs and protect their 
identity. Our revenue stream is diversifi ed among individual 
consumers and businesses across a wide range of industries and 
international geographies.

Segment and Geographic Information
Segments. The U.S. Consumer Information Solutions, or USCIS, 
segment, the largest of our fi ve segments, consists of four product 
and service lines: Online Consumer Information Solutions, Mortgage 
Reporting Solutions, Credit Marketing Services and Direct 
Marketing Services. Online Consumer Information Services and 
Mortgage Reporting Solutions revenue is principally transaction-
based and is derived from our sales of products such as consumer 
credit reporting and scoring, mortgage reporting, identity verifi cation, 
fraud detection and modeling services, and certain of our decisioning 
products that facilitate and automate a variety of credit-oriented 
decisions, a signifi cant majority of which are delivered electronically. 
Credit Marketing Services and Direct Marketing Services revenue 
is principally transaction- and subscription-based and is derived 
from our sales of the products such as those that assist clients in 
acquiring new customers, cross-selling to existing customers and 
managing portfolio risk.
 The TALX segment consists of The Work Number and Tax and 
Talent Management business units. The Work Number revenue is 
transaction-based and derived primarily from verifi cation of employ-
ment data reported to us by employers. Tax and Talent Management 
revenues derive from our provision of certain human resources 
business process outsourcing services that are transaction- and 
subscription-based product offerings.
 North America Personal Solutions revenue is both transaction- 
and subscription-based and is derived from the sale of credit 
monitoring and identity theft protection products, which we 
deliver to consumers through the mail and electronically via 
the Internet.
 North America Commercial Solutions revenue is principally 
transaction-based and is derived from the sale of business infor-
mation, credit scores and portfolio analytics (decisioning tools) 
that enable customers to utilize our reports to make fi nancial, 
marketing and purchasing decisions related to businesses.
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 The International segment consists of Canada Consumer, 
Europe and Latin America. Canada Consumer’s products and 
services are similar to our USCIS offerings, while Europe 
and Latin America are made up of varying mixes of product lines 
that are in our USCIS, North America Commercial Solutions and 
North America Personal Solutions reportable segments.

Geographic Information. We currently operate in 14 countries: 
Argentina, Brazil, Canada, Chile, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Honduras, 
Peru, Portugal, the Republic of Ireland, Spain, the U.K., Uruguay, 
and the U.S. Our operations in Costa Rica and the Republic of 
Ireland focus on data processing and customer support activities. 
Of the countries we operate in, 73% of our revenue was generated 
in the U.S. during the twelve months ended December 31, 2007.

Key Performance Indicators. Management focuses on a variety 
of key indicators to monitor operating and fi nancial performance. 
These performance indicators include measurements of operating 
revenue, operating revenue growth, operating income, operating 
margin, net income, diluted earnings per share, cash provided by 
operating activities and capital expenditures. The key performance 
indicators for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, 2006 
and 2005, were as follows:

     Key Performance Indicators
     Twelve Months Ended
     December 31,

(Dollars in millions, except per share data) 2007 2006 2005

Operating revenue  $1,843.0 $1,546.3 $1,443.4
Operating revenue growth  19% 7% 13%
Operating income  $  486.2 $  436.1 $  422.0
Operating margin  26.4% 28.2% 29.2%
Income from continuing operations $  272.7 $  274.5 $  246.5
Diluted earnings per share
 from continuing operations  $   2.02 $   2.12 $   1.86
Cash provided by 
 operating activities  $  449.9 $  372.1 $  337.8
Capital expenditures  $  118.5 $   52.0 $   46.2

Operational Highlights.
 •  On May 15, 2007, we completed the acquisition of all 

of the outstanding shares of TALX, a leading provider of 
employment and income verification and human resources 
business process outsourcing services. The acquisition aligns 
with our long-term growth strategy of expanding into new 
markets with unique data.

 •  We achieved double digit revenue growth in our International, 
North America Personal Solutions and North America 
Commercial Solutions operating segments when compared 
with 2006.

 •  We repurchased 17.9 million shares of our common stock 
on the open market for $718.7 million during 2007.

 •  On June 28, 2007, we issued $300.0 million principal amount 
of 6.3%, ten-year senior notes and $250.0 million principal 
amount of 7.0%, thirty-year senior notes in underwritten 
public offerings.

Business Environment, Company Outlook and Strategy
Our fi nancial condition and operating performance are affected 
by the rate at which the economies of the U.S. and the other countries 
in which we operate grow, as well as levels of consumer spending 
and confi dence regarding jobs, the health of the economy and the 
unemployment rate. Changes in overall economic conditions in 
the U.S. and other countries in which we operate generally impact the 
demand for consumer credit and accordingly for our credit infor-
mation, marketing services, employment and income information, as 
well as other products and services. We do not expect meaningful 
improvement in revenue from our USCIS business in 2008. We do, 
however, expect our other operating segments to grow revenues 
when compared to 2007 due to new product innovation, attracting 
new customers and growing volumes with our existing customers.
 The demand for our services is infl uenced by price and service 
competition among a limited number of providers; investment in 
proprietary credit information databases; changes in customer 
requirements; continued consolidation in the lending, credit card and 
telecommunications industries; emerging new market segments; 
and technological innovation. To improve our competitive position 
requires that we continue to focus on developing applications to 
differentiate our products and services from those of our competitors; 
efficient operational processing to offset price compression; 
competitive pricing; technological competence; and protection of 
sensitive data. Other signifi cant factors include brand recognition, 
customer responsiveness and service quality, ability to successfully 
integrate acquisitions and regulatory compliance.
 We expect to be able to respond to these challenges by focusing 
on these strategic objectives:
 •  Increase penetration of our customers’ information solutions 

needs through new products, value-based pricing, expanded 
services and improved sales and customer support;

 •  Deploy enabling technology systems and analytics globally;
 •  Invest in unique data sources; and
 •  Pursue new vertical markets and expand into 

emerging markets.
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 The 2007 increase in revenue is due to double-digit growth in 
our International, North America Personal Solutions and North 
America Commercial Solutions segments, as discussed in greater 
detail in “Segment Financial Results” below, as well as the acqui-
sition of TALX. We recorded $179.4 million in revenue from 
TALX since our acquisition of the company on May 15, 2007. 

Revenues from our USCIS segment were essentially fl at due to 
weakness in mortgage, credit marketing and direct marketing 
markets. The 2006 increase in revenue was due to broad-based 
growth across all of our segments. Foreign currency had a favorable 
impact of $32.5 million or 2% and $18.5 million or 1%, on 2007 
and 2006 revenue growth, respectively.

 The 2007 increase in cost of services was signifi cantly affected 
by our acquisition of TALX, which contributed $60.1 million of 
this increase. The remainder of the increase is primarily due to 
(1) higher production and related costs due to revenue growth, 
including costs related to converting a major customer to our 
enabling technologies; (2) the impact of foreign currency translation; 
(3) expenditures to enhance the effi ciency, effectiveness and reli-
ability of our information technology platforms, processes, and 
development capabilities in support of our long-term growth 
strategy; and (4) higher salary and contractor staffi ng costs, partly 
due to increased call volume and a second outsourced call center 
related to North America Personal Solutions. The 2006 increases 
in cost of services were primarily due to operating revenue growth 
and increased salary expenses due to higher headcount and our 
annual incentive program.

 The 2007 increase in selling, general and administrative expenses 
was mainly due to our acquisition of TALX, which contributed 
$51.8 million of this increase. The remainder of the increase is 
primarily due to (1) salary costs related to increased headcount for 
the expansion of corporate capabilities in key support areas, including 
marketing and technology; (2) the impact of foreign currency 
translation; and (3) expenses related to Austin-Tetra (which was 
acquired in October 2006). This increase was partially offset by 
lower litigation costs. Our 2006 results included a $5.0 million 
provision for litigation related to our North America Personal 
Solutions operating segment and a $4.0 million provision for liti-
gation related to our USCIS operating segment accrued in 2006 
that did not recur in 2007. The increase was also partially offset 
by lower advertising expenses related to North America Personal 
Solutions operating segment, due to the elimination of less effective 
advertising channels.

 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS – 
TWELVE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007, 2006 AND 2005

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS

Operating Revenue

Consolidated Operating Revenue Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

     2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

U.S. Consumer Information Solutions $  969.7 $  968.1 $  933.3 $  1.6 0% $ 34.8 4%
International 472.8 402.8 358.3 70.0 17% 44.5 12%
North America Personal Solutions 153.5 126.0 114.7 27.5 22% 11.3 10%
North America Commercial Solutions 67.6 49.4 37.1 18.2 37% 12.3 33%
TALX  179.4 – – 179.4 nm – nm
Consolidated operating revenue $1,843.0 $1,546.3 $1,443.4 $296.7 19% $102.9 7%

nm - not meaningful

Operating Expenses

Consolidated Operating Expenses Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

     2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

Consolidated cost of services $  752.0 $  626.4 $  594.2 $125.6 20% $32.2 5%
Consolidated selling, general 
 and administrative expenses 477.1 401.0 345.0 76.1 19% 56.0 16%
Consolidated depreciation 
 and amortization expense 127.7 82.8 82.2 44.9 54% 0.6 1%
Consolidated operating expenses $1,356.8 $1,110.2 $1,021.4 $246.6 22% $88.8 9%

nm - not meaningful
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 The 2006 increase in selling, general and administrative expenses 
was mainly due to (1) a $7.6 million incremental negative impact 
of adopting Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, 
No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” or SFAS 123R, on January 1, 
2006; (2) $9.0 million in loss contingencies related to certain pending 
legal matters noted above; (3) a $6.4 million severance charge recog-
nized during the fourth quarter of 2006 related to our organizational 
realignment; (4) a $3.2 million negative impact of the retirement 
of several executive offi cers in 2006; (5) higher salary expenses 
due to increased headcount; and (6) increased professional fees.

 The 2007 increase in depreciation and amortization expense 
was mainly due to $38.3 million in incremental depreciation and 
amortization expense related to our acquisition of TALX. The 
remainder of the increase is primarily due to depreciation expense 
related to increased 2007 capital expenditures, including the purchase 
of the facility that houses our Atlanta, Georgia data center on 
July 26, 2007, and intangible amortization expense related to our 
acquisitions of Austin-Tetra in October 2006 and of three mortgage 
affi liates in the fi rst quarter of 2007. Depreciation and amortization 
expense in 2006 remained consistent with the previous year.

 The 2007 decline in operating margin was primarily due to 
declines in the margins of our USCIS business units and the impact 
of acquisition-related amortization expense from our acquisition of 
TALX. This amortization expense represented 2% of 2007 consoli-

dated revenue. The 2006 decline in operating margin was primarily 
driven by the loss contingencies related to certain legal matters, 
the negative incremental impact of adopting SFAS 123R and the 
charge related to our organizational realignment.

 The 2007 increase in other expense, net, was primarily due to 
increased interest expense driven by a higher level of debt during 
2007 which was used to fund the acquisition of TALX and our share 
buy back activity in 2007. See Note 4 for additional information 
about debt agreements initiated or acquired during 2007.
 The 2006 decrease in other expense, net, was primarily due to 
a favorable settlement of claims against certain former shareholders 

of Naviant, Inc. during the third quarter of 2006. In 2004, we served 
a demand for arbitration, alleging, among other things, that the 
sellers had breached various representations and warranties 
concerning information furnished to us in connection with our 
acquisition of Naviant, Inc. in 2002. As a result of this settlement, 
we recognized a $14.1 million non-taxable gain in other income, 
net, on our Consolidated Statement of Income in 2006.

Operating Income and Operating Margin

Consolidated Operating Income Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

     2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

Consolidated operating revenue $1,843.0 $1,546.3 $1,443.4 $296.7 19% $102.9 7%
Consolidated operating expenses 1,356.8 1,110.2 1,021.4 246.6 22% 88.8 9%
Consolidated operating income $  486.2 $  436.1 $  422.0 $ 50.1 11% $ 14.1 3%
Consolidated operating margin 26.4% 28.2% 29.2% nm nm nm nm

nm - not meaningful

Other Expense, Net

Consolidated Other Expense, Net Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

     2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

Consolidated interest expense $   58.5 $ 31.9 $ 35.6 $ 26.6 83% $ (3.7) (10)%
Consolidated minority interests 
 in earnings, net of tax 6.1 4.5 4.9 1.6 36% (0.4) (8)%
Consolidated other income, net (3.0) (16.2) (9.2) 13.2 (81)% (7.0) 76%
Consolidated other expense, net $   61.6 $ 20.2 $ 31.3 $ 41.4 205% $ (11.1) (35)%
Weighted-average cost of debt 6.1% 5.7% 5.4% nm nm nm nm
Total consolidated debt $1,387.3 $503.9 $556.1 $883.4 175% $(52.2) (9)%

nm - not meaningful
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Income Taxes

Consolidated Provision for Income Taxes Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

     2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

Consolidated provision for income taxes $151.9 $141.4 $144.2 $10.5 7% $(2.8) (2)%
Effective income tax rate 35.8% 34.0% 36.9% nm nm nm nm

nm - not meaningful

 The 2007 increase in our effective income tax rate and the 
related provision for income taxes was primarily due to changes 
in several tax reserves in 2006, described below, that did not recur 
in 2007. This increase was partially offset by a lower foreign and 
state tax rate compared to 2006; a favorable second quarter 2007 
discrete item related to our foreign tax credit utilization; and discrete 
items recorded during fourth quarter 2007, including a $2.9 million 
benefi t for refunds related to our 2002 and 2003 U.S. federal income 
tax fi lings.

 The 2006 decrease in our effective income tax rate and the 
related provision for income taxes was due primarily to the reversal 
of $9.5 million in income tax reserves related to uncertain tax 
positions for which the applicable statute of limitations expired 
in the third quarter of 2006 and the $14.1 million non-taxable gain 
on the litigation settlement associated with Naviant, Inc. during 
the second quarter of 2006, offset by an increase in foreign tax 
expense during 2006.

Net Income

Consolidated Net Income Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

     2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

Consolidated net income $272.7 $274.5 $246.5 $ (1.8) (1)% $28.0 11%
Diluted earnings per common share $ 2.02 $ 2.12 $ 1.86 $(0.10) (5)% $0.26 14%
Weighted-average shares used in 
 computing diluted earnings per share 135.1 129.4 132.2 nm nm nm nm

nm - not meaningful

 Our 2007 decline in net income was a function of growth in 
operating income from our International, North America Personal 
Solutions and North America Commercial Solutions segments, 
when compared to 2006, and from the acquisition of TALX, more 
than offset by increased interest expense and a higher provision 
for income taxes. Our 2006 increase in net income was primarily 
due to growth in operating income from all four of our operating 
segments, as well as the reversal of a $9.5 million tax reserve 
related to uncertain tax positions for which the applicable statute 
of limitations expired in the third quarter of 2006.

 Our 2007 earnings per share was negatively impacted by the 
increase in our weighted-average shares outstanding resulting 
from our issuance of common stock in connection with the TALX 
acquisition, partially offset by the impact of share repurchases 
completed after the acquisition in May 2007. Our 2006 earnings 
per share were positively impacted by growth in net income and 
share repurchases over the course of that year when compared 
with 2005.
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 The small increase in 2007 revenue was due to growth in 
Online Consumer Information Solutions being largely offset by 
decreased revenues in the other three business units due primarily 
to weakness in the U.S. credit and mortgage markets. The 2006 
increase in revenue was primarily due to growth in 3 of the 
4 business units, offset partially by decreased revenues in Mortgage 
Reporting Solutions.

Online Consumer Information Solutions
The 2007 increase in revenue was primarily due to volume 
increases from our regional customers and both volume and 
price increases from our smaller customers. Revenue from resellers 
also rose during 2007 due to price increases that became effective 
near the end of 2006, and we recorded higher revenue from our 
insurance, banking and regulatory brokerage monitoring customers. 
These increases were partially offset by price and volume decreases 
from certain large fi nancial services institutions. The 2006 increase 
in revenue was primarily due to higher sales volume to our fi nancial 
services customers, which offset some decline in telecommunication 
accounts and price compression. Online transaction volume in this 
business unit was approximately 690 million, 650 million and 
610 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Mortgage Reporting Solutions
The 2007 decline in revenue is primarily a result of weakness in the 
U.S. mortgage markets, which led to reduced transaction volumes 
from our existing customer base and caused several large mortgage 
brokerage customers to cease operations during 2007. This decrease 
was partially offset by incremental revenue from our acquisition 
of three mortgage affi liates in the fi rst quarter of 2007 and increased 
revenue related to our recently-introduced settlement services 
products. The 2006 decrease in revenue was primarily due to volume 
declines from a large customer that changed its retail mortgage 
business model, as well as less favorable mortgage market condi-
tions, including higher interest rates that resulted in lower refi nancing 
and mortgage origination activity.

Credit Marketing Services
The 2007 decrease in revenue was primarily due to a decline in 
prescreen transaction volume and analysis services from our large 
fi nancial services, telecommunications and reseller customers. 
This decrease was partially offset by increased prescreen transaction 
volumes for our smaller customers. Our fi nancial services customers 
increased portfolio review product volumes, which refl ects a 
continuing trend towards the enhanced management of their 
existing customer portfolios as opposed to new account acquisitions. 
The 2006 increase in revenue was primarily due to higher volume 
mainly from national and regional customers for certain of our 
products that target new customers and our account management 
product offerings, as well as continued demand for core prescreen 
products and data sales.

Direct Marketing Services
The 2007 decrease in revenue was mainly due to reduced mailing 
volumes from our existing customer base, driven in part by the 
increase in postage rates. This decrease was partially offset by 
increased revenue from new and renewed contracts to provide 
services related to our customers’ marketing databases. The 2006 
increase in revenue was mainly due to higher volume from existing 
customers and revenue from new customers and products.

U.S. Consumer Information Solutions Operating Margin
The 2007 decline in operating margin was primarily a result of the 
fi xed cost nature of the USCIS business in the midst of revenue 
declines in our Mortgage Reporting Solutions, Credit Marketing 
Services and Direct Marketing Services business units. While 
revenue of the entire USCIS business was essentially fl at, the 
operating expense of maintaining the databases, products, and 
customer support capabilities required for the business increased 
by 2.4%, refl ecting annual compensation increases and enhanced 
product, processing and support capabilities. Recognizing the low 
expectations for growth in this business in 2008, given current 
economic conditions, management has taken and is continuing to 
take steps to streamline operations and increase effi ciency in order 
to protect operating margins.

SEGMENT FINANCIAL RESULTS

U.S. CONSUMER INFORMATION SOLUTIONS
 Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

     2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

Operating revenue:
Online Consumer Information Solutions $639.0 $619.2 $594.5 $   19.8 3% $   24.7 4%
Mortgage Reporting Solutions 66.1 71.7 85.1 (5.6) (8)% (13.4) (16)%
Credit Marketing Services 156.4 166.3 150.7 (9.9) (6)% 15.6 10%
Direct Marketing Services 108.2 110.9 103.0 (2.7) (2)% 7.9 8%
Total operating revenue $969.7 $968.1 $933.3 $    1.6 0% $   34.8 4%
% of Consolidated Revenue 53% 63% 64% nm nm nm nm
Total operating income $383.5 $395.7 $392.2 $(12.2) (3)% $    3.5 1%
Operating margin 39.6% 40.9% 42.0% nm (1.3)% nm (1.1)%

nm - not meaningful
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 The 2006 decline in operating margin was primarily driven 
by changes in business mix which resulted in price compression; 
increased sales tax and legal expenses; higher technology and 

fulfillment-related costs; and the $4.0 million, pretax, loss 
contingency related to litigation loss contingency recorded in the 
third quarter of 2006.

 The 2007 and 2006 increases in revenue are attributable to 
growth in all three geographical areas. Local currency fl uctuation 
against the U.S. dollar favorably impacted our International 
revenue by $31.0 million, or 7%, in 2007 and $17.1 million, or 5%, 
in 2006. Revenue was up 10% in local currency in 2007 and 
7% in 2006.

Europe. The 2007 increase in revenue was mainly attributable 
to our consumer risk products, with volume increases in the U.K. 
and new customers and pricing management strategies in Spain and 
Portugal. Local currency fl uctuation against the U.S. dollar favorably 
impacted our European revenue by $14.6 million, or 10%, as revenue 
was up 10% in local currency.
 The 2006 increase in revenue was primarily due to higher 
consumer information services activity associated with new 
business and increased volumes from existing customers, as well 
as increased volumes related to our commercial services business. 
Local currency fl uctuation against the U.S. dollar favorably impacted 
our European revenue by $2.2 million, or 1%, as revenue was up 
7% in local currency.

Latin America. The 2007 increase in revenue was driven by double 
digit sales growth in 6 of the 7 country markets in which we operate, 
primarily due to higher volumes of our online solutions, enabling 
technologies and marketing products. This was partially offset by 
weaker performance, in local currency, from Brazil due to increased 
competition, as volumes from small- and medium-sized customers 
declined. Local currency fl uctuation against the U.S. dollar favorably 
impacted our Latin America revenue by $10.2 million, or 7%, as 
revenue grew 12% in local currency in 2007.
 The 2006 increase was primarily due to broad-based pricing 
increases in core information products, higher pricing for high-
value products, new product introductions and favorable foreign 
currency impact. Six country markets in Latin America experienced 

double-digit revenue growth in U.S. dollars in 2006 and 5 of the 7 
country markets had double-digit growth in local currency. Local 
currency fl uctuation against the U.S. dollar favorably impacted 
our Latin America revenue by $8.9 million, or 7%, as revenue grew 
14% in local currency in 2006.

Canada Consumer. The 2007 increase in revenue was primarily 
driven by price and volume increases for our consumer risk 
products, as well as increased volumes for marketing products. 
Local currency fl uctuation against the U.S. dollar favorably 
impacted our Canada Consumer revenue by $6.1 million, or 6%, 
as revenue grew 6% in local currency in 2007.
 The 2006 increase in revenue was primarily due to the impacts 
of favorable currency fl uctuations. Local currency fl uctuation 
against the U.S. dollar favorably impacted our Canada Consumer 
revenue by $6.0 million, or 6%, as revenue growth was fl at in 
local currency in 2006.

International Operating Margin. The 2007 increase in operating 
margin was primarily driven by revenue growth, partially offset by 
higher production costs and increased salary costs due to additional 
headcount as we invest for international growth. The increase in 
production costs was impacted by certain vendor price reductions 
received by our European business during 2006 that did not recur 
in 2007. We also invested in our Canada Consumer business for 
mainframe and data center improvements.
 The 2006 increase in operating margin was primarily driven by 
higher pricing for selected high-value products in Latin America, 
and higher sales volume and continued focus on controlling 
expenses, including certain vendor price reductions received during 
the six months ended June 30, 2006 in Europe. These increases 
were partially offset by higher production costs from rising sales 
volumes related to our consumer and commercial businesses and 
increased investment in the business in Europe.

INTERNATIONAL
 Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

     2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

Operating revenue:
Europe $183.8 $153.6 $142.0 $30.2 20% $11.6 8%
Latin America 182.5 154.0 126.7 28.5 19% 27.3 21%
Canada Consumer 106.5 95.2 89.6 11.3 12% 5.6 6%
Total operating revenue $472.8 $402.8 $358.3 $70.0 17% $44.5 12%
% of Consolidated Revenue 26% 26% 25% nm nm nm nm
Total operating income $141.1 $118.1 $100.8 $23.0 20% $17.3 17%
Operating margin 29.8% 29.3% 28.1% nm 0.5% nm 1.2%

nm - not meaningful
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NORTH AMERICA PERSONAL SOLUTIONS
 Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

     2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

Total operating revenue $153.5 $126.0 $114.7 $27.5 22% $11.3 10%
% of Consolidated Revenue 8% 8% 8% nm nm nm nm
Total operating income $ 34.0 $ 13.6 $ 13.5 $20.4 150% $ 0.1 1%
Operating margin 22.1% 10.8% 11.8% nm 11.3% nm (1.0)%

nm - not meaningful

 The 2007 increase in revenue was primarily due to higher 
subscription revenue associated with our 3-in-1 Monitoring, Credit 
Watch and ScoreWatch products. Subscription customers grew to 
1.4 million in 2007, up from 1.0 million in 2006. This increase was 
partially offset by declining transactional revenue associated with 
our Credit Profi les, Score Power and Credit Rankings products. 
The 2006 increase in revenue was primarily due to higher revenue 
related to subscription-based products as we worked to transition 
from a transaction-based product mix to subscription-based products. 
During 2007 and 2006, we also increased revenues through targeted 
advertising, improvement in the conversion of inquiries to sales, 
and growth in services provided in third-party data breaches.

 The 2007 increase in operating margin was mainly due 
to continued subscription-based revenue growth, the 2006 
$5.0 million operating expense impact of legal contingencies 
that did not recur in 2007, and decreased advertising expense due 
to a reduction in radio advertising when compared with 2006. 
This improvement was partially offset by higher personnel and 
training costs due to higher call center volumes and the addition 
of a second outsourced call center in 2007. The 2006 decrease in 
operating margin was mainly due to volume-related costs and the 
recognition of $5.0 million in pretax loss contingencies related 
to certain legal matters, largely offset by growth from increased 
subscription-based revenue.

NORTH AMERICA COMMERCIAL SOLUTIONS
 Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

     2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

Total operating revenue $67.6 $49.4 $37.1 $18.2 37% $12.3 33%
% of Consolidated Revenue 3% 3% 3% nm nm nm nm
Total operating income $12.0 $ 9.9 $ 4.4 $ 2.1 21% $ 5.5 125%
Operating margin 17.7% 20.2% 11.8% nm (2.5)% nm 8.4%

nm - not meaningful

 The increases in revenue in 2007 and 2006 were primarily due 
to our October 2006 acquisition of Austin-Tetra and volume growth 
in the U.S. and Canada as we continue to expand the markets for 
our commercial credit information and marketing products. Of 
the 37% and 33% revenue growth in 2007 and 2006, respectively, 
Austin-Tetra contributed 14% and 8% and Canada currency fl uc-
tuation against the U.S. dollar favorably impacted revenue by 3% 
and 4%, or $1.5 million in each year. The remaining 20% and 21% 
of revenue growth in 2007 and 2006, respectively, was due to 
organic growth within our legacy North America Commercial 

Solutions product offerings. Online transaction volume for our 
commercial credit information products was 4.7 million in 2007, 
up from 3.6 million in 2006.
 The 2007 decrease in operating margin was primarily attributable 
to increased volume-related costs and our investing for future 
growth in this segment, including higher salary costs in 2007 due 
to additional headcount. The 2006 increase in operating margin 
was primarily due to growth driven by overall volume growth and 
improved operating leverage.
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 The results of TALX’s operations are included in our 
Consolidated Financial Statements beginning on May 15, 2007. 
TALX generated $179.4 million in revenue from May 15, 2007 
through December 31, 2007. Of this amount, The Work Number 
business represented $72.6 million in revenue, or 40% of total 

TALX revenue, while the Tax and Talent Management business 
generated 60%, or $106.8 million in revenue. Operating margin 
was 16.3% for the period. TALX acquisition-related amortization 
expense was $34.0 million for the period, or 19% of revenue, which 
negatively impacted operating margin.

GENERAL CORPORATE EXPENSE
 Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

     2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

General corporate expense $113.7 $101.2 $88.9 $12.5 12% $12.3 14%

nm - not meaningful

 Our general corporate expenses are costs that are incurred at 
the corporate level and are not directly associated with activities 
of a particular operating segment. These expenses include shared 
services, administrative, legal and equity compensation costs. The 
2007 increase in general corporate expense was primarily driven 
by our acquisition of TALX; higher costs of litigation; expansion 
of corporate capabilities in key support areas, including marketing; 
and expenditures to enhance certain technology processes and 
development capabilities, to support continued long-term growth 
and operating effi ciency.
 The 2006 increase in general corporate expense was primarily 
driven by the $7.6 million incremental negative impact from our 
adoption of SFAS 123R; the $6.4 million severance charge related 
to the organizational realignment; the $3.2 million negative impact 

from the retirement of two executive offi cers during 2006; plus 
normal growth in ongoing corporate expenses due to infl ation. 
The 2006 increase was partially offset by higher salary and 
incentive costs during 2005 related to our transition to a new 
chief executive offi cer.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION
Our ability to generate cash from operating activities is one of our 
fundamental fi nancial strengths. This allows us to fund various 
investment opportunities, reduce existing debt balances, and increase 
value to shareholders in the form of dividends and share repurchases. 
In the event additional liquidity needs arise, we may raise funds 
from a combination of sources, including the potential issuance 
of debt or equity securities.

TALX
 Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

     2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

Operating Revenue:
The Work Number $ 72.6 $  – $  – $ 72.6 nm nm nm
Tax and Talent Management 106.8 – – 106.8 nm nm nm
Total operating revenue $179.4 $  – $  – $179.4 nm nm nm
% of Consolidated Revenue 10% nm nm nm nm nm nm
Total operating income $ 29.3 $  – $  – $ 29.3 nm nm nm
Operating margin 16.3% nm nm nm nm nm nm

nm - not meaningful
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Sources and Uses of Cash
Our principal sources of funds are cash provided by operating activities and various fi nancing programs, including our revolving credit 
facility and commercial paper program. We believe that these sources will be suffi cient to meet our projected cash requirements, including 
working capital requirements, capital expenditures, scheduled debt payments, interest payments, benefi t plan contributions, income tax 
obligations, dividends to our shareholders, share repurchases and any acquisitions, for the next twelve months and the foreseeable future 
thereafter. Information about our cash fl ows, by category, is presented in the consolidated statement of cash fl ows.

 Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

Net cash provided by (used in): 2007 vs. 2006 2006 vs. 2005
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005 $ % $ %

Operating activities $   449.9 $      372.1 $   337.8 $    77.8 21% $   34.3 10%
Investing activities $(422.3) $ (86.8) $(157.9) $(335.5) nm $   71.1 nm
Financing activities $ (17.6) $(255.0) $(193.5) $   237.4 nm $(61.5) nm

nm - not meaningful

 The 2007 increase in operating cash fl ow was primarily due to 
incremental income from our TALX acquisition, revenue growth in 
our existing businesses, and positive changes in our working capital, 
partially offset by increased interest payments. The 2006 increase 
was primarily due to the $28.0 million increase in net income.

Fund Transfer Limitations. The ability of certain of our subsidiaries 
and associated companies to transfer funds to us is limited, in some 
cases, by certain restrictions imposed by foreign governments, 
which do not, individually or in the aggregate, materially limit our 
ability to service our indebtedness, meet our current obligations 
or pay dividends.

Capital Expenditures

Net cash used in: Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005  2007 vs. 2006  2006 vs. 2005

Capital expenditures $118.5 $52.0 $46.2  $66.5  $5.8

 Our capital expenditures are used for developing, enhancing and 
deploying new and existing software in support of our expanding 
product set, replacing or adding equipment, updating systems for 
regulatory compliance, the licensing of software applications and 
investing in system reliability, security and disaster recovery 

enhancements. During 2007, our capital expenditures increased due 
to the purchase of the facility which houses our Atlanta, Georgia 
data center. We expect capital expenditures in 2008 to be within a 
range of $125.0 million to $150.0 million.

Acquisitions

Net cash used in: Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005  2007 vs. 2006  2006 vs. 2005

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired $300.0 $34.4 $121.8  $265.6  $(87.4)

TALX Acquisition. On May 15, 2007, we acquired all the 
outstanding shares of TALX. Under the terms of the transaction, 
we issued 20.6 million shares of Equifax treasury stock and 
1.9 million fully-vested options to purchase Equifax common 
stock, and paid approximately $288.1 million in cash, net of cash 
acquired. We also assumed TALX’s outstanding debt, which had 
a fair value totaling $177.6 million at May 15, 2007. We fi nanced 
the cash portion of the acquisition and $96.6 million outstanding 
on the TALX revolving credit facility at the date of acquisition 
initially with borrowings under our $850.0 million senior unsecured 
credit facility, which we refer to as the Senior Credit Facility, and 
subsequently refi nanced this debt in the second quarter of 2007 with 
ten- and thirty-year notes. Subsequent to the date of the acquisition, 
we paid $4.1 million to the former owners of a company purchased 
by TALX pursuant to an earn-out agreement.

Acquisition of Credit Reporting Business. On October 19, 2007, 
in order to continue to grow our credit data business, our Peruvian 
subsidiary purchased 100% of the stock of a credit reporting 
business located in Peru for cash consideration of approximately 
$8.0 million.

Austin-Tetra Acquisition. On October 6, 2006, we acquired 
Austin Consolidated Holdings, Inc., known as Austin-Tetra, for 
$34.4 million in cash. Austin-Tetra is a provider of business-to-
business data management and enhancement services to the 
commercial market.

2005 Acquisitions. In March 2005, we acquired APPRO Systems, 
Inc. to broaden and further strengthen our enabling technologies 
capabilities in our USCIS business. Additionally, in August 2005, 
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we acquired BeNow to enhance our USCIS business and add to 
our enabling technology capabilities. During the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2005, in order to continue to grow our credit 
data franchise, we also acquired the credit fi les, contractual rights 
to territories and customer relationships and related businesses 
of two independent credit reporting agencies in the U.S. and one 

in Canada that housed consumer information on our system. We 
acquired all of these businesses for $121.8 million in cash, net of 
cash acquired, and the issuance of 0.4 million shares of Equifax 
treasury stock.
 For additional information about our acquisitions, see Note 2 of 
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K.

Borrowings and Credit Facility Availability

Net cash provided by (used in): Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005  2007 vs. 2006  2006 vs. 2005

Net short-term borrowings (repayments) $   139.7 $(12.2) $    92.3  $   151.9  $(104.5)
Net borrowings (repayments) under 
 long-term revolving credit facilities $   253.4 $(40.0) $    65.0  $   293.4  $(105.0)
Payments on long-term debt $(250.0) $      – $(250.0)  $(250.0)  $   250.0
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt $   545.7 $      – $        –  $   545.7  $        –

 Net short-term borrowings during 2007 represents activity 
under our $850.0 million commercial paper program, which is 
backstopped by our Senior Credit Facility, partially offset by net 
repayments under our trade receivables-backed revolving credit 
facility, which expired on November 29, 2007. We elected not to 
renew this credit facility upon its expiration. At December 31, 2007, 
$219.5 million in commercial paper notes was outstanding, at a 
weighted-average interest rate of 5.5% per annum, all with maturities 
of less than 90 days. The 2006 and 2005 net short-term (repayments) 
borrowings represent activity under our trade receivables-backed 
revolving credit facility.
 Net borrowings (repayments) under long-term revolving credit 
facilities during 2007, 2006 and 2005 relate to activity on our 
Senior Credit Facility. Borrowings may be used for general corporate 
purposes, including working capital, capital expenditures, acqui-
sitions and share repurchase programs. The Senior Credit Facility 
expires in July 2011. During the second quarter of 2007, we amended 
our Senior Credit Facility to increase the borrowing limit from 
$500.0 million to $850.0 million. Among other provisions, the 
applicable margin for borrowings and the annual facility fee were 
lowered, the maximum leverage ratio (as defi ned in the amended 
credit agreement) was increased from 3.0 to 1 to 3.5 to 1, the mini-
mum interest coverage ratio covenant was deleted, and the limit 
on restricted payments was amended.
 At December 31, 2007, interest was payable on borrowings 
under our Senior Credit Facility at the base rate or London Interbank 
Offered Rate, or LIBOR, plus a specifi ed margin or competitive 
bid option as selected by us from time to time. The annual facility 
fee and interest rate are subject to adjustment based on our debt 
ratings. As of December 31, 2007, $255.5 million was available for 
borrowings and there were outstanding borrowings of $375.0 million 
under this facility, which is included in long-term debt on our 
Consolidated Balance Sheet.
 On June 28, 2007, we issued $300.0 million principal amount of 
6.3%, ten-year senior notes and $250.0 million principal amount 
of 7.0%, thirty-year senior notes, which we refer to collectively 
as the Notes, in underwritten public offerings. We used a portion 

of the net proceeds from the sale of the Notes to reduce the amount 
outstanding in our commercial paper program. In conjunction 
with the sale of the Notes, we entered into cash fl ow hedges on 
$200.0 million and $250.0 million notional amount, respectively, 
of ten-year and thirty-year Treasury notes. These hedges were 
settled in cash on June 25 and 26, 2007, respectively, the date the 
Notes were sold, requiring a cash payment by us of $1.9 million 
and $3.0 million, respectively.
 We refi nanced the $250.0 million principal amount relating to 
our 4.95% notes in November 2007 using our Senior Credit Facility. 
There were no material payments on long-term debt during 2006. 
We redeemed the $250.0 million principal amount relating to our 
6.3% senior unsecured notes in 2005 by utilizing borrowings under 
certain revolving credit facilities.
 We are a party to a credit agreement with a Canadian bank that 
provides for a 10.0 million Canadian dollar, 364-day revolving credit 
agreement. During the fourth quarter, we elected to reduce the bor-
rowing amount from 25.0 million Canadian dollars to 10.0 million 
Canadian dollars and extend the maturity date to November 2008. 
At December 31, 2007, there were no outstanding borrowings 
under this facility.
 At December 31, 2007, 57% of our debt was fi xed-rate debt 
and 43% was variable-rate debt. Our variable-rate debt consists 
of the Senior Credit Facility and commercial paper program and 
generally bears interest based on a specifi ed margin plus a base 
rate, LIBOR or commercial paper rate. The interest rates reset 
periodically, depending on the terms of the respective fi nancing 
arrangements. At December 31, 2007, interest rates on substantially 
all of our variable-rate debt ranged from 5.1% to 5.2%. We were 
in compliance with all of our fi nancial and non-fi nancial debt 
covenants at December 31, 2007.
 On February 15, 2007, Standard & Poor’s Corporation, or S&P, 
downgraded our senior unsecured long-term fi xed debt rating from 
A- to BBB+ in reaction to our public announcement of the agreement 
to acquire TALX and an additional $400.0 million share repurchase 
program, due to its stated belief that the acquisition refl ects a 
somewhat more aggressive fi nancial policy and more leveraged 
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financial profile. S&P’s rating outlook remained stable. On 
February 16, 2007, Moody’s Investors Service, or Moody’s, 
changed our rating outlook to stable from positive but maintained 
its Baa1 rating on our senior unsecured long-term fi xed debt. As 
of December 31, 2007, our ratings with S&P and Moody’s remain 
unchanged from those announced in February 2007.

 For additional information about our debt, including the terms 
of our fi nancing arrangements, basis for variable interest rates 
and debt covenants, see Note 4 of the Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements in this Form 10-K.

Equity Transactions

Net cash provided by (used in): Twelve Months Ended December 31, Change

(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005  2007 vs. 2006  2006 vs. 2005

Treasury stock repurchases $(718.7) $(215.2) $(144.0)  $(503.5)  $(71.2)
Dividends paid $ (20.7) $ (20.3) $ (20.2)  $  (0.4)  $ (0.1)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options $    31.6 $    26.1 $    62.8  $     5.5  $(36.7)
Excess tax benefi ts from stock-based 
 compensation plans $     7.0 $     7.2 $       –  $   (0.2)  $    7.2

 Sources and uses of cash related to equity during the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were 
as follows:
 •  Under share repurchase programs authorized by our Board 

of Directors, we purchased 17.9 million, 6.0 million and 
4.2 million common shares on the open market during the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 

respectively, for $718.7 million, $212.7 million and 
$144.0 million, respectively, at an average price per common 
share of $40.12, $35.64 and $34.45, respectively.

 •  During the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, 
2006 and 2005, we paid cash dividends of $20.7 million, 
$20.3 million and $20.2 million, respectively, at $0.16 per 
share, $0.16 per share and $0.15 per share, respectively.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
The following table summarizes our signifi cant contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2007. The table excludes 
commitments that are contingent based on events or factors uncertain at this time. Some of the excluded commitments are discussed 
below the footnotes to the table.

     Payments Due by

(Dollars in millions)  Total Less than 1 Year 1 to 3 Years 3 to 5 Years Thereafter

Debt (1)  $ 1,384.2 $222.1 $ 20.1 $409.5 $  732.5
Operating leases (2)  142.3 22.7 37.9 23.5 58.2
Data processing, outsourcing agreements 
 and other purchase obligations (3)  305.5 88.5 103.3 90.2 23.5
Other long-term liabilities (4) (6)  79.8 6.1 14.5 8.3 50.9
Interest payments (5)  1,020.6 82.6 142.1 119.0 676.9
   $2,932.4 $422.0 $317.9 $650.5 $1,542.0

(1)  The amounts are gross of unamortized discounts totaling $2.2 million and a purchase accounting fair value adjustment of $5.3 million at December 31, 2007. Total debt 
on our Consolidated Balance Sheets is net of the unamortized discounts and fair value adjustment.

(2)  Our operating lease obligations principally involve office space and equipment, which includes the lease associated with our headquarters building that expires in 2010 
and the ground lease associated with our headquarters building that expires in 2048.

(3)  These agreements primarily represent our minimum contractual obligations for services that we outsource associated with our computer data processing operations and 
related functions, and certain administrative functions. These agreements expire between 2008 and 2014.

(4)  These long-term liabilities primarily relate to obligations associated with certain pension, postretirement and other compensation-related plans, some of which are 
discounted in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. We made certain assumptions about the timing of such future payments. 
In the table, we have not included amounts related to future pension and other postretirement benefit plan contributions, as such required funding amounts have not 
been determined.

(5)  For future interest payments on related variable-rate debt, which is generally based on LIBOR or commercial paper plus a specified margin, we used the variable rate 
in effect at December 31, 2007 to calculate these payments. The variable portion of the rate at December 31, 2007 (excluding the margin and facility fees) was between 
5.1% and 5.2% for substantially all of our variable-rate debt. Future interest payments related to our $850.0 million revolving credit facility and our commercial paper 
program are based on the borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2007 through their respective maturity dates, assuming such borrowings are outstanding until that 
time. Future interest payments may be different depending on future borrowing activity under this revolving credit facility.

(6)  This table excludes $37.6 million of unrecognized tax benefits, including interest and penalties, as we cannot make a reasonably reliable estimate of the period of cash 
settlement with the respective taxing authorities.
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 A potential signifi cant future use of cash would be the payment 
to Computer Sciences Corporation, or CSC, if it were to exercise 
its option to sell its credit reporting business to us at any time prior 
to 2013. The option exercise price would be determined by agree-
ment or by an appraisal process and would be due in cash within 
180 days after the exercise of the option. We estimate that if the 
option had been exercised at December 31, 2007, the price range 
would have been approximately $650.0 million to $725.0 million. 
This estimate is based solely on our internal analysis of the value 
of the business, current market conditions and other factors, all of 
which are subject to constant change. Therefore, the actual option 
exercise price could be materially higher or lower than our estimate. 
Our agreement with CSC, which expires on July 31, 2018, also 
provides us with an option to purchase its credit reporting business 
if it does not elect to renew the agreement or if there is a change 
in control of CSC while the agreement is in effect. If CSC were 
to exercise its option, or if we were able to and decided to exercise 
our option, then we would have to obtain additional sources of 
funding. We believe that this funding would be available from 
sources such as additional bank lines of credit and the capital markets 
for debt and/or equity fi nancing. However, the availability and 
terms of any such capital fi nancing would be subject to a number 
of factors, including credit market conditions, the state of the equity 
markets, general economic conditions, our credit ratings and our 
fi nancial performance and condition.

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions
Other than facility leasing arrangements, we do not engage in 
off-balance sheet fi nancing activities. In 1998, we entered into a 
synthetic lease on our Atlanta corporate headquarters building in 
order to obtain favorable fi nancing terms with regard to this facility. 
This $29.0 million lease expires in 2010. Lease payments for the 
remaining term totaled $4.1 million at December 31, 2007. Under 
this synthetic lease arrangement, we have guaranteed the residual 
value of the leased property to the lessor. In the event that the 
property were to be sold by the lessor at the end of the lease term, 
we would be responsible for any shortfall of the sales proceeds, 
up to a maximum amount of $23.2 million, which equals 80% of 
the value of the property at the beginning of the lease term. The 
liability for this shortfall, which was $1.9 million and $1.4 million 
at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, is recorded in other 
long-term liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Letters of Credit and Guarantees
We will from time to time issue standby letters of credit, performance 
bonds or other guarantees in the normal course of business. The 
aggregate notional amount of all performance bonds and standby 
letters of credit was not material at December 31, 2007, and all 
have a maturity of one year or less. Guarantees are issued from 
time to time to support the needs of our operating units.

 In connection with the sale of our risk management collections 
business to RMA Holdings, LLC, or RMA, in October 2000, we 
guaranteed the operating lease payments of a partnership affi liated 
with RMA to a lender of the partnership pursuant to a term loan. 
The operating lease, which expires December 31, 2011, has a 
remaining balance of $5.3 million, based on the undiscounted value 
of remaining lease payments, including real estate taxes, at 
December 31, 2007. On September 12, 2005, RMA sold substantially 
all of its assets to NCO Group, Inc., or NCO. In conjunction with 
this sale, NCO agreed to assume the operating lease obligations 
discussed above, which we will continue to guarantee. We believe 
that the likelihood of demand for payment by us is minimal and 
expect no material losses to occur related to this guarantee. 
Accordingly, we do not have a liability on our Consolidated Balance 
Sheets at December 31, 2007 or 2006 related to this guarantee.

Other Contingencies
There are other matters which we are involved in, such as legal 
proceedings, claims and litigation, for which the fi nal outcome 
and impact to our Consolidated Financial Statements is uncertain 
at December 31, 2007.

Pension Plans
At December 31, 2007, our U.S. Retirement Income Plan, or USRIP, 
and the Equifax Inc. Pension Plan, or EIPP, met or exceeded 
ERISA’s minimum funding requirements. We do not expect to 
have to make any minimum funding contributions under ERISA 
for 2008 with respect to the USRIP or the EIPP, based on applicable 
law. In January 2006 and 2007, we made discretionary contributions 
of $20.0 million and $12.0 million, respectively, to the EIPP. We 
also made a $2.0 million discretionary contribution in 2006 to fund 
certain other post-retirement benefi t plans. In the future, we will 
make minimum funding contributions as required and may make 
discretionary contributions, depending on certain circumstances, 
including market conditions and liquidity needs.
 For our non-U.S., tax-qualifi ed retirement plans, we fund an 
amount suffi cient to meet minimum funding requirements but 
no more than allowed as a tax deduction pursuant to applicable 
tax regulations. For the non-qualifi ed supplementary retirement 
plans, we fund the benefi ts as they are paid to retired participants, 
but accrue the associated expense and liabilities in accordance 
with GAAP.

 Related Party Transactions
We engage in various transactions and arrangements with related 
parties. We believe the terms of the transactions and arrangements 
do not differ from those that would have been negotiated with an 
independent party.
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Seasonality
We experience seasonalities in certain of our revenue streams. 
Revenue generated from The Work Number and Tax and Talent 
Management business units within the TALX operating segment 
is generally higher in the fi rst quarter due primarily to the provision 
of Form W-2 preparation services which occur in the fi rst quarter 
each year. Revenue from our OCIS and Mortgage Reporting 
Solutions business units tends to increase in periods of the year in 
which our customers have higher volumes of credit granting 
decisions, most commonly the second and third calendar quarters.

Inflation
We do not believe that the rate of infl ation has had a material effect 
on our operating results. However, infl ation could adversely affect 
our future operating results.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
For information about new accounting pronouncements and the 
potential impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements, see 
Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this 
Form 10-K.

APPLICATION OF CRITICAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with GAAP 
requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and 
expenses and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities 
in our Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to Consoli-
dated Financial Statements. The following accounting policies 
involve a critical accounting estimate because they are particularly 
dependent on estimates and assumptions made by management 
about matters that are uncertain at the time the accounting estimates 
are made. In addition, while we have used our best estimates based 
on facts and circumstances available to us at the time, different 
estimates reasonably could have been used in the current period, 
or changes in the accounting estimates that we used are reasonably 
likely to occur from period to period, either of which may have a 
material impact on the presentation of our Consolidated Balance 
Sheets and Statements of Income. We also have other signifi cant 
accounting policies, which involve the use of estimates, judgments 
and assumptions that are relevant to understanding our results. 
For additional information about these policies, see Note 1 of the 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K. 
Although we believe that our estimates, assumptions and judgments 
are reasonable, they are based upon information available at the 
time. Actual results may differ signifi cantly from these estimates 
under different assumptions, judgments or conditions.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement 
exists, collectibility of arrangement consideration is reasonably 
assured, the arrangement fees are fi xed or determinable and delivery 
of the product or service has been completed.
 If at the outset of an arrangement, we determine that collectibility 
is not reasonably assured, revenue is deferred until the earlier of 
when collectibility becomes probable or the receipt of payment. If 
there is uncertainty as to the customer’s acceptance of our deliv-
erables, revenue is not recognized until the earlier of receipt of 
customer acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period. If at 
the outset of an arrangement, we determine that the arrangement 
fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue is deferred until the 
arrangement fee becomes estimable, assuming all other revenue 
recognition criteria have been met.
 We have certain information solution offerings that are sold as 
multiple element arrangements. To account for each of these 
elements separately, the delivered elements must have stand-alone 
value to our customer, and there must exist objective and reliable 
evidence of the fair value for any undelivered elements.

Judgments and uncertainties. Each element of a multiple element 
arrangement must be considered separately to ensure that appropriate 
accounting is performed for these deliverables. These considerations 
include assessing the price at which the element is sold compared 
to its relative fair value; concluding when the element will be 
delivered; and determining whether any contingencies exist in the 
related customer contract that impact the prices paid to us for 
the services.
 In addition, the determination of certain of our marketing 
information services revenue requires the use of estimates, prin-
cipally related to transaction volumes in instances where these 
volumes are reported to us by our clients on a monthly basis in 
arrears. In these instances, we estimate transaction volumes based 
on average actual volumes reported by our customers in the past. 
Differences between our estimates and actual fi nal volumes reported 
are recorded in the period in which actual volumes are reported.

Effects if actual results differ from assumptions. For certain contracts 
containing multiple elements, the total arrangement fee is allocated 
to the undelivered elements based on their relative fair values and 
to the initial delivered elements using the residual method. If we 
are unable to unbundle the arrangement into separate elements 
for accounting or fair value is not known for any undelivered 
elements, arrangement consideration may only be recognized as 
the fi nal contract element is delivered to our customer.
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 We have not experienced signifi cant variances between our 
estimates of marketing information services revenues reported to 
us by our customers and actual reported volumes in the past. We 
monitor actual volumes to ensure that we will continue to make 
reasonable estimates in the future. If we determine that we are unable 
to make reasonable future estimates, revenue may be deferred 
until actual customer data is obtained. However, if actual results 
are not consistent with our estimates and assumptions, or if our 
customer arrangements become more complex or include more 
bundled offerings in the future, we may be required to recognize 
revenue differently in the future to account for these changes. We 
do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a 
material change in the future estimates or assumptions we use to 
recognize revenue.

Goodwill
In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible 
Assets,” or SFAS 142, goodwill is tested for impairment at the 
reporting unit level on an annual basis or on an interim basis if an 
event occurs or circumstances change that would reduce the fair 
value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.

Judgments and uncertainties. In analyzing goodwill for potential 
impairment, we use projections of future discounted cash fl ows 
from our reporting units to determine whether the reporting unit’s 
estimated fair value exceeds its carrying value. These projections 
of cash fl ows are based on our views of growth rates, anticipated 
future economic conditions and the appropriate discount rates 
relative to risk and estimates of residual values. Our estimates of 
fair value for each reporting unit are corroborated by market multiple 
comparables. The use of different estimates or assumptions within 
our projected discounted cash fl ows could result in different values 
and could result in a goodwill impairment charge. Additionally, a 
change in our reporting unit structure would result in the requirement 
to test goodwill for impairment at different reporting units.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions. We believe that 
our estimates are consistent with assumptions that marketplace 
participants would use in their estimates of fair value. Additionally, 
we do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will 
be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions we use 
to test for goodwill impairment. However, if actual results are not 
consistent with our estimates and assumptions, we may be exposed 
to an impairment charge that could be material.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
Indefi nite-lived intangible assets consist of contractual/territorial 
rights representing the estimated fair value of rights to operate in 
certain territories acquired through the purchase of independent 
credit reporting agencies in the U.S. and Canada. Our contractual/
territorial rights are perpetual in nature and, therefore, the useful 
lives are considered indefi nite. In accordance with SFAS 142, we 
are required to test indefi nite-lived intangible assets for impairment 
annually or whenever events and circumstances change that would 
indicate the asset might be impaired.

Judgments and uncertainties. We perform the impairment test for 
our indefi nite-lived intangible assets by comparing the asset’s 
fair value to its carrying value. We estimate the fair value of our 
contractual/territorial rights based on projected discounted future 
cash fl ows. The use of different estimates or assumptions within 
our discounted cash fl ow model when determining the fair value 
of our contractual/territorial rights, or using a methodology other 
than a discounted cash fl ow model, could result in different values 
for our contractual/territorial rights and could result in an impairment 
charge. The most signifi cant assumptions within our discounted 
cash fl ow model are the discount rate, growth rate and charge for 
contributory assets.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions. We believe that 
our estimates are consistent with assumptions that marketplace 
participants would use in their estimates of fair value. Additionally, 
we do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that there will 
be a material change in the future estimates or assumptions we use 
to test for indefi nite-lived intangible asset impairment. However, if 
actual results are not consistent with our estimates and assumptions, 
we may be exposed to an impairment charge that could be material.

Loss Contingencies
We are subject to various proceedings, lawsuits and claims arising 
in the normal course of our business. In accordance with SFAS No. 5, 
“Accounting for Contingencies,” we determine whether to disclose 
and/or accrue for loss contingencies based on our assessment of 
whether the potential loss is probable, reasonably possible or remote.

EQU_FIN_PTR.cgla indd   45EQU_FIN_PTR.cgla indd   45 3/11/08   1:38:47 PM3/11/08   1:38:47 PM



4 6  E Q U I FA X   |   2 0 0 7  A N N U A L R E P O RT

Judgments and uncertainties. We periodically review claims and 
legal proceedings and assess whether we have potential fi nancial 
exposure based on consultation with internal and outside legal 
counsel and other advisors. If the likelihood of an adverse outcome 
from any claim or legal proceeding is probable and the amount can 
be reasonably estimated, we record a liability in our Consolidated 
Balance Sheet for the estimated settlement costs. If the likelihood 
of an adverse outcome is reasonably possible, but not probable, we 
provide disclosures related to the potential loss contingency. Our 
assumptions related to loss contingencies are inherently subjective.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions. We do not believe 
there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change 
in the future estimates or assumptions we use to determine loss 
contingencies. However, if facts and circumstances change in 
the future that change our belief regarding assumptions used to 
determine our estimates, we may be exposed to a loss that could 
be material.

Income Taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, 
“Accounting for Income Taxes,” and FASB Interpretation No. 48, 
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an interpretation 
of FASB Statement No. 109.” We record deferred income taxes 
using enacted tax laws and rates for the years in which the taxes are 
expected to be paid. We periodically assess the likelihood that 
our net deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable 
income or other tax planning strategies. To the extent that we believe 
that recovery is not likely, we must establish a valuation allowance 
to reduce the deferred tax asset to the amount we estimate will 
be recoverable.
 Our income tax provisions are based on assumptions and 
calculations which will be subject to examination by various tax 
authorities. We record tax benefi ts for positions in which we believe 
are probable of being sustained under such examinations. Regularly, 
we assess the potential outcome of such examinations to determine 
the adequacy of our income tax accruals.

Judgments and uncertainties. We consider accounting for income 
taxes critical because management is required to make signifi cant 
judgments in determining our provision for income taxes, our 
deferred tax assets and liabilities, and our future taxable income 
for purposes of assessing our ability to realize any future benefi t 
from our deferred tax assets. These judgments and estimates are 
affected by our expectations of future taxable income, mix of 
earnings among different taxing jurisdictions, and timing of the 
reversal of deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions. Although 
management believes that the judgments and estimates discussed 
herein are reasonable, actual results could differ, and we may be 
exposed to increases or decreases in income tax expense that could 
be material.

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans
Our pension and other postretirement plans are accounted for using 
actuarial valuations required by SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ 
Accounting for Defi ned Benefi t Pension and Other Postretirement 
Plans – an Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 
132(R),” for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. We 
consider accounting for our U.S. and Canadian pension and other 
postretirement plans critical because management is required to 
make signifi cant subjective judgments about a number of actuarial 
assumptions, which include discount rates, salary growth, expected 
return on plan assets, interest cost and mortality rates.

Judgments and uncertainties. We believe that the most 
signifi cant assumptions related to our net periodic benefi t cost 
are (1) the expected return on plan assets and (2) the discount 
rate. The expected rate of return on plan assets is primarily based 
on (1) the expected equity returns based on assumptions such as 
dividend yield and growth rate, and (2) estimated risk premium 
for various asset categories. These assumptions are projected using 
an asset/liability forecasting model, which produces a range and 
distribution of values for the assumed rate of return. We determine 
our discount rates primarily based on high-quality, fi xed-income 
investments and yield-to-maturity analysis specifi c to our estimated 
future benefi t payments.
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Effect if actual results differ from assumptions. We do not believe 
there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change 
in the future estimates or assumptions that are used in our actuarial 
valuations. However, if actual results are not consistent with our 
estimates or assumptions, we may be exposed to changes in pension 
expense that could be material. Adjusting our expected long-term 
rate of return (8.00% at December 31, 2007) by 0.5% would have 
changed our estimated pension expense in 2007 by approximately 
$2.7 million. Adjusting our weighted-average discount rate (5.86% 
at December 31, 2007) by 0.5% would have changed our estimated 
pension expense in 2007 by approximately $2.6 million.

Stock-Based Compensation
We have stock-based compensation plans which provide that 
qualifi ed and non-qualifi ed stock options and nonvested stock 
may be granted to offi cers and other employees. In accordance 
with SFAS 123R we recognize the cost of share-based payment 
transactions over the requisite service period. That cost is measured 
based on the fair value of the equity instruments issued.
 We use the binomial model to calculate the fair value of stock 
options granted on or after January 1, 2006. The fair value of options 
granted prior to 2006 was determined using the Black-Scholes 
model. Nonvested stock is valued based on the fair market value 
of our common stock on the date of grant, reduced for expected 
dividends during the requisite service period. We reassess all 
assumptions used in calculating fair value each grant date.

Judgments and uncertainties. The fair value of our stock options is 
calculated using the binomial model which incorporates assumptions 
regarding anticipated employee exercise behavior, expected stock 
price volatility, dividend yield and risk-free interest rate. The fair 
value of nonvested stock is based on the fair market value of our 
common stock on the date of grant. However, since our nonvested 
stock does not pay dividends during the vesting period, the fair 
value on the date of grant is reduced by the present value of the 
expected dividends over the requisite service period. SFAS 123R 
requires us to estimate forfeitures at the grant date. Accordingly, 
compensation cost is recognized based on the number of awards 
expected to vest. There may be adjustments in future periods if 
actual forfeitures differ from our estimates.

Effect if actual results differ from assumptions. We do not believe 
there is a reasonable likelihood that there will be a material change 
in the future estimates or assumptions we use to determine stock-
based compensation expense. However, if actual results are not 
consistent with our estimates or assumptions, we may be exposed 
to changes in stock-based compensation that could be material. A 
10% change in our stock-based compensation expense for the year 
ended December 31, 2007, would have reduced our net income 
by approximately $1.8 million.
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Item 7A.
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE 
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
In the normal course of our business, we are exposed to market 
risk, primarily from changes in foreign currency exchange rates 
and interest rates, that could impact our results of operations and 
financial position. We manage our exposure to these market 
risks through our regular operating and fi nancing activities, and, 
when deemed appropriate, through the use of derivative fi nancial 
instruments, such as interest rate swaps, to hedge certain of 
these exposures. We use derivative fi nancial instruments as risk 
management tools and not for speculative or trading purposes.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
A substantial majority of our revenue, expense and capital 
expenditure activities are transacted in U.S. dollars. However, 
we  do transact business in other currencies, primarily the British 
pound, the Euro, the Canadian dollar and the Brazilian real. For 
most of these foreign currencies, we are a net recipient, and, 
therefore, benefi t from a weaker U.S. dollar and are adversely 
affected by a stronger U.S. dollar relative to the foreign currencies 
in which we transact signifi cant amounts of business.
 We are required to translate, or express in U.S. dollars, the assets 
and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries that are denominated or 
measured in foreign currencies at the applicable year-end rate of 
exchange on our Consolidated Balance Sheets and income statement 
items of our foreign subsidiaries at the average rates prevailing 
during the year. We record the resulting translation adjustment, and 
gains and losses resulting from the translation of intercompany 
balances of a long-term investment nature within other comprehen-
sive income, as a component of our shareholders’ equity. Other 
immaterial foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded 
in our Consolidated Statements of Income. We do not, as a matter 
of policy, hedge translational foreign currency exposure. We may, 
however, hedge transactional foreign currency exchange rate risks 
associated with material transactions which are denominated in a 
foreign currency.

 At December 31, 2007, a 10% weaker U.S. dollar against the 
currencies of all foreign countries in which we had operations 
during 2007 would have increased our revenue by $46.1 million 
and our pre-tax operating profi t by $14.4 million. At December 31, 
2006, a 10% weaker U.S. dollar against the currencies of all foreign 
countries in which we had operations during 2006 would have 
increased our revenue by $42.2 million and our pre-tax operating 
profi t by $12.8 million. A 10% stronger U.S. dollar would have 
resulted in similar decreases to our revenue and pre-tax operating 
profi t for 2007 and 2006.

Interest Rate Risk
Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates 
to our variable-rate, long-term Senior Credit Facility and commercial 
paper borrowings. We attempt to achieve the lowest all-in 
weighted-average cost of debt while simultaneously taking into 
account the mix of our fi xed- and fl oating-rate debt, and the average 
life and scheduled maturities of our debt. At December 31, 2007, 
our weighted-average cost of debt was 6.1% and weighted-average 
life of debt was 11.9 years. At December 31, 2007, 57% of our 
debt was fi xed rate, and the remaining 43% was variable rate. 
Occasionally we use derivatives to manage our exposure to changes 
in interest rates by entering into interest rate swaps. A 1% change 
in the weighted-average interest rate on our variable-rate debt 
would not have materially impacted our 2007 net income.
 Based on the amount of outstanding variable-rate debt, we have 
material exposure to interest rate risk. In the future, if our mix of 
fi xed-rate and variable-rate debt were to change due to additional 
borrowings under existing variable-rate credit facilities or new 
variable-rate debt instruments, we could have additional exposure 
to interest rate risk. The nature and amount of our long-term and 
short-term debt, as well as the proportionate amount of fi xed-rate 
and variable-rate debt, can be expected to vary as a result of future 
business requirements, market conditions and other factors.
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Item 8. 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL 
CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management of Equifax is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over fi nancial reporting as 
defi ned in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934. Equifax’s internal control over fi nancial reporting is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of fi nancial reporting and the preparation of fi nancial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. Internal control over fi nancial reporting 
includes those written policies and procedures that:
 •  Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 

detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of Equifax;

 •  Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles;

 •  Provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures 
of Equifax are being made only in accordance with autho-
rization of management and the Board of Directors of 
Equifax; and

 •  Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of 
assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated 
financial statements.

 Internal control over fi nancial reporting includes the controls 
themselves, monitoring and internal auditing practices, and actions 
taken to correct defi ciencies as identifi ed.
 Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
fi nancial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods 
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 Management assessed the effectiveness of Equifax’s internal 
control over fi nancial reporting as of December 31, 2007. Manage-
ment based this assessment on criteria for effective internal control 
over fi nancial reporting described in “Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission. Management’s assessment included 
an evaluation of the design of Equifax’s internal control over 
fi nancial reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of its 
internal control over fi nancial reporting. Management reviewed 
the results of its assessment with the Audit Committee of its 
Board of Directors.
 Based on this assessment, management determined that, as of 
December 31, 2007, Equifax maintained effective internal control 
over fi nancial reporting.
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 R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  R E G I S T E R E D  P U B L I C  A C C O U N T I N G  F I R M 
O N  I N T E R N A L  C O N T R O L  O V E R  F I N A N C I A L  R E P O R T I N G

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Equifax Inc.:

We have audited Equifax Inc.’s internal control over fi nancial 
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the 
COSO criteria). Equifax Inc.’s management is responsible for 
maintaining effective internal control over fi nancial reporting, 
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 
fi nancial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal 
control over fi nancial reporting based on our audit.
 We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal 
control over fi nancial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of 
internal control over fi nancial reporting, assessing the risk that a 
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed 
risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 A company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of fi nancial reporting and the preparation of fi nancial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control 
over fi nancial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly refl ect the transactions and dispositions 
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 

that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of fi nancial statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the fi nancial statements.
 Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 
fi nancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods 
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 In our opinion, Equifax Inc. maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over fi nancial reporting as 
of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.
 We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ 
equity and comprehensive income, and cash fl ows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 of Equifax Inc. 
and subsidiaries and our report dated February 26, 2008 expressed 
an unqualifi ed opinion thereon.

Atlanta, Georgia
February 26, 2008
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R E P O R T  O F  I N D E P E N D E N T  R E G I S T E R E D  P U B L I C  A C C O U N T I N G  F I R M

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
of Equifax Inc. and subsidiaries, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ 
equity and comprehensive income, and cash fl ows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. Our audits also 
included the fi nancial statement schedule listed in the index at 
Item 15(a). These fi nancial statements and schedule are the responsi-
bility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these fi nancial statements and schedule based on 
our audits.
 We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
fi nancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and signifi cant estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall fi nancial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 In our opinion, the fi nancial statements referred to above present 
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated fi nancial position 
of Equifax Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash fl ows 
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, 
in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

Also, in our opinion the related fi nancial statement schedule, when 
considered in relation to the basic fi nancial statements taken as 
a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information 
set therein.
 As discussed in Notes 1, 7 and 9 of the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, and 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers’ 
Accounting for Defi ned Benefi t Pension and Other Postretirement 
Plans, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132R, 
in 2006.
 We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the effectiveness of Equifax Inc.’s internal control over fi nancial 
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 
and our report dated February 26, 2008 expressed an unqualifi ed 
opinion thereon.

Atlanta, Georgia
February 26, 2008

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Equifax Inc.:
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  I N C O M E

     Twelve Months Ended 
     December 31,

(In millions, except per share amounts) 2007 2006 2005

Operating revenue  $1,843.0 $1,546.3 $1,443.4

Operating expenses:
 Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization below) 752.0 626.4 594.2
 Selling, general and administrative expenses 477.1 401.0 345.0
 Depreciation and amortization 127.7 82.8 82.2

  Total operating expenses 1,356.8 1,110.2 1,021.4

Operating income  486.2 436.1 422.0
 Interest expense (58.5) (31.9) (35.6)
 Minority interests in earnings, net of tax (6.1) (4.5) (4.9)
 Other income, net 3.0 16.2 9.2

Income before income taxes 424.6 415.9 390.7
 Provision for income taxes (151.9) (141.4) (144.2)

Net income   $   272.7 $   274.5 $   246.5

Basic earnings per common share $    2.07 $    2.16 $    1.90

Weighted-average shares used in computing basic earnings per share 132.0 127.1 129.7

Diluted earnings per common share $    2.02 $    2.12 $    1.86

Weighted-average shares used in computing diluted earnings per share 135.1 129.4 132.2

Dividends per common share $    0.16 $    0.16 $    0.15

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  B A L A N C E  S H E E T S

     December 31,

(In millions, except par values)  2007 2006

ASSETS
Current assets:
 Cash and cash equivalents  $     81.6 $     67.8
 Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 
  of $8.9 and $8.7 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively  295.8 244.8
 Prepaid expenses  25.8 21.5
 Other current assets  21.8 11.1
  Total current assets  425.0 345.2
Property and equipment:
 Capitalized internal-use software and system costs  292.2 243.8
 Data processing equipment and furniture  184.7 132.2
 Land, buildings and improvements  89.5 29.7
  Total property and equipment  566.4 405.7
 Less accumulated depreciation and amortization  (306.9) (243.8)
  Total property and equipment, net  259.5 161.9
Goodwill    1,834.6 842.0
Indefi nite-lived intangible assets  95.7 95.2
Purchased intangible assets, net  764.5 242.2
Prepaid pension asset  72.2 47.7
Other assets, net   72.4 56.4
  Total assets  $  3,523.9 $  1,790.6

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
 Short-term debt and current maturities  $    222.1 $    330.0
 Accounts payable  31.1 23.5
 Accrued expenses  79.4 62.0
 Accrued salaries and bonuses  63.5 41.9
 Deferred revenue  69.9 62.7
 Other current liabilities  80.9 62.0
  Total current liabilities  546.9 582.1
Long-term debt   1,165.2 173.9
Deferred income tax liabilities, net  277.1 70.8
Long-term pension and other postretirement benefi t liabilities  62.8 65.3
Other long-term liabilities  72.7 60.4
  Total liabilities  2,124.7 952.5
Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 5)
Shareholders’ equity:
 Preferred stock, $0.01 par value: Authorized shares — 10.0; Issued shares — none  – –
 Common stock, $1.25 par value: Authorized shares — 300.0; Issued shares — 188.5 and 186.3 
  at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively; Outstanding shares — 129.7 and 124.7 
  at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively  235.6 232.9
 Paid-in capital   1,040.8 609.2
 Retained earnings  2,030.0 1,778.6
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (170.5) (232.2)
 Treasury stock, at cost, 55.1 shares and 57.7 shares at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively (1,679.0) (1,490.9)
 Stock held by employee benefi ts trusts, at cost, 3.7 shares and 3.9 shares 
  at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively  (57.7) (59.5)
 Total shareholders’ equity  1,399.2 838.1
  Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $  3,523.9 $  1,790.6

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

EQU_FIN_PTR.cgla indd   53EQU_FIN_PTR.cgla indd   53 3/11/08   1:40:18 PM3/11/08   1:40:18 PM



C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S

5 4  E Q U I FA X   |   2 0 0 7  A N N U A L R E P O RT

     Twelve Months Ended 
     December 31,

(In millions)   2007 2006 2005

Operating activities:
 Net income  $  272.7 $  274.5 $  246.5
 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
  Depreciation and amortization 127.7 82.8 82.2
  Stock-based compensation expense 17.6 17.4 8.2
  Tax effects of stock-based compensation plans 6.6 8.9 18.1
  Excess tax benefi ts from stock-based compensation plans (7.0) (7.2) –
  Deferred income taxes 7.9 (2.6) 11.8
  Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:
   Accounts receivable, net (1.6) (22.8) (14.3)
   Prepaid expenses and other current assets (5.3) (2.4) 10.5
   Other assets (18.7) (1.6) 0.5
   Current liabilities, excluding debt 38.9 49.1 (14.0)
   Other long-term liabilities, excluding debt 11.1 (24.0) (11.7)

Cash provided by operating activities 449.9 372.1 337.8

Investing activities:
 Capital expenditures (118.5) (52.0) (46.2)
 Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (300.0) (34.4) (121.8)
 Proceeds from sale of investments – – 10.1
 Other   (3.8) (0.4) –

Cash used in investing activities (422.3) (86.8) (157.9)

Financing activities:
 Net short-term borrowings (repayments) 139.7 (12.2) 92.3
 Net borrowings (repayments) under long-term revolving credit facilities 253.4 (40.0) 65.0
 Payments on long-term debt (250.0) – (250.0)
 Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 545.7 – –
 Treasury stock purchases (718.7) (215.2) (144.0)
 Dividends paid (20.7) (20.3) (20.2)
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options 31.6 26.1 62.8
 Excess tax benefi ts from stock-based compensation plans 7.0 7.2 –
 Other   (5.6) (0.6) 0.6

Cash used in fi nancing activities (17.6) (255.0) (193.5)

Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 3.8 – (1.0)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 13.8 30.3 (14.6)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 67.8 37.5 52.1

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $   81.6 $   67.8 $   37.5

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y
A N D  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E

      Accumulated  Stock
  Common Stock    Other  Held By Total
  Shares  Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Treasury Employee Shareholders’
(In millions) Outstanding Amount Capital Earnings Loss Stock Benefi ts Trusts Equity

Balance, December 31, 2004 129.4 $227.5 $  466.9 $1,298.8* $(267.0) $(1,133.4)* $(69.2) $ 523.6

Net income – – – 246.5 – – – 246.5

Other comprehensive income – – – – 109.2 – – 109.2

Shares issued under stock plans 3.2 4.0 61.2 – – – – 65.2

Shares issued under benefi ts plans 0.6 – – – – – 6.3 6.3

Treasury stock issued for an acquisition 0.4 – 4.0 – – 10.7 – 14.7

Other treasury stock purchases** (0.2) – – – – (7.9) – (7.9)

Treasury stock purchased under share 

 repurchase program ($34.45 per share) (4.2) – – – – (144.0) – (144.0)

Cash dividends ($0.15 per share) – – – (20.2) – – – (20.2)

Stock-based compensation expense – – 8.2 – – – – 8.2

Tax effects of stock-based compensation plans – – 18.1 – – – – 18.1

Dividends from employee benefi ts trusts – – 0.6 – – – – 0.6

Balance, December 31, 2005 129.2 $231.5 $  559.0 $1,525.1 $(157.8) $(1,274.6) $(62.9) $  820.3

Net income – – – 274.5 – – – 274.5

Other comprehensive income – – – – 36.3 – – 36.3

Adjustment to initially apply  SFAS 158, net of tax – – – – (110.7) – – (110.7)

Shares issued under stock plans 1.0 1.2 19.0 – – – – 20.2

Shares issued under benefi ts plans 0.3 – 3.6 – – – 3.1 6.7

Treasury stock traded for option price – – 0.2 – – (1.1) – (0.9)

Treasury stock traded for minimum 

 tax withholdings – – (0.2) – – (2.5) – (2.7)

Treasury stock purchased under share 

 repurchase program ($35.64 per share)*** (6.0) – – – – (212.7) – (212.7)

Cash dividends ($0.16 per share) – – – (21.0) – – – (21.0)

Dividends paid to employee benefi ts trusts – – 0.7 – – – – 0.7

Stock-based compensation expense – – 17.4 – – – – 17.4

Tax effects of stock-based compensation plans – – 8.9 – – – – 8.9

Other 0.2 0.2 0.6 – – – 0.3 1.1

Balance, December 31, 2006 124.7 $232.9 $  609.2 $1,778.6 $(232.2) $(1,490.9) $(59.5) $  838.1

Net income – – – 272.7 – – – 272.7

Other comprehensive income – – – – 61.7 – – 61.7

Shares issued under stock plans 1.9 2.4 27.7 – – – – 30.1

Shares issued under benefi ts plans 0.4 0.3 1.2 – – – 1.8 3.3

Treasury stock traded for option price – – – – – (0.5) – (0.5)

Treasury stock exchanged for 

 minimum tax withholdings – – – – – (1.8) – (1.8)

Equity consideration issued for TALX acquisition 20.6 – 372.4 – – 532.9 – 905.3

Treasury stock purchased ($40.12 per share)*** (17.9) – – – – (718.7) – (718.7)

Cash dividends ($0.16 per share) – – – (21.3) – – – (21.3)

Reclassifi cation of director deferred compensation 

 plan from liabilities to shareholders’ equity 

 based on plan amendments – – 5.5 – – – – 5.5

Stock-based compensation expense – – 17.6 – – – – 17.6

Tax effects of stock-based compensation plans – – 6.6 – – – – 6.6

Dividends paid to employee benefi ts trusts – – 0.6 – – – – 0.6

Balance, December 31, 2007 129.7 $235.6 $1,040.8 $2,030.0 $(170.5) $(1,679.0) $(57.7) $1,399.2

   * Does not total due to rounding.
 ** Represents treasury stock traded for minimum tax withholdings and common stock tendered by employees exercising stock options.
***  At December 31, 2007, $63.9 million was authorized for future repurchases of our common stock. On February 8, 2008, our Board of Directors amended the plan to 

authorize the repurchase of an additional $250.0 million of our common stock.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss consists of the following components:

     December 31,

(In millions)   2007 2006 2005

Foreign currency translation $ (60.1) $(113.2) $(140.1)
Unrecognized actuarial losses and prior service cost related 
 to our pension and other postretirement benefi t plans, 
 net of accumulated tax of $61.3 at December 31, 2007 (106.5) – –

Minimum pension liability, net of accumulated tax of $4.5, 
 and $10.0 in 2006 and 2005, respectively – (7.7) (16.7)
Adjustment to initially apply SFAS 158 in 2006, 
 net of accumulated tax of $63.8 (see Note 9) – (110.7) –

Cash fl ow hedging transactions, net of tax of $2.2, $0.4
 and $0.6 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively (3.9) (0.6) (1.0)

  Accumulated other comprehensive loss $(170.5) $(232.2) $(157.8)

Comprehensive Income is as follows:

     Twelve Months Ended 
     December 31,

(In millions)   2007 2006 2005

Net income   $272.7 $274.5 $246.5
Other comprehensive income:
 Foreign currency translation adjustment 53.1 26.9 8.1
 Recognition of prior service cost and actuarial losses related to our pension
  and other postretirement benefi t plans 11.9 9.0 100.3
 Change in cumulative loss from cash fl ow hedging transactions (3.3) 0.4 0.8

  Comprehensive income $334.4 $310.8 $355.7

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

C O N S O L I D A T E D  S T A T E M E N T S  O F  S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y
A N D  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E  ( C O N T I N U E D )
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N O T E S  T O  C O N S O L I D A T E D  F I N A N C I A L  S T A T E M E N T S

1.
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
As used herein, the terms Equifax, the Company, we, our and us 
refer to Equifax Inc., a Georgia corporation, and its consolidated 
subsidiaries as a combined entity, except where it is clear that the 
terms mean only Equifax Inc.

Nature of Operations. We collect, organize and manage various 
types of financial, demographic, employment and marketing 
information. Our products and services enable businesses to make 
credit and service decisions, manage their portfolio risk, automate 
or outsource certain payroll, tax and human resources business 
processes, and develop marketing strategies concerning consumers 
and commercial enterprises. We serve customers across a wide range 
of industries, including the fi nancial services, mortgage, retail, 
telecommunications, utilities, automotive, brokerage, healthcare 
and insurance industries, as well as government agencies. We also 
enable consumers to manage and protect their fi nancial health 
through a portfolio of products offered directly to consumers. As 
of December 31, 2007, we operated in 14 countries: Argentina, 
Brazil, Canada, Chile, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Honduras, Peru, 
Portugal, the Republic of Ireland, Spain, the United Kingdom, or 
U.K., Uruguay, and the United States of America, or U.S.
 We develop, maintain and enhance secured proprietary 
information databases through the compilation of credit and 
employment information about consumers and businesses that we 
obtain from a variety of sources, such as credit granting institutions, 
public record information (including bankruptcies, liens and 
judgments), income and tax information primarily from large to 
mid-sized companies in the U.S., and marketing information from 
surveys and warranty cards. We process this information utilizing 
our proprietary information management systems.

Basis of Consolidation. Our Consolidated Financial Statements and 
the accompanying notes, which are prepared in accordance with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, include 
Equifax and all its subsidiaries. We consolidate all majority-owned 
and controlled subsidiaries as well as variable interest entities in 
which we are the primary benefi ciary as defi ned by Financial 
Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Interpretation, or FIN, 
No. 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpre-
tation of ARB No. 51.” Other parties’ interests in consolidated 
entities are reported as minority interests. We use the equity method 
of accounting for investments in which we are able to exercise 
signifi cant infl uence and use the cost method for all other invest-
ments. All signifi cant intercompany transactions and balances 
are eliminated.
 Our Consolidated Financial Statements refl ect all adjustments 
which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair 
presentation of the periods presented therein. All adjustments made 
have been of a normal recurring nature. We have reclassifi ed certain 
prior period amounts in our Consolidated Financial Statements to 
conform to the current period presentation.

Segments. Effective with our organizational realignment on 
January 1, 2007 and the acquisition of TALX Corporation, or 
TALX, on May 15, 2007, we manage our business and report our 
fi nancial results through the following fi ve reportable segments, 
which are the same as operating segments:
 •  U.S. Consumer Information Solutions, or USCIS
 •  International
 •  TALX
 •  North America Personal Solutions
 •  North America Commercial Solutions

 USCIS is our largest reportable segment, with 53% of total 
operating revenue during 2007. Our foreign operations are 
principally located in Canada, the U.K. and Brazil.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of our Consolidated Financial 
Statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions in 
accordance with GAAP. Accordingly, we make these estimates 
and assumptions after exercising judgment. We believe that the 
estimates and assumptions inherent in our Consolidated Financial 
Statements are reasonable, based upon information available to 
us at the time they are made including the consideration of events 
that have occurred up until the point these Statements have been 
fi led. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the fi nancial state-
ments, as well as reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially 
from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Revenue. Revenue is recognized 
when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, collectibility 
of arrangement consideration is reasonably assured, the arrangement 
fees are fi xed or determinable and delivery of the product or service 
has been completed. A signifi cant portion of our revenue is derived 
from our processing of transactions related to the provision of 
information services to our customers, in which case revenue is 
recognized, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are 
met, when the services are provided. A smaller portion of our 
revenues relate to subscription-based contracts under which a 
customer pays a preset fee for a predetermined or unlimited number 
of transactions or services provided during the subscription period, 
generally one year. Revenue related to subscription-based contracts 
having a preset number of transactions is recognized as the services 
are provided, using an effective transaction rate as the actual 
transactions are completed. Any remaining revenue related to 
unfulfi lled units is not recognized until the end of the related 
contract’s subscription period. Revenue related to subscription-
based contracts having an unlimited volume is recognized ratably 
during the contract term.
 If at the outset of an arrangement, we determine that collectibility 
is not reasonably assured, revenue is deferred until the earlier of 
when collectibility becomes probable or the receipt of payment. 
If there is uncertainty as to the customer’s acceptance of our 
deliverables, revenue is not recognized until the earlier of receipt 
of customer acceptance or expiration of the acceptance period. If 
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at the outset of an arrangement, we determine that the arrangement 
fee is not fi xed or determinable, revenue is deferred until the 
arrangement fee becomes estimable, assuming all other revenue 
recognition criteria have been met.
 The determination of certain of our marketing information 
services revenue requires the use of estimates, principally related to 
transaction volumes in instances where these volumes are reported 
to us by our clients on a monthly basis in arrears. In these instances, 
we estimate transaction volumes based on average actual reported 
volumes reported by our customers in the past. Differences between 
our estimates and actual fi nal volumes reported are recorded in 
the period in which actual volumes are reported. We have not 
experienced signifi cant variances between our estimates and actual 
reported volumes in the past. We monitor actual volumes to ensure 
that we will continue to make reasonable estimates in the future. If 
we determine that we are unable to make reasonable future estimates, 
revenue may be deferred until actual customer data is obtained. 
Within our TALX operating segment, the fees for certain of our 
tax credits and incentives revenue are based on a portion of the 
credit delivered to our clients. Revenue for these arrangements is 
recognized based on the achievement of milestones, upon calculation 
of the credit, or when the credit is utilized by our client, depending 
on the provisions of the client contract.
 We have certain information solution offerings that are sold as 
multiple element arrangements. The multiple elements may include 
consumer or commercial information, file updates for certain 
solutions, services provided by our enabling technologies personnel, 
training services, statistical models and other services. To account 
for each of these elements separately, the delivered elements must 
have stand-alone value to our customer, and there must exist 
objective and reliable evidence of the fair value for any undelivered 
elements. For certain customer contracts, the total arrangement 
fee is allocated to the undelivered elements based on their fair values 
and to the initial delivered elements using the residual method. If 
we are unable to unbundle the arrangement into separate elements 
for accounting, we apply one of the accounting policies described 
above. This may lead to the arrangement consideration being recog-
nized as the fi nal contract element is delivered to our customer.
 Many of our multiple element arrangements involve the delivery 
of services generated by a combination of services provided by 
one or more of our operating segments. No individual information 
service impacts the value or usage of other information services 
included in an arrangement and each service can be sold alone or, 
in most cases, purchased from another vendor without affecting 
the quality of use or value to the customer of the other information 
services included in the arrangement. Some of our products require 
the development of interfaces or platforms by our enabling tech-
nologies personnel that allow our customers to interact with our 
proprietary information databases. These development services 
do not meet the requirement for having stand-alone value, thus any 
related development fees are deferred when billed and are recog-
nized over the expected period of benefi t of the related customer 
contract. Revenue from the provision of statistical models is 
recognized as the service is provided and accepted, assuming all 
other revenue recognition criteria are met.

 We record revenue on a net basis for those sales in which we 
have in substance acted as an agent or broker in the transaction. The 
direct costs of set up of a customer are capitalized and amortized 
as a cost of service during the term of the related customer contract.
 Deferred revenue consists of amounts billed in excess of revenue 
recognized on sales of our information services relating generally 
to the deferral of subscription fees and arrangement consideration 
from elements not meeting the criteria for having stand-alone value 
discussed above. Deferred revenues are subsequently recorded as 
revenue in accordance with our revenue recognition policies.

Cost of Services. Cost of services consist primarily of (1) data 
acquisition and royalty fees; (2) customer service costs, which 
include: personnel costs to collect, maintain and update our pro-
prietary databases, to develop and maintain software application 
platforms and to provide consumer and customer call center support; 
(3) hardware and software expense associated with transaction 
processing systems; (4) telecommunication and computer network 
expense; and (5) occupancy costs associated with facilities where 
these functions are performed by Equifax employees.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general 
and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related 
costs, corporate costs, fees for professional and consulting services, 
advertising costs, and other costs of administration.

Advertising. Advertising costs, which are expensed as incurred, 
totaled $27.5 million, $31.6 million and $30.8 million during 2007, 
2006 and 2005, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation. On January 1, 2006, we adopted 
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 123R, 
“Share-Based Payment,” or SFAS 123R, which replaced SFAS 
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” or 
SFAS 123, and superseded APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for 
Stock Issued to Employees,” or APB 25. SFAS 123R requires that 
the cost relating to stock-based payment transactions be recognized 
in the fi nancial statements over the period services are rendered 
according to the fair value of the stock-based awards issued. We 
are no longer permitted to follow the previously permitted pro forma 
disclosure-only method of APB 25 as an alternative to fi nancial 
statement recognition. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, we 
recognized compensation expense for share-based payment awards 
over the stated vesting period in accordance with APB 25.
 SFAS 123R applies to all of our outstanding unvested, 
share-based payment awards as of January 1, 2006 and all prospec-
tive awards. All of our stock-based awards, which are stock options 
and nonvested stock, are classified as equity instruments. In 
accordance with SFAS 123R, we elected to use the modifi ed pro-
spective transition method as opposed to the modifi ed retrospective 
transition method. Under the modifi ed prospective transition method, 
fi nancial statements prior to adoption remain unchanged.
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Income Taxes. In accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for 
Income Taxes,” we account for income taxes under the liability 
method. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined 
based on the estimated future tax effects of temporary differences 
between the fi nancial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities, 
as measured by current enacted tax rates. We periodically assess 
whether it is more likely than not that we will generate suffi cient 
taxable income to realize our deferred tax assets. We record a 
valuation allowance, as necessary, to reduce our deferred tax assets 
to the amount of future tax benefi t that we estimate is more likely 
than not to be realized.
 In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, 
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an interpretation 
of SFAS No. 109,” or FIN 48, which provides clarifi cation related 
to the process associated with accounting for uncertain tax positions 
recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. 
FIN 48 prescribes a more likely than not threshold for fi nancial 
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken, 
or expected to be taken, in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides 
guidance related to, among other things, classifi cation, accounting 
for interest and penalties associated with tax positions, and 
disclosure requirements. We adopted FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. 
The impact of our reassessment of our tax positions in accordance 
with the requirements of FIN 48 was immaterial to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements.
 Accordingly, we record tax benefi ts for positions that we believe 
are more likely than not of being sustained under audit examinations. 
Regularly, we assess the potential outcome of such examinations to 
determine the adequacy of our income tax accruals. We adjust our 
income tax provision during the period in which we determine that 
the actual results of the examinations may differ from our estimates. 
Changes in tax laws and rates are refl ected in our income tax 
provision in the period in which they occur.

Earnings Per Share. In accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings 
per Share,” our basic earnings per share, or EPS, is calculated as 
net income divided by the weighted-average number of common 
shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted EPS is 
calculated to refl ect the potential dilution that would occur if stock 
options or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised 
and resulted in additional common shares outstanding. The income 
amounts used in both our basic and diluted EPS calculations are 
the same. A reconciliation of the weighted-average outstanding 
shares used in the two calculations is as follows:

     Twelve Months Ended December 31,

(In millions)  2007 2006 2005

Weighted-average shares 
 outstanding (basic)  132.0 127.1 129.7
Effect of dilutive securities:
  Stock options  2.9 1.8 2.1
  Long-term incentive plans  0.2 0.5 0.4
Weighted-average shares 
 outstanding (diluted)  135.1 129.4 132.2

 We excluded 0.6 million stock options from our 2007 EPS 
calculation because their effect on EPS was anti-dilutive. The 
number of stock options excluded from the EPS calculation for 
2006 and 2005 was not material.

Benefi t Plans. We sponsor various pension and defi ned contribution 
plans covering substantially all our employees in the U.S., Canada 
and U.K. We also maintain certain healthcare and life insurance 
benefi t plans for eligible retired U.S. employees. Benefi ts under 
the pension and other postretirement benefi t plans are generally 
based on age at retirement and years of service and for some pension 
plans, benefi ts are also based on the employee’s annual earnings. 
The net periodic cost of our pension and other postretirement 
plans is determined using several actuarial assumptions, the most 
signifi cant of which are the discount rate, the long-term rate of 
asset return, and medical trend data.
 Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted SFAS No. 158, 
“Employers’ Accounting for Defi ned Benefi t Pension and Other 
Postretirement Plans – an amendment of FASB Statements 
No. 87, 88, 106 and 132R,” which requires that our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets reflect the funded status of the pension and 
postretirement plans.

Cash Equivalents. We consider all highly liquid investments with 
an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Trade Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. 
We do not recognize interest income on our trade accounts receivable. 
Additionally, we generally do not require collateral from our 
customers related to our trade accounts receivable.
 The allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses on 
trade accounts receivable is based on historical write-off experience, 
an analysis of the aging of outstanding receivables, customer 
payment patterns and the establishment of specifi c reserves for 
customers in an adverse fi nancial condition. We reassess the 
adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts each reporting 
period. Increases to the allowance for doubtful accounts are 
recorded as bad debt expense, which are included in selling, 
general and administrative expenses on the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Income. Bad debt expense was 
$7.3 million, $5.2 million and $4.3 million during 2007, 2006, 
and 2005, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets. Property and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and amortization. The cost of additions 
is capitalized. Property and equipment are depreciated primarily 
on a straight-line basis over assets’ estimated useful lives, which 
are generally three to ten years for data processing equipment and 
capitalized internal-use software and systems costs. Leasehold 
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated 
useful lives or lease terms that are reasonably assured. Buildings 
are depreciated over a forty-year period. Other fi xed assets are 
depreciated over three to seven years. Upon sale or retirement of 
an asset, the related costs and accumulated depreciation are removed 
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from the accounts and any gain or loss is recognized and included 
in income from continuing operations on the Consolidated State-
ments of Income, with the classification of any gain or loss 
dependent on the characteristics of the asset sold or retired.
 Certain internal-use software and system development costs 
are deferred and capitalized in accordance with American Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 98-1, 
“Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or 
Obtained for Internal Use.” Accordingly, the specifi cally identifi ed 
costs incurred to develop or obtain software which is intended for 
internal use are not capitalized until the determination is made 
as to the availability of a technically feasible solution to solve 
the predefi ned user and operating performance requirements as 
established during the preliminary stage of an internal-use software 
development project. Costs incurred during a software development 
project’s preliminary stage and post-implementation stage are 
expensed. Application development activities which are eligible 
for capitalization include software design and configuration, 
development of interfaces, coding, testing, and installation. 
Capitalized internal-use software and systems costs are subsequently 
amortized on a straight-line basis over a three- to ten-year period 
after project completion and when the related software or system 
is ready for its intended use.
 Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and 
equipment was $62.0 million, $51.5 million and $50.4 million in 
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. In accordance with SFAS 
No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets to be Disposed Of,” or SFAS 144, we monitor the status 
of our long-lived assets in order to determine if conditions exist or 
events and circumstances indicate that an asset group may be 
impaired in that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
Signifi cant factors that are considered that could be indicative 
of an impairment include: changes in business strategy, market 
conditions or the manner in which an asset group is used; under-
performance relative to historical or expected future operating 
results; and negative industry or economic trends. If potential 
indicators of impairment exist, we estimate recoverability based 
on the asset group’s ability to generate cash fl ows greater than the 
carrying value of the asset group. We estimate the undiscounted 
future cash fl ows arising from the use and eventual disposition 
of the related long-lived asset group. If the carrying value of the 
long-lived asset group exceeds the estimated future undiscounted 
cash fl ows, an impairment loss is recorded based on the amount 
by which the asset group’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value. 
We utilize estimates of discounted future cash fl ows to determine 
the asset group’s fair value.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets. Goodwill 
represents the cost in excess of the fair value of the net assets of 
acquired businesses. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill 
and Other Intangible Assets,” or SFAS 142, goodwill is not 

amortized. We are required to test goodwill for impairment at the 
reporting unit level on an annual basis or on an interim basis if an 
event occurs or circumstances change that would reduce the fair 
value of a reporting unit below its carrying value. We perform our 
annual goodwill impairment test as of September 30th each year. 
In analyzing goodwill for potential impairment, we use projections 
of future discounted cash fl ows from our reporting units to determine 
whether the reporting unit’s estimated fair value exceeds its carrying 
value. Our estimates of fair value for each reporting unit are corrob-
orated by market multiple comparables. If the fair value of a reporting 
unit exceeds its carrying value, then no further testing is required. 
However, if a reporting unit’s fair value were to be less than its 
carrying value, we would then determine the amount of the impair-
ment charge, if any, which would be the amount that the carrying 
value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeded its implied value.
 Contractual/territorial rights represent the estimated fair 
value of rights to operate in certain territories acquired through 
the purchase of independent credit reporting agencies in the U.S. 
and Canada. Our contractual/territorial rights are perpetual in 
nature and, therefore, the useful lives are considered indefi nite. 
Indefi nite-lived intangible assets are not amortized. In accordance 
with SFAS 142, we are required to test indefi nite-lived intangible 
assets for impairment annually or whenever events and circumstances 
indicate that there may be an impairment of the asset value. Our 
annual impairment test date is September 30th. We perform the 
impairment test for our indefinite-lived intangible assets by 
comparing the asset’s fair value to its carrying value. We estimate 
the fair value based on projected discounted future cash fl ows. 
An impairment charge is recognized if the asset’s estimated fair 
value is less than its carrying value.
 We completed our annual impairment testing for goodwill 
and indefinite-lived intangible assets during 2007, 2006 and 
2005, and we determined that there was no impairment in any of 
these years.

Purchased Intangible Assets. Purchased intangible assets represent 
the estimated fair value of acquired intangible assets used in our 
business. Purchased data fi les represent the estimated fair value of 
consumer credit fi les acquired primarily through the purchase 
of independent credit reporting agencies in the U.S. and Canada. 
We expense the cost of modifying and updating credit fi les in the 
period such costs are incurred. We amortize purchased data fi les, 
which primarily consist of acquired credit fi les, on a straight-line 
basis. All of our other purchased intangible assets are also amortized 
on a straight-line basis.

  Useful Life
Asset  (in years)

Purchased data files  15
Acquired software and technology  2 to 10
Non-compete agreements  2 to 10
Proprietary database  6
Customer relationships  5 to 25
Trade names  1 to 10
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Other Assets. Other assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets 
primarily represents the cash surrender value of life insurance 
policies covering certain offi cers of the Company, employee benefi t 
trust assets, a statutorily-required tax deposit and data purchases, 
net of related amortization.

Foreign Currency Translation. The functional currency of each 
of our foreign subsidiaries is that subsidiary’s local currency. We 
translate the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries at the 
year-end rate of exchange and revenue and expenses at the monthly 
average rates during the year. We record the resulting translation 
adjustment in other comprehensive income, a component of 
shareholders’ equity. We also record gains and losses resulting from 
the translation of intercompany balances of a long-term investment 
nature in accumulated other comprehensive loss.

Financial Instruments. Our fi nancial instruments consist primarily 
of cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable, accounts 
payable and short-term and long-term debt. The carrying amounts 
of these items, other than long-term debt, approximate their fair 
market values due to the short-term nature of these instruments. 
As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the fair value of our fi xed-rate 
debt (determined internally through the use of related public 
fi nancial information) was $776.0 million and $414.2 million, 
respectively, compared to its carrying value of $790.6 million and 
$398.8 million, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. In November 2005, Financial 
Accounting Standards Board Staff Position FAS No. 123(R)-3: 
“Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of 
Share-Based Payment Awards,” or FSP 123R-3, was issued, which 
provides a practical or simplifi ed transition election related to 
accounting for the tax effects of share-based payment awards 
to employees as opposed to the more detailed method provided 
in SFAS 123R. FSP 123R-3 allowed us to elect a transition method 
up to one year from the date of adoption of SFAS 123R. Accordingly, 
on January 1, 2007, we elected the simplifi ed method as described 
in FSP 123R-3. As a result of electing this transition method, we 
are required to retrospectively apply this method to our 2006 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows since we were required to 
apply the more detailed method in SFAS 123R until we elected a 
transition method. The reclassifi cation between cash provided by 
operating activities and cash provided by fi nancing activities on 
our 2006 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows as a result of 
electing the simplifi ed method is not material.
 In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value 
Measurements,” or SFAS 157, which provides guidance for mea-
suring the fair value of assets and liabilities, as well as requires 
expanded disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 
indicates that fair value should be determined based on the assump-
tions marketplace participants would use in pricing the asset or 
liability, and provides additional guidelines to consider in determin-
ing the market-based measurement. We will be required to adopt 
SFAS 157 on January 1, 2008. In February 2008, the FASB issued 

FSP 157-2 “Partial Deferral of the Effective Date of Statement 157,” 
or FSP 157-2. FSP 157-2 delays the effective date of SFAS 157 
for all nonfi nancial assets and nonfi nancial liabilities, except those 
that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in our Consolidated 
Financial Statements on a recurring basis (at least annually), to 
January 1, 2009. We are currently assessing the impact that these 
pronouncements have on our consolidated fi nancial statements.
 In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair 
Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – 
Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115,” or 
SFAS 159, which permits an entity to choose to measure many 
fi nancial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are 
not currently required to be measured at fair value. We adopted 
SFAS 159 on January 1, 2008 and have elected not to apply the 
fair value option to any of our fi nancial instruments.
 In September 2006, the FASB ratifi ed the consensus reached 
by the Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, related to EITF Issue 
No. 06-04, “Accounting for Deferred Compensation and 
Postretirement Benefi t Aspects of Endorsement Split-Dollar Life 
Insurance Arrangements,” or EITF 06-04, which requires the 
recognition of a liability related to postretirement benefi ts covered 
by endorsement split-dollar life insurance arrangements since the 
employer has the obligation to provide the benefi t to the employee. 
In March 2007, the FASB ratifi ed the consensus reached by the 
EITF related to EITF Issue No. 06-10, “Accounting for Deferred 
Compensation and Postretirement Benefi t Aspects of Collateral 
Assignment Split-Dollar Life Insurance Arrangements,” or 
EITF 06-10, which requires (1) the recognition of a liability 
related to postretirement benefi ts covered by collateral split-dollar 
life insurance arrangements since the employer has the obligation 
to provide the benefi t to the employee and (2) to recognize and 
measure the asset based on the nature and substance of the arrange-
ment. We have both endorsement and collateral assignment 
split-dollar life insurance arrangements for certain offi cers of the 
Company. The liability is required to be recognized in accordance 
with SFAS No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement 
Benefi ts, Other Than Pensions,” or Accounting Principles Board, or 
APB, Opinion No. 12, “Omnibus Opinion – 1967,” as appropriate. 
For transition purposes, we may adopt EITF 06-04 and EITF 06-10 
as changes in accounting principles through either (1) retrospective 
application to all periods presented or (2) a cumulative effect 
adjustment to retained earnings. We will be required to adopt 
EITF 06-04 and EITF 06-10 on January 1, 2008. We do not expect 
the adoption of these standards to have a material impact on our 
fi nancial statements.
 In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R), 
“Business Combinations – a replacement of FASB Statement 
No. 141,” or SFAS 141R, which signifi cantly changes the principles 
and requirements for how the acquirer of a business recognizes and 
measures in its fi nancial statements the identifi able assets acquired, 
the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in the 
acquiree. The statement also provides guidance for recognizing and 
measuring the goodwill acquired in the business combination 
and determines what information to disclose to enable users of 
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the fi nancial statements to evaluate the nature and fi nancial effects 
of the business combination. This statement is effective prospec-
tively, except for certain retrospective adjustments to deferred tax 
balances. We will be required to adopt SFAS 141R on January 1, 
2009. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 141R 
on our Consolidated Financial Statements.
 In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, 
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements – 
an amendment of ARB No. 51,” or SFAS 160. This statement 
establishes accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling 
interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. 
This statement is effective prospectively, except for certain 
retrospective disclosure requirements. We will be required to adopt 
SFAS 160 on January 1, 2009. We are currently evaluating the impact 
of adopting SFAS 160 on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

2.
ACQUISITIONS
2007 Acquisitions. On October 19, 2007, in order to continue to 
grow our credit data business, our Peruvian subsidiary, which is 
reported in our International operating segment, purchased 100% 
of the stock of a credit reporting business located in Peru for cash 
consideration of $8.0 million.
 On May 15, 2007, we completed the acquisition of all of the 
outstanding shares of TALX, a leading provider of employment 
and income verifi cation and human resources business process 
outsourcing services. The acquisition aligns with our long-term 
growth strategy of expanding into new markets with unique data. 
Under the terms of the transaction, we issued 20.6 million shares of 
Equifax common stock from treasury, issued 1.9 million fully-vested 
options to purchase Equifax common stock and paid approximately 
$288.1 million in cash, net of cash acquired. The value of the shares 
issued was $844.2 million determined using an average share price 
over a reasonable period of time before and after the acquisition 
terms were announced. The fair value of options issued was 
$61.1 million determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation 
model. The fair value of the vested options is included in the total 
purchase price. We also assumed TALX’s outstanding debt, which 
had a fair value totaling $177.6 million at May 15, 2007. We 
fi nanced the cash portion of the acquisition cost and $96.6 million 
outstanding on the TALX revolving credit facility at the date of 

acquisition initially with borrowings under our $850.0 million senior 
unsecured credit facility, which we refer to as the Senior Credit 
Facility, and subsequently refi nanced this debt in the second quarter 
of 2007 with ten- and thirty-year notes. The results of TALX’s 
operations are included in our Consolidated Financial Statements 
beginning on May 15, 2007. TALX is reported as a separate 
operating segment. Subsequent to the date of the acquisition, we 
paid $4.1 million to the former owners of a company purchased 
by TALX pursuant to an earn-out agreement.
 We also acquired the assets of three mortgage reporting affi liates 
for cash paid of $3.8 million during the fi rst quarter of 2007.

2006 Acquisition. On October 6, 2006, we acquired Austin 
Consolidated Holdings, Inc., known as Austin-Tetra, for 
$34.4 million in cash. Austin-Tetra is a provider of business-to-
business data management to the commercial market. They provide 
companies and government agencies with information to help 
them better understand existing customers, target new customers, 
and effectively manage their vendors. This acquisition is part of 
our long-term growth strategy, complementing our commercial 
solutions operating segment. We fi nanced this acquisition through 
borrowings under our long-term revolving credit facility. The 
results of operations for this acquisition have been included in 
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income from the 
date of acquisition.

2005 Acquisitions. To broaden and further strengthen our enabling 
technologies capabilities in our USCIS business, we acquired 
APPRO Systems, Inc., or APPRO, on March 15, 2005. APPRO 
provides automated credit risk management and fi nancial tech-
nologies for consumer, commercial and retail banking lending 
operations. We paid a total of $91.5 million in cash to the stock-
holders and option holders of APPRO. The net cash impact to us 
of the acquisition was $74.9 million after disposition of certain 
assets. We fi nanced this acquisition through available cash and 
$72.0 million in borrowings under an existing trade receivables-
backed revolving credit facility.
 To enhance the marketing services capabilities of our USCIS 
business and add to our enabling technology capabilities, on 
August 29, 2005, we acquired BeNow, Inc., or BeNow, a provider 
of leading-edge solutions to multichannel marketers. BeNow 
combines database management and analytics to support customer 
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marketing campaigns and optimize market opportunities in particular 
industries. We paid a total of $17.5 million in cash to the stockholders 
of BeNow. The net cash impact to us of the acquisition was 
$16.7 million. We financed this acquisition through available 
cash and $5.9 million in short-term borrowings.
 Also during 2005, in order to continue to grow our consumer 
credit data business in our USCIS operating segment, we acquired 
the credit fi les, contractual rights to territories (generally states or 
integration areas) and customer relationships and related businesses 
of two independent credit reporting agencies in the U.S. (also 
referred to as Affi liates) and one in Canada that had housed their 
consumer information on our system.
 The acquisitions in 2005 had a total cash purchase price of 
$129.1 million. The purchase of one U.S. Affi liate was paid for 
primarily with the issuance of 0.4 million shares of Equifax treasury 
stock. The value of the shares was $14.7 million on the date of 
issuance and the number of shares issued was based on the terms 
of the acquisition agreement. The results of operations for these 
acquisitions have been included in the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Income from the respective dates of their acquisition.

Purchase Price Allocation. The following table summarizes the 
estimated fair value of the net assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed at the acquisition dates. These allocations are considered 
fi nal, except for those related to the 2007 acquisitions, which are 
preliminary estimates that will be fi nalized upon the completion 
of the federal and state tax returns and our valuation of acquired 
fi xed assets.

     December 31,

(In millions) 2007 2006

Current assets $  58.0 $ 2.0
Property and equipment 22.1 0.3
Other assets 1.0 –
Identifiable intangible assets (1) 574.6 9.1
Goodwill (2) 968.8 28.2
Total assets acquired 1,624.5 39.6
Total liabilities assumed (418.5) (5.2)
Net assets acquired $1,206.0 $34.4

(1) Identifiable intangible assets are further disaggregated in the table below.
(2)  Of the $968.8 million in goodwill included in the 2007 preliminary purchase 

allocation, $107.5 million is tax deductible. All of the goodwill resulting from 
the 2006 acquisition is not tax deductible.

 The primary reasons the purchase price of certain of these acquisitions exceeded the fair value of the net assets acquired, which 
resulted in the recognition of goodwill, were expanded growth opportunities from new or enhanced product offerings, cost savings from 
the elimination of duplicative activities, and the acquisition of intellectual property and workforce that are not recognized as assets 
apart from goodwill.
  December 31,
 2007  2006
      Weighted-Average  Weighted-Average
Intangible asset category Fair Value Useful Life Fair Value Useful Life
     (in millions) (in years) (in millions) (in years)

Customer relationships $392.6 20.8 $7.0 7.0
Proprietary database 117.9 6.0 – –
Acquired software and technology 33.7 4.0 0.5 3.0
Non-compete agreements 0.5 10.0 0.4 5.0
Trade names and other intangible assets 29.9 9.3 1.2 5.5
Total acquired intangibles $574.6 16.2 $9.1 6.5

Pro Forma Financial Information. The following unaudited pro forma information represents consolidated results of operations as if 
the 2007 TALX acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the earliest year presented. The pro forma amounts may not necessarily be 
indicative of the operating revenues and results of operations had the acquisition actually taken place at the beginning of the earliest 
year presented. Furthermore, the pro forma information may not be indicative of future performance.

  Twelve Months Ended December 31,
 2007  2006
(In millions, except per share data) As Reported Pro Forma As Reported  Pro Forma
Operating revenues $1,843.0 $1,950.3 $1,546.3 $1,803.2
Net income $   272.7 $   276.6 $   274.5 $   273.1
Net income per share (basic) $    2.07 $    1.98 $    2.16 $    1.85
Net income per share (diluted) $    2.02 $    1.93 $    2.12 $    1.81

 The impact of the 2007 Peruvian acquisition would not have signifi cantly changed our Consolidated Statements of Income if it had 
occurred at the beginning of the earliest year presented and is therefore not included in the pro forma information above.
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3.
GOODWILL AND OTHER 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The allocation of the TALX purchase price is preliminary, as certain 
federal and state tax returns and our valuation of acquired fi xed 
assets are not complete. See Note 2 for additional information about 
the TALX acquisition.

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the cost in excess of the fair value 
of the net assets acquired in a business combination. As discussed 
in Note 1, in accordance with SFAS 142, goodwill is tested for 
impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual basis and on 
an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change that 
would reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying 
value. We perform our annual goodwill impairment tests as 

of September 30th each year. Our annual impairment tests as of 
September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 resulted in no impairment 
of goodwill.
 As discussed in Note 12, we realigned our organization, effective 
January 1, 2007, which resulted in new reportable segments. To 
refl ect this new organizational structure, we reallocated our goodwill 
to our new reporting units based on their relative fair value, as 
applicable, in accordance with SFAS 142. When reporting units are 
changed, SFAS 142 requires that goodwill be tested for impairment. 
During the first quarter of 2007, we performed our goodwill 
impairment test following the reallocation of goodwill, which 
resulted in no impairment.
 Goodwill allocated to our reportable segments at December 31, 
2005 under our prior structure and changes in the carrying amount 
of goodwill during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 
are as follows:

 North American European Latin American
(In millions) Operations Operations Operations Corporate Total
Balance, December 31, 2005 $524.1 $105.4 $155.8 $5.9 $791.2
Acquisitions 28.2 – – – 28.2
Adjustments to initial purchase price allocation (0.2) – – – (0.2)
Foreign currency translation – 14.3 8.5 – 22.8
Balance, December 31, 2006 $552.1 $119.7 $164.3 $5.9 $842.0

 All of our reportable segments changed as a result of our organizational realignment effective January 1, 2007. Goodwill reallocated 
as a result of our organizational realignment as of January 1, 2007 and changes in the amount of goodwill for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2007 are as follows:

 U.S. Consumer  North America North America
 Information  Personal Commercial
 Solutions International Solutions Solutions TALX Total

Balance, January 1, 2007 $491.4 $310.7 $1.8 $38.1 $      – $   842.0
Acquisitions – 5.2 – – 963.6 968.8
Adjustments to initial purchase price allocation (0.2) – – (1.3) – (1.5)
Foreign currency translation – 35.7 – 0.9 – 36.6
Tax benefits of options exercised – – – – (11.3) (11.3)
Balance, December 31, 2007 $491.2 $351.6 $1.8 $37.7 $952.3 $1,834.6

Indefi nite-Lived Intangible Assets. Indefi nite-lived intangible assets 
consist of contractual/territorial rights representing the estimated 
fair value of rights to operate in certain territories acquired through 
the purchase of independent credit reporting agencies in the U.S. 
and Canada. Our contractual/territorial rights are perpetual in 
nature and, therefore, the useful lives are considered indefi nite. 
Indefi nite-lived intangible assets are not amortized. As discussed 
in Note 1, in accordance with SFAS 142, we are required to test 
indefi nite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually and 
whenever events or circumstances indicate that there may be an 
impairment of the asset value. We perform our annual indefi nite-lived 
intangible asset impairment test as of September 30th each year. 
Our annual impairment test as of September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 
resulted in no impairment of our indefi nite-lived intangible assets.

 Contractual/territorial rights at December 31, 2005 and 
changes in the carrying amounts during the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

(In millions)  Amount

Balance, December 31, 2005  $95.0
Acquisitions  0.2
Balance, December 31, 2006  95.2
Foreign currency translation  0.5
Balance, December 31, 2007  $95.7
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Purchased Intangible Assets. Purchased intangible assets, net recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2007 and 
2006, are as follows:

  December 31, 2007   December 31, 2006
  Accumulated   Accumulated
(In millions) Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net

Definite-lived intangible assets:
Purchased data files $  406.6 $(221.7) $184.9 $390.8 $(191.3) $199.5
Acquired software and technology 72.7 (23.9) 48.8 39.1 (15.7) 23.4
Customer relationships 414.7 (18.4) 396.3 18.5 (1.9) 16.6
Proprietary database 117.6 (12.3) 105.3 – – –
Non-compete agreements 6.4 (5.2) 1.2 5.9 (4.6) 1.3
Trade names and other intangible assets 31.9 (3.9) 28.0 2.0 (0.6) 1.4
Total definite-lived intangible assets $1,049.9 $(285.4) $764.5 $456.3 $(214.1) $242.2

 Amortization expense related to purchased intangible assets 
was $65.8 million, $31.4 million and $31.7 million during the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively.
 Estimated future amortization expense related to defi nite-lived 
purchased intangible assets at December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Years Ending December 31,

(In millions)  Amount

2008    $ 86.5
2009    84.0
2010    83.6
2011    77.4
2012    73.0
Thereafter  360.0
      $764.5

4.
DEBT
Debt outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was as follows:

     December 31,

(In millions) 2007 2006

Commercial Paper $   219.5 $        –
Notes, 4.95%, due November 2007 – 250.0
Notes, 4.25%, due May 2012 12.5 –
Notes, 7.34%, due May 2014 75.0 –
Notes, 6.30%, due July 2017 300.0 –
Debentures, 6.90%, due July 2028 150.0 150.0
Notes, 7.00%, due July 2037  250.0 –
Trade receivables-backed revolving 
 credit facility, weighted-average 
 rate of 5.4% in 2006 – 80.0
Borrowings under long-term revolving 
 credit facilities, weighted-average 
 rate of 5.3% in 2007 and 2006 375.0 25.0
Other  2.2 0.1
  Total debt 1,384.2 505.1
Less short-term debt and current maturities (222.1) (330.0)
Less unamortized discounts (2.2) (1.2)
Plus fair value adjustment 5.3 –

  Total long-term debt, net of discount $1,165.2 $  173.9

 Scheduled future maturities of debt at December 31, 2007, 
are as follows:

Years Ending December 31,

(In millions)  Amount

2008    $  222.1
2009    2.4
2010    17.7
2011    392.9
2012    16.6
Thereafter  732.5
 Total debt  $1,384.2

Senior Credit Facility. During the second quarter of 2007, we 
amended our senior unsecured revolving credit facility with a group 
of fi nancial institutions, which we refer to as the Senior Credit 
Facility, to increase the borrowing limit from $500.0 million to 
$850.0 million. Borrowings may be used for general corporate 
purposes, including working capital, capital expenditures, acqui-
sitions and share repurchase programs. The Senior Credit Facility 
expires in July 2011.
 The Amended Credit Agreement also includes an “accordion” 
feature that will allow us to request an increase of up to 
$150.0 million in the maximum borrowing commitment, which 
cannot exceed $1.0 billion. Each member of the lending group 
may elect to participate or not participate in any request we make 
to increase the maximum borrowing commitment. In addition, any 
increase in the borrowing commitment pursuant to this accordion 
feature is subject to certain terms and conditions, including the 
absence of an event of default. The increased borrowing commitment 
may be used for general corporate purposes.
 Under our Amended Credit Agreement, we must comply 
with various fi nancial and non-fi nancial covenants. The fi nancial 
covenants require us to maintain a maximum leverage ratio, defi ned 
as consolidated funded debt divided by consolidated EBITDA 
(as set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement) for the preceding 
four quarters, of not more than 3.5 to 1.0. Compliance with this 
fi nancial covenant is tested quarterly. The non-fi nancial covenants 
include limitations on liens, cross defaults, subsidiary debt, mergers, 
liquidations, asset dispositions and acquisitions. As of December 31, 
2007, we were in compliance with our covenants under the Amended 
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Credit Agreement. Our borrowings under this facility, which have 
not been guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries, are unsecured and 
will rank on parity in right of payment with all of our other unsecured 
and unsubordinated indebtedness from time to time outstanding.
 At December 31, 2007, interest was payable on borrowings 
under the existing credit facility at the base rate or London Interbank 
Offered Rate, or LIBOR, plus a specifi ed margin or competitive 
bid option as selected by us from time to time. The annual facility 
fee, which we pay regardless of borrowings, and interest rate are 
subject to adjustment based on our debt ratings. As of December 31, 
2007, $255.5 million was available for borrowings and there were 
outstanding borrowings of $375.0 million under this facility, which 
is included in long-term debt on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.
 While the underlying fi nal maturity date of this facility is July 
2011, it is structured to provide borrowings under short-term loans. 
Since these borrowings primarily have a maturity of thirty days, the 
borrowings and repayments are presented on a net basis within 
the fi nancing activities portion of our Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows as net (repayments) borrowings under long-term 
revolving credit facilities.
 On November 1, 2007, $250.0 million of 4.95% Notes matured 
and was refi nanced with borrowings under our Senior Credit Facility.

Commercial Paper Program. On May 22, 2007, we established an 
$850.0 million commercial paper program in which borrowings 
bear interest at either a variable rate (based on LIBOR or other 
benchmarks) or a fi xed rate, with the applicable rate and margin 
established through private placement of commercial paper notes 
from time to time. Maturities of commercial paper can range from 
overnight to 397 days. Since the commercial paper program 
is backstopped by our Senior Credit Facility, the amount of 
commercial paper which may be issued under the program is 
reduced by the amount of any outstanding borrowings under our 
Senior Credit Facility pursuant to our existing Board authorization. 
At December 31, 2007, $219.5 million in commercial paper notes 
were outstanding, at a weighted-average fi xed interest rate of 5.5% 
per annum, all with maturities of less than 90 days.

4.25% Notes. Upon our July 26, 2007 acquisition of our Atlanta, 
Georgia data center, we assumed a $12.5 million mortgage obligation 
from the prior owner of the building. The mortgage obligation has 
a fi xed rate of interest of 4.25% per annum and is payable in annual 
installments until March 1, 2012.

TALX Debt. At the closing of the TALX acquisition in May 2007, 
we assumed $75.0 million in 7.34% Senior Guaranteed Notes, or 
TALX Notes, privately placed by TALX with several institutional 
investors in May 2006 and $96.6 million outstanding under TALX’s 
revolving credit facility. Subsequent to the TALX acquisition, we 
repaid and terminated the TALX revolving credit facility with 
borrowings under our Senior Credit Facility. We are required to 
repay the principal amount of the TALX Notes in fi ve equal annual 
installments commencing on May 25, 2010 with a fi nal maturity 
date of May 25, 2014. We may prepay the TALX Notes subject to 
certain restrictions and the payment of a make-whole amount. Under 
certain circumstances, we may be required to use proceeds of certain 

asset dispositions to prepay a portion of the TALX Notes. Interest 
on the TALX Notes is payable semi-annually until the principal 
becomes due and payable. We identifi ed a fair value adjustment 
related to the TALX Notes in applying purchase accounting; this 
amount will be amortized against interest expense over the remainder 
of the term of the TALX Notes. At December 31, 2007, the remaining 
balance of this adjustment is $5.3 million and is included in long-term 
debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

6.3% and 7.0% Senior Notes. On June 28, 2007, we issued 
$300.0 million principal amount of 6.3%, ten-year senior notes and 
$250.0 million principal amount of 7.0%, thirty-year senior notes, 
which we refer to collectively as the Notes, in underwritten public 
offerings. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on January 1 
and July 1 of each year, beginning January 1, 2008. The net proceeds 
of the fi nancing were used to repay short-term indebtedness, a 
substantial portion of which was incurred in connection with our 
acquisition of TALX. We must comply with various non-fi nancial 
covenants, including certain limitations on liens, additional debt 
and mortgages, mergers, asset dispositions and sale-leaseback 
arrangements. The Notes are unsecured and rank equally with all 
of our other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness. Debt 
issuance costs capitalized under these offerings totaled approximately 
$4.8 million. The original issuance discount on these offerings 
totaled $1.3 million.
 In conjunction with the sale of the Notes, we entered into 
cash fl ow hedges on $200.0 million and $250.0 million notional 
amount of ten-year and thirty-year Treasury notes, respectively. 
These hedges were settled on June 25 and June 26, 2007, the 
dates the Notes were sold, requiring payment of $1.9 million and 
$3.0 million, respectively. Pursuant to SFAS No. 133, “Accounting 
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” the impact 
of these settlements has been recorded in other comprehensive 
income and will be amortized with interest expense over the 
respective terms of the Notes.

Canadian Credit Facility. We are a party to a credit agreement with 
a Canadian fi nancial institution that provides for a C$10.0 million 
(denominated in Canadian dollars), 364-day revolving credit 
agreement. This agreement was renewed during 2007 and is 
scheduled to terminate in November 2008. During the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, there was no activity under 
this facility.

Trade Receivables-Backed Revolving Credit Facility. We were 
party to a trade receivables-backed, revolving credit facility which 
allowed a wholly-owned subsidiary of Equifax to borrow up to 
$125.0 million, subject to borrowing base availability and other 
terms and conditions, for general corporate purposes. This facility 
expired on November 29, 2007, and the Company elected not to 
renew it for an additional term. At December 31, 2006, $80.0 million 
was outstanding under this facility.
 Cash paid for interest, net of capitalized interest, was 
$42.6 million, $30.4 million and $38.3 million during the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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5.
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases. Our operating leases principally involve offi ce space and 
offi ce equipment. Other than leasing arrangements, we do not 
engage in off-balance sheet fi nancing activities. Under the terms 
of the $29.0 million operating lease for our headquarters building 
in Atlanta, Georgia, which commenced in 1998 and expires in 2010, 
we have guaranteed a portion of the residual value of the building 
at the end of the lease. Total lease payments for the remaining term 
total $4.1 million. In the event that the property were to be sold by 
the lessor at the end of the lease term, we would be responsible 
for any shortfall of the sales proceeds, up to a maximum amount 
of $23.2 million, which equals 80% of the value of the property 
at the beginning of the lease term. The liability for this estimated 
shortfall, which was  $1.9 million and $1.4 million December 31, 
2007 and 2006, respectively, is recorded in other long-term liabilities 
on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
 Rental expense for operating leases, which is recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, was $22.0 million, 
$17.9 million and $25.5 million for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Our headquarters 
building operating lease has ground purchase options exercisable 
beginning in 2019, ground renewal options exercisable in 2048 
and escalation clauses beginning in 2009. Expected future minimum 
payment obligations for non-cancelable operating leases exceeding 
one year are as follows as of December 31, 2007:

Years Ending December 31,

(In millions)  Amount

2008    $   22.7
2009    20.7
2010    17.2
2011    13.3
2012    10.2
Thereafter  58.2
      $142.3

 We expect to receive $11.4 million under noncancelable sublease 
agreements through February 2012, the date our last sublease agree-
ment is set to expire, $4.4 million of which represents operating 
expenses that our sublessors are contractually obligated to pay us 
over the remaining lease term. The expected sublease income is 
not refl ected as a reduction in the total minimum rental obligations 
under operating leases in the table above.

Data Processing, Outsourcing Services and Other Agreements. 
We have separate agreements with International Business Machines 
Corporation, or IBM, Acxiom, GenPact, TCS and others to outsource 
portions of our computer data processing operations, applications 
development, maintenance and related functions and to provide 
certain other administrative and operational services. The agree-
ments expire between 2008 and 2013. The estimated aggregate 
minimum contractual obligation remaining under these agreements 
is approximately $305.0 million as of December 31, 2007, with 
no future year expected to exceed approximately $90.0 million. 
Annual payment obligations in regard to these agreements vary 

due to factors such as the volume of data processed; changes in our 
servicing needs as a result of new product offerings, acquisitions 
or divestitures; the introduction of signifi cant new technologies; 
foreign currency; or the general rate of inflation. In certain 
circumstances (e.g., a change in control or for our convenience), 
we may terminate these data processing and outsourcing agreements, 
and, in doing so, certain of these agreements require us to pay a 
signifi cant penalty.
 Our data processing outsourcing agreement with IBM was 
renegotiated in 2003 for a ten-year term. Under this agreement 
(which covers our operations in North America, Europe, Brazil 
and Chile), we have outsourced our mainframe and midrange 
operations, help desk service and desktop support functions, and 
the operation of our voice and data networks. The scope of such 
services varies by location. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, we paid 
$115.0 million, $112.1 million and $120.8 million, respectively, 
for these services. The estimated future minimum contractual 
obligation at December 31, 2007 under this agreement is approx-
imately $255.0 million, with no year expected to exceed 
approximately $55.0 million. We may terminate certain portions 
of this agreement without penalty in the event that IBM is in 
material breach of the terms of the agreement.

Agreement with Computer Sciences Corporation. We have an 
agreement with Computer Sciences Corporation, or CSC, and 
certain of its affi liates, collectively CSC, under which CSC-owned 
credit reporting agencies utilize our computerized credit database 
services. CSC retains ownership of its credit fi les and the revenues 
generated by its credit reporting activities. We receive a processing 
fee for maintaining the database and for each report supplied. The 
agreement will expire on July 31, 2018 and is renewable at the option 
of CSC for successive ten-year periods. The agreement provides 
us with an option to purchase CSC’s credit reporting business if 
it does not elect to renew the agreement or if there is a change in 
control of CSC while the agreement is in effect. Under the agreement 
CSC also has an option, exercisable at any time, to sell its credit 
reporting business to us. The option expires in 2013. The option 
exercise price will be determined by a third-party appraisal process 
and would be due in cash within 180 days after the exercise of the 
option. We estimate that if the option were exercised at December 31, 
2007, the price range would approximate $650.0 million to 
$725.0 million. This estimate is based solely on our internal analysis 
of the value of the business, current market conditions and other 
factors, all of which are subject to constant change. Therefore, the 
actual option exercise price could be materially higher or lower 
than the estimated amount.

Change in Control Agreements. We have entered into change in 
control severance agreements with certain key executives. The 
agreements provide for, among other things, certain payments and 
benefi ts in the event of a qualifying termination of employment 
(i.e., termination of employment by the executive for “good reason” 
or termination of employment by the Company without “cause,” 
each as defi ned in the agreements) within six months prior to or 
three years following a change in control of the Company. In the 
event of a qualifying termination, the executive will become entitled 
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to continuation of group health, dental, vision, life, disability, 401(k) 
and similar benefi ts for three years, as well as a lump sum severance 
payment, all of which differs by executive.
 The change in control agreements have a fi ve-year term and 
automatically renew for another fi ve years unless we elect not to 
renew the agreements. Change in control events potentially triggering 
benefi ts under the agreements would occur, subject to certain 
exceptions, if (1) any person acquires 20% or more of our voting 
stock; (2) upon a merger or other business combination, our 
shareholders receive less than two-thirds of the common stock and 
combined voting power of the new company; (3) we sell or otherwise 
dispose of all or substantially all of our assets; or (4) we liquidate 
or dissolve.
 If these change in control agreements had been triggered as 
of December 31, 2007, payments of approximately $32.8 million 
would have been made (excluding tax gross-up amounts of 
$14.9 million). Under the Company’s existing director and employee 
stock benefi t plans, a change in control generally would result in the 
immediate vesting of all outstanding stock options and satisfaction 
of the restrictions on any outstanding nonvested stock awards.

Guarantees and Indemnifi cations. We account for guarantees 
in accordance with FIN No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and 
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect 
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” which required the 
prospective recognition and measurement of certain guarantees 
and indemnifi cations upon adoption. Accordingly, any contractual 
guarantees or indemnifications we have issued or modified 
subsequent to December 31, 2002 are subject to evaluation. If 
required, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken 
will be recognized.

Guarantees. We will from time to time issue standby letters of 
credit, performance bonds or other guarantees in the normal course 
of business. The aggregate notional amount of all performance 
bonds and standby letters of credit is not material at December 31, 
2007, and all have a maturity of one year or less. Guarantees are 
issued from time to time to support the needs of our operating units.
 In connection with the sale of our risk management collections 
business to RMA Holdings, LLC, or RMA in October 2000, we 
guaranteed the operating lease payments of a partnership affi liated 
with RMA to a lender of the partnership pursuant to a term loan. 
The operating lease, which expires December 31, 2011, has a 
remaining balance of $5.3 million, based on the undiscounted 
value of remaining lease payments, including real estate taxes, at 
December 31, 2007. On September 12, 2005, RMA sold substantially 
all of its assets to NCO Group, Inc., or NCO. In conjunction with 
this sale, NCO agreed to assume the operating lease obligations 
discussed above, which we will continue to guarantee. We believe 
that the likelihood of demand for payment by us is minimal 
and expect no material losses to occur related to this guarantee. 
Accordingly, we do not have a liability on our Consolidated Balance 
Sheets at December 31, 2007 or 2006 related to this guarantee.

General Indemnifi cations. We are the lessee under many real estate 
leases. It is common in these commercial lease transactions for us, 
as the lessee, to agree to indemnify the lessor and other related 
third parties for tort, environmental and other liabilities that arise 
out of or relate to our use or occupancy of the leased premises. 
This type of indemnity would typically make us responsible to 
indemnifi ed parties for liabilities arising out of the conduct of, 
among others, contractors, licensees and invitees at or in connection 
with the use or occupancy of the leased premises. This indemnity 
often extends to related liabilities arising from the negligence of 
the indemnifi ed parties, but usually excludes any liabilities caused 
by either their sole or gross negligence and their willful misconduct.
 Certain of our credit agreements include provisions which require 
us to make payments to preserve an expected economic return to 
the lenders if that economic return is diminished due to certain 
changes in law or regulations. In certain of these credit agreements, 
we also bear the risk of certain changes in tax laws that would 
subject payments to non-U.S. lenders to withholding taxes.
 In conjunction with certain transactions, such as sales or 
purchases of operating assets or services in the ordinary course 
of business, or the disposition of certain assets or businesses, we 
sometimes provide routine indemnifi cations, the terms of which 
range in duration and sometimes are not limited.
 We cannot reasonably estimate our potential future payments 
under the indemnities and related provisions described above 
because we cannot predict when and under what circumstances 
these provisions may be triggered. We have no accrual related 
to indemnifications on our Consolidated Balance Sheets at 
December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Subsidiary Dividend and Fund Transfer Limitations. The ability 
of some of our subsidiaries and associated companies to transfer 
funds to us is limited, in some cases, by certain restrictions imposed 
by foreign governments, which do not, individually or in the 
aggregate, materially limit our ability to service our indebtedness, 
meet our current obligations or pay dividends.

Contingencies. We are involved in legal proceedings, claims and 
litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. We periodically 
assess our exposure related to these matters based on the information 
which is available. In accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting 
for Contingencies,” we have recorded accruals in our Consolidated 
Financial Statements for those matters in which it is probable that 
we have incurred a loss and the amount of the loss, or range of loss, 
can be reasonably estimated.
 During 2006, we recorded a $5.0 million loss contingency 
($3.0 million, net of tax) related to certain legal matters in our 
Personal Solutions operating segment. Of this $5.0 million, 
pretax, loss, $4.0 million was recognized in selling, general 
and administrative expenses and $1.0 million was recognized 
in cost of services on our Consolidated Statement of Income. In 
February 2007, we entered into a tentative settlement related to 
these litigation matters. The remaining accrual at December 31, 
2007 was less than $1.0 million.

EQU_FIN_PTR.cgla indd   68EQU_FIN_PTR.cgla indd   68 3/11/08   1:42:52 PM3/11/08   1:42:52 PM



 E Q U I FA X   |   2 0 0 7  A N N U A L R E P O RT  6 9

 During 2006, we also recorded a $4.0 million, pretax, loss 
contingency ($2.5 million, net of tax) associated with certain 
litigation matters within our USCIS operating segment on our 
Consolidated Balance Sheet. Of this $4.0 million, pretax, loss, 
$3.5 million was recognized in selling, general and administrative 
expenses and $0.5 million was recognized in cost of services on our 
Consolidated Statement of Income. Because this litigation remains 
pending, the liability at December 31, 2007 was $4.0 million.
 For other legal proceedings, claims and litigation, we have 
recorded loss contingencies that are immaterial, or we cannot reason-
ably estimate the potential loss because of uncertainties about the 
outcome of the matter and the amount of the loss or range of loss. 
We also accrue for unpaid legal fees for services performed to date. 
Although the fi nal outcome of these other matters cannot be predicted 
with certainty, any possible adverse outcome arising from these 
matters is not expected to have a material impact on our Consolidated 
Financial Statements, either individually or in the aggregate. 
However, our evaluation of the likely impact of these matters may 
change in the future.
 In June 2006, we consummated a $15.2 million cash settlement 
with certain former shareholder sellers of Naviant, Inc. In 2004, 
we served a demand for arbitration, alleging, among other things, 
that the sellers had breached various representations and warranties 
concerning information furnished to us in connection with our 
acquisition of Naviant in 2002. As a result of this settlement, we 
recognized a $14.1 million non-taxable gain in other income, net 
on our Consolidated Statement of Income for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2006. Additionally, the $15.2 million cash 
settlement was recorded in cash provided by operating activities 
on our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2006.

Tax Matters. In 2003, the Canada Revenue Agency, or CRA, issued 
Notices of Reassessment, asserting that Acrofax, Inc., a wholly-
owned Canadian subsidiary of Equifax, is liable for additional tax 
for the 1995 through 2000 tax years, related to certain intercompany 
capital contributions and loans. The additional tax sought by the 
CRA for these periods ranges, based on alternative theories, from 
$8.7 million ($8.5 million in Canadian dollars) to $19.4 million 
($19.0 million in Canadian dollars) plus interest and penalties. 
Subsequently in 2003, we made a statutorily-required deposit 
for a portion of the claim. We intend to vigorously contest these 
reassessments and do not believe we have violated any statutory 
provision or rule. While we believe our potential exposure is less 
than the asserted claims and not material to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements, if the fi nal outcome of this matter was 
unfavorable to us, an additional claim may be fi led by the local 
province. The likelihood and potential amount of such claim is 
unknown at this time. We cannot predict when this tax matter will 
be resolved.

6.
INCOME TAXES
We record deferred income taxes using enacted tax laws and rates 
for the years in which the taxes are expected to be paid. Deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the differences 
between the fi nancial reporting and income tax bases of assets and 
liabilities. See Note 1 for additional information about our income 
tax policy.
 The provision for income taxes from continuing operations 
consisted of the following:

     Twelve Months Ended December 31,

(In millions)  2007 2006 2005

Current:
 Federal  $  91.3 $  93.7 $  89.8
 State   8.1 6.0 10.2
 Foreign  48.1 44.3 32.8
      147.5 144.0 132.8
Deferred:
 Federal  4.3 (0.8) 13.9
 State   (0.6) (4.5) (3.0)
 Foreign  0.7 2.7 0.5
      4.4 (2.6) 11.4
Provision for income taxes  $151.9 $141.4 $144.2

 Domestic and foreign income from continuing operations 
before income taxes was as follows:

     Twelve Months Ended December 31,

(In millions)  2007 2006 2005

U.S.    $260.6 $298.0 $286.3
Foreign  164.0 117.9 104.4
      $424.6 $415.9 $390.7

 The provision for income taxes from continuing operations 
was reconciled with the U.S. federal statutory rate, as follows:

     Twelve Months Ended December 31,

(In millions)  2007 2006 2005

Federal statutory rate  35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Provision computed 
 at federal statutory rate  $148.6 $145.6 $136.8
State and local taxes, 
 net of federal tax benefit  3.6 0.6 4.6
Foreign  3.9 6.9 1.2
Valuation allowance  (2.6) (0.7) 0.4
Tax reserves*  1.7 (7.0) (1.8)
Other**  (3.3) (4.0) 3.0
Provision for income taxes  $151.9 $141.4 $144.2
Effective income tax rate  35.8% 34.0% 36.9%

 *  During the third quarter of 2006, the applicable statute of limitations related 
to uncertain tax positions expired, resulting in the reversal of the related income 
tax reserve. The reversal of the reserves resulted in a $9.5 million income tax 
benefit. This is reflected in tax reserves on the effective tax reconciliation and 
reduced our 2006 effective tax rate by 2.3%.

**  During the second quarter of 2006, we recognized a non-taxable gain of 
$14.1 million related to the litigation settlement with Naviant, Inc. The 
non-taxable gain reduced our 2006 effective rate by 1.3%.
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 Components of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

     December 31,

(In millions) 2007 2006

Deferred income tax assets:
 Employee pension benefits $    60.9 $    68.3
 Net operating and capital loss carryforwards 40.2 35.0
 Unrealized foreign exchange loss 8.2 26.9
 Foreign tax credits 19.5 21.4
 Employee compensation programs 25.4 18.8
 Reserves and accrued expenses 17.4 14.5
 Deferred revenue 7.2 7.4
 Other 9.7 0.3
Gross deferred income tax assets 188.5 192.6
 Valuation allowance (60.8) (74.8)
Total deferred income tax assets, net $   127.7 $    117.8
Deferred income tax liabilities:
 Goodwill and intangible assets (305.3) (99.4)
 Pension expense (74.4) (75.8)
 Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries (5.2) (4.4)
 Depreciation (2.7) (1.4)
 Other (6.1) (3.4)
Total deferred income tax liability (393.7) (184.4)
Net deferred income tax liability $(266.0) $  (66.6)

 Our deferred income tax assets, included in other current assets, 
and liabilities at December 31, 2007 and 2006, are included in 
the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as follows:

 December 31,
(In millions) 2007 2006

Current deferred income tax assets $     11.1 $    4.2
Long-term deferred income tax liabilities (277.1) (70.8)
Net deferred income tax liability $(266.0) $(66.6)

 We record deferred income taxes on the temporary differences 
of our foreign subsidiaries and branches, except for the temporary 
differences related to undistributed earnings of subsidiaries which 
we consider indefi nitely invested. We have indefi nitely invested 
$91.3 million attributable to pre-2004 undistributed earnings of 
our Canadian and Chilean subsidiaries. If the pre-2004 earnings 
were not considered indefi nitely invested, $7.6 million of deferred 
U.S. income taxes would have been provided. Such taxes, if 
ultimately paid, may be recoverable as U.S. foreign tax credits.
 As of December 31, 2007, we had a deferred tax asset of 
$8.2 million related to accumulated foreign currency translation 
losses for foreign locations, excluding adjustments for pre-2004 
Canadian and Chilean earnings. A full valuation allowance, included 
in accumulated other comprehensive loss, has been provided due 
to uncertainty of future realization of this deferred tax asset.
 At December 31, 2007, we had U.S. federal and state net 
operating loss carryforwards of $342.3 million which will expire 
at various times between 2012 and 2027. We also had foreign net 
operating loss carryforwards totaling $72.6 million of which 
$47.9 million will expire between 2012 and 2020 and the remaining 
$24.7 million will carryforward indefi nitely. U.S. federal and state 
capital loss carryforwards total $1.7 million at December 31, 2007, 
all of which will expire by 2011. Foreign capital loss carryforwards 
of $26.3 million may be carried forward indefi nitely. Additionally, 

we had foreign tax credit carryforwards of $19.5 million, of which 
$14.9 million will begin to expire between 2010 and 2015 and 
the remaining $4.6 million will be available to be utilized upon 
repatriation of foreign earnings. Tax-effected state net operating 
loss, capital loss, foreign tax credit carryforwards and other foreign 
deferred tax assets of $52.6 million have been fully reserved in 
the deferred tax asset valuation allowance.
 Cash paid for income taxes, net of amounts refunded, 
was $139.9 million, $144.9 million and $108.6 million during 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 
2005, respectively.

Adoption of FIN 48. We adopted FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. The 
impact of our reassessment of our tax positions in accordance with 
the requirements of FIN 48 was immaterial to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements.
 We recognize interest and penalties accrued related to 
unrecognized tax benefi ts in the provision for income taxes on our 
Consolidated Statements of Income. Our classifi cation of interest 
and penalties did not change as a result of adopting FIN 48.
 A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of 
unrecognized tax benefi ts is as follows:

(In millions)  Total

Balance at January 1, 2007  $26.7
Increases Related to Prior Year Tax Positions  1.5
Decreases Related to Prior Year Tax Positions  (0.8)
Increases Related to Current Year Tax Positions  2.3
Decreases Related to Settlements  (1.3)
Expiration of the Statute of Limitations 
 for the Assessment of Taxes  (0.6)
Purchase Accounting  0.4
Currency Translation Adjustment  1.2
Balance at December 31, 2007  $29.4

 We had a $34.1 million liability recorded for the unrecognized 
tax benefi ts as of January 1, 2007, which included interest and 
penalties of $7.4 million. As of January 1, 2007, the total amount 
of unrecognized benefi ts that, if recognized, would have affected 
the effective tax rate was $29.1 million, which included interest 
and penalties of $5.4 million. We have a $37.6 million liability 
recorded for the unrecognized tax benefi ts as of December 31, 2007, 
which includes interest and penalties of $8.2 million. The total 
amount of unrecognized benefi ts that, if recognized, would affect 
the effective tax rate is $30.0 million, which includes interest and 
penalties of $5.6 million. We accrued potential interest and penalties 
of $0.2 million related to unrecognized tax benefi ts during 2007.
 Equifax and its subsidiaries are subject to U.S federal, state 
and international income taxes. We are generally no longer subject 
to federal, state, or international income tax examinations by tax 
authorities for years before 2002, with few exceptions including 
those discussed below for Canada and the U.K. In Canada, we are 
under audit by the Canada Revenue Agency for the 1995 through 
2002 tax years (see Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements). For the U.K., tax years after 1999 are open for 
examination. Additionally, the Internal Revenue Service is currently 
examining our 2004 U.S. income tax return. Due to the potential 
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for resolution of Federal, state and foreign examinations, and 
the expiration of various statutes of limitations, it is reasonably 
possible that Equifax’s gross unrecognized tax benefi t balance 
may change within the next twelve months by a range of zero to 
$17.9 million, related primarily to issues involving the Brazilian 
and U.K. operations.

7.
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
We have two active share-based award plans that provide our 
offi cers and certain employees with stock options and nonvested 
stock. These plans are described below. Total stock-based 
compensation expense was $17.6 million, $17.4 million and 
$8.2 million, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, 
2006 and 2005, respectively, of which $15.7 million, $16.1 million 
and $8.2 million, respectively, was included in selling, general and 
administrative expenses and the remaining amount is included in 
cost of services in our Consolidated Statements of Income. The 
income tax benefi t related to stock-based compensation expense was 
$6.6 million, $8.9 million and $18.1 million for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
 SFAS 123R requires that benefi ts of tax deductions in excess 
of recognized compensation cost be reported as a fi nancing cash 
fl ow, rather than as an operating cash fl ow. This requirement reduced 
operating cash flows and increased financing cash flows by 
$7.0 million and $7.2 million during the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Stock Options.
Our shareholders have approved a stock option plan, the 2000 Stock 
Incentive Plan, which provides that qualifi ed and nonqualifi ed 
stock options may be granted to offi cers and other employees. In 
conjunction with our acquisition of TALX, we assumed options 
outstanding under the legacy TALX stock option plan, which was 
approved by TALX shareholders. In addition, stock options remain 
outstanding under two shareholder-approved plans and three 

non-shareholder-approved plans from which no new grants may be 
made. The 2000 Stock Incentive Plan requires that stock options 
be granted at exercise prices not less than market value on the date 
of grant. Generally, stock options are subject to graded vesting for 
periods of up to three years based on service, with 33% vesting 
for each year of completed service, and expire ten years from the 
grant date.
 We use the binomial model to calculate the fair value of stock 
options granted on or after January 1, 2006. The binomial model 
incorporates assumptions regarding anticipated employee exercise 
behavior, expected stock price volatility, dividend yield and risk-free 
interest rate. Anticipated employee exercise behavior and expected 
post-vesting cancellations over the contractual term used in the 
binomial model were primarily based on historical exercise patterns. 
These historical exercise patterns indicated there was not signifi cantly 
different exercise behavior between employee groups. For our 
expected stock price volatility assumption, we weighted historical 
volatility and implied volatility. We used daily observations for 
historical volatility, while our implied volatility assumption was 
based on actively traded options related to our common stock. 
The expected term is derived from the binomial model, based on 
assumptions incorporated into the binomial model as described 
above.
 The fair value for stock options granted during the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, was esti-
mated at the date of grant, using the binomial model (2007 and 
2006) and the Black-Scholes-Merton model (2005), respectively, 
with the following weighted-average assumptions:

     Twelve Months Ended December 31,

      2007 2006 2005

Dividend yield  0.5% 0.5% 0.5%
Expected volatility  22.4% 24.0% 33.0%
Risk-free interest rate  4.6% 4.8% 3.8%
Expected term (in years)  4.6 4.4 4.5
Weighted-average fair value 
 of stock options granted  $10.52 $8.33 $9.81

 The following table summarizes changes in outstanding stock options during the twelve months ended December 31, 2007, as well 
as stock options that are vested and expected to vest and stock options exercisable at December 31, 2007:

    Weighted-Average
   Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate
  Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Intrinsic Value
  (in thousands)  (in years) (in millions)

Outstanding at December 31, 2006  5,930 $24.95
Granted (all at market price)  2,742 $18.60
Exercised  (2,073) $16.15
Forfeited and cancelled  (115) $32.64
Outstanding at December 31, 2007  6,484 $24.94 5.1 $77.7
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2007  6,297 $24.61 5.0 $77.3
Exercisable at December 31, 2007  5,157 $21.52 4.3 $76.7
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 The aggregate intrinsic value amounts in the table above 
represent the difference between the closing price of Equifax’s 
common stock on December 31, 2007 and the exercise price, 
multiplied by the number of in-the-money stock options as of the 
same date. This represents the amount that would have been received 
by the stock option holders if they had all exercised their stock 
options on December 31, 2007. In future periods, this amount will 

change depending on fl uctuations in Equifax’s stock price. The total 
intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2007 was $48.6 million. At December 31, 
2007, our total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock 
options was $4.3 million with a weighted-average recognition 
period of 1.0 years.

 The following table summarizes changes in outstanding options and the related weighted-average exercise price per share for the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005:
 December 31,

 2006 2005

(Shares in thousands)   Shares Average Price Shares Average Price

Outstanding at the beginning of the year   6,453 $22.68 9,484 $20.76
Granted (all at market price)   825 $36.56 745 $30.99
Cancelled   (50) $29.36 (89) $25.06
Exercised   (1,298) $20.92 (3,687) $33.78
Outstanding at the end of the year   5,930 $24.95 6,453 $22.68
Exercisable at end of year   4,798 $23.03 5,309 $21.72

Nonvested Stock.
Our plan also provides for awards of nonvested shares of our 
common stock that can be granted to executive offi cers, employees 
and directors. Nonvested stock awards are generally subject to cliff 
vesting over a period between three to fi ve years based on service.
 The fair value of nonvested stock is based on the fair market 
value of our common stock on the date of grant. However, since 
our nonvested stock does not pay dividends during the vesting 
period, the fair value on the date of grant is reduced by the present 
value of the expected dividends over the requisite service period 
(discounted using the appropriate risk-free interest rate upon the 
adoption of SFAS 123R).
 The following table summarizes changes in our nonvested stock 
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2007 and the related 
weighted-average grant date fair value:

       Weighted-Average
       Grant Date
      Shares Fair Value
      (in thousands)

Nonvested at December 31, 2006  811  $31.64
Granted  297  $40.49
Vested   (257)  $40.29
Forfeited  (28)  $34.29
Nonvested at December 31, 2007  823  $38.33

 The total fair value of nonvested stock that vested during the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2007 was $10.4 million, 
based on the weighted-average fair value on the vesting date, and 
$7.3 million, based on the weighted-average fair value on the date 
of grant. At December 31, 2007, our total unrecognized compen-
sation cost related to nonvested stock was $12.7 million with a 
weighted-average recognition period of 1.8 years.
 The following table summarizes information about nonvested 
stock grants for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 
and 2005:

Year    Number of Shares Average Fair Value
      (in thousands)

2006  Grants 271 $36.97
    Cancellations (16) $27.90
2005  Grants 290 $32.28
    Cancellations (15) $29.12

 We expect to issue new shares of common stock or common 
shares held by our employee benefi ts trust upon the exercise of 
stock options or once nonvested shares vest. We have not changed 
our policies related to stock-based awards, such as the quantity 
or type of instruments issued, as a result of adopting SFAS 123R, 
nor have we changed the terms of our stock-based awards. At 
December 31, 2007, there were 5.6 million shares available for 
future stock option grants and nonvested stock awards.
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2005 Pro Forma Impact.
Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for stock-based compensation 
under APB 25 and related interpretations, as permitted by SFAS 123 
and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – 
Transitional Disclosure.” Accordingly, by our use of the intrinsic 
value method to account for stock-based employee compensation, 
we did not recognize compensation cost in connection with our 
stock option plans during the twelve months ended December 31, 
2005. If we had elected to recognize compensation cost for our 
stock option plans during the twelve months ended December 31, 
2005 based on the grant date fair value as prescribed by SFAS 123, 
net income and EPS would have been reduced to the pro forma 
amounts indicated in the table below:
 Twelve Months Ended
(In millions, except per share amounts) December 31, 2005

Net income, as reported  $246.5
Add: Total stock-based employee compensation 
 expense, net of related tax effect, included in 
 reported net income  5.2
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation 
 expense determined under fair value-based method 
 for all awards, net of related tax effects  (7.2)
Pro forma net income  $244.5
Earnings per share:
  Basic – as reported  $  1.90
  Basic – pro forma  $  1.88
  Diluted – as reported  $  1.86
  Diluted – pro forma  $  1.85

8.
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Employee Benefi t Trusts. We maintain three employee benefi t trusts 
for the purpose of satisfying obligations under certain benefi t plans. 
These trusts held 3.7 million and 3.9 million shares of Equifax 
stock with a value, at cost, of $57.7 million and $59.5 million at 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, as well as cash, which 
was not material for both periods presented. The three employee 
benefi ts trusts are as follows:
 •  The Employee Stock Benefits Trust, which constitutes a 

funding vehicle for a variety of employee benefit programs. 
Each year, this trust releases a certain number of shares which 
are distributed to employees in the course of share option 
exercises or nonvested share distributions upon vesting. The 
cash in this trust can also be used to satisfy our obligations 
under other benefit plans.

 •  The Executive Life and Supplemental Retirement Benefit 
Plan Grantor Trust is used to ensure that the insurance 
premiums due under the Executive Life and Supplemental 
Retirement Benefit Plan are paid in case we fail to make 
scheduled payments following a change in control, as defined 
in this trust agreement.

 •  The Supplemental Executive Retirement Plans Grantor Trust’s 
assets are dedicated to ensure the payment of benefits accrued 
under our Supplemental Executive Retirement Plans in case 
of a change in control, as defined in this trust agreement.

 The assets in these plans are subject to creditors claims in case 
of insolvency of Equifax Inc.

Rights Plan. Our Board of Directors has adopted a shareholder 
rights plan designed to protect our shareholders against abusive 
takeover attempts and tactics. The rights plan operates to dilute the 
interests of any person or group attempting to take control of 
the Company if the attempt is not deemed by our Board of Directors 
to be in the best interests of our shareholders. Under the rights 
agreement, as originally adopted in October 1995 and amended 
and restated in October 2005, holders of our common stock were 
granted one right to purchase common stock, or Right, for each 
outstanding share of common stock held of record on November 24, 
1995. All newly issued shares of common stock since that date have 
been accompanied by a Right. The Rights will become exercisable 
and trade independently from our common stock if a person or group 
acquires or obtains the right to acquire 20% or more of Equifax’s 
outstanding shares of common stock, or commences a tender or 
exchange offer that would result in that person or group acquiring 
20% or more of the outstanding common stock, in each case without 
the consent of our Board. In the event the Rights become exercisable, 
each holder (other than the acquiring person or group) will be 
entitled to purchase that number of shares of securities or other 
property of Equifax having a market value equal to two times the 
exercise price of the Right. If Equifax were acquired in a merger 
or other business combination, each Right would entitle its holder 
to purchase the number of the acquiring company’s common stock 
having a market value of two times the exercise price of the Right. 
In either case, our Board may choose to redeem the Rights for $0.01 
per Right before they become exercisable. The Rights will expire 
on November 6, 2015, unless earlier redeemed, exchanged or 
amended by the Board.
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9.
BENEFIT PLANS
We have defi ned benefi t pension plans and defi ned contribution 
plans. Substantially all U.S., Canadian and U.K. employees 
participate in one or more of these plans. We also maintain certain 
healthcare and life insurance benefi t plans for eligible retired 
employees. The measurement date for our defi ned benefi t pension 
plans and other postretirement benefi t plans is December 31st of 
each year.

Pension Benefi ts. Pension benefi ts are provided through U.S. and 
Canadian defi ned benefi t pension plans and two supplemental 
executive defi ned benefi t pension plans.

U.S. and Canadian Retirement Plans. We have one non-contributory 
qualifi ed retirement plan covering most U.S. salaried employees 
(the Equifax Inc. Pension Plan, or EIPP) and a defi ned benefi t plan 
for most salaried and hourly employees in Canada (the Canadian 
Retirement Income Plan, or CRIP). We also have a qualifi ed retire-
ment plan that covers U.S. salaried employees (the U.S. Retirement 
Income Plan, or USRIP) who terminated or retired before January 1, 
2005. Benefi ts from these plans are primarily a function of salary 
and years of service.
 In 2007 and 2006, we made discretionary contributions to the 
EIPP of $12.0 million and $20.0 million, respectively, and in 2006 
funded $2.0 million for our other postretirement benefi t plans. At 

December 31, 2007, the USRIP and the EIPP met or exceeded 
ERISA’s minimum funding requirements. We do not expect to have 
to make any minimum funding contributions under ERISA for 
2008 with respect to the USRIP or the EIPP, based on applicable 
law as currently in effect.
 The annual report produced by our consulting actuaries specifi es 
the funding requirements for our plans, based on projected benefi ts 
for plan participants, historical investment results on plan assets, 
current discount rates for liabilities, assumptions for future demo-
graphic developments, investment performance and recent changes 
in statutory requirements. We may elect to make additional 
discretionary contributions to our plans in excess of minimum 
funding requirements, subject to statutory limitations.

Supplemental Retirement Plans. We maintain two supplemental 
executive retirement programs for certain key employees. The plans, 
which are unfunded, provide supplemental retirement payments, 
based on salary and years of service.

Other Benefi ts. We maintain certain healthcare and life insurance 
benefi t plans for eligible retired employees. Substantially all of 
our U.S. employees may become eligible for the healthcare benefi ts 
if they reach retirement age while working for us and satisfy certain 
years of service requirements. The retiree life insurance program 
covers employees who retired on or before December 31, 2003. 
We accrue the cost of providing healthcare benefi ts over the active 
service period of the employee.

Obligations and Funded Status.
A reconciliation of the benefi t obligations, plan assets and funded status of the plans is as follows:

 Pension Benefits Other Benefits

(In millions) 2007 2006 2007 2006

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at January 1, $582.7 $579.7 $  30.7 $   30.2
Service cost 10.8 10.0 0.4 0.4
Interest cost 33.2 32.1 1.7 1.6
Plan participants’ contributions – – 1.1 0.9
Amendments 0.2 2.3 – –
Actuarial (gain) loss (14.0) (4.3) 3.4 1.9
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 7.7 0.1 – –
Retiree drug subsidy paid – – 0.4 0.1
Special termination beneifts – 0.5 – –
Benefits paid (39.0) (37.7) (4.8) (4.4)
Benefit obligation at December 31, 581.6 582.7 32.9 30.7

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at January 1, 579.2 529.4 17.3 13.8
Actual return on plan assets 41.6 64.0 1.7 1.5
Employer contributions 15.5 23.5 3.7 5.5
Plan participants’ contributions – – 1.1 0.9
Foreign currency exchange rate changes 9.3 – – –
Benefits paid (39.0) (37.7) (4.8) (4.4)
Fair value of plan assets at December 31, 606.6 579.2 19.0 17.3

Funded status of plan 25.0 (3.5) (13.9) (13.4)
Unrecognized prior service cost 5.9 6.7 3.1 3.6
Unrecognized actuarial loss 150.2 170.5 8.8 5.9
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $181.1 $173.7 $ (2.0) $   (3.9)
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 The accumulated benefi t obligation for the USRIP, EIPP, CRIP 
and Supplemental Retirement Plans was $553.7 million and 
$557.1 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
 At December 31, 2007, the Supplemental Retirement Plans had 
projected benefi t obligations and accumulated benefi t obligations 
in excess of those plans’ respective assets. The projected benefi t 
obligation, accumulated benefi t obligation and fair value of plan 
assets for these plans were $47.1 million, $43.6 million and zero, 
respectively, at December 31, 2007.
 At December 31, 2006, the Supplemental Retirement Plans had 
projected benefi t obligations and accumulated benefi t obligations 
in excess of those plans’ respective assets. The projected benefi t 
obligation, accumulated benefi t obligation and fair value of plan 
assets for these plans were $46.8 million, $43.7 million and zero, 
respectively, at December 31, 2006. The EIPP had a projected 
benefi t obligation of $108.2 million which is greater than the 

$103.9 million of plan assets; however, the plan assets were in 
excess of the $92.3 million accumulated benefi t obligation.
 The following table represents the net amounts recognized, or 
the funded status of our pension and other postretirement benefi t 
plans, in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2007 
and 2006:

     Pension Benefits Other Benefits

(In millions) 2007 2006 2007 2006

Amounts recognized 
 in the statements of 
 financial position 
 consist of:
Prepaid pension asset $   72.2 $   47.7 $    – $    –
Current liabilities (3.7) (3.5) – –
Long-term liabilities (43.5) (47.7) (13.9) (13.4)
Net amount recognized $   25.0 $   (3.5) $(13.9) $(13.4)

 Included in accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2007 and 2006, were the following amounts that have not yet 
been recognized in net periodic pension cost:
 Pension Benefi ts Other Benefi ts

(In millions)   2007 2006 2007 2006

Prior service cost, net of accumulated taxes of $2.2 and 
 $2.4 in 2007 and 2006, respectively, for pension benefits 
 and $1.1 and $1.3, respectively, for other benefits   $ 3.7 $  4.3 $2.0 $2.3
Net actuarial loss, net of accumulated taxes of $54.8 and 
 $62.4 in 2007 and 2006 for pension benefits and $3.2 
 and $2.2, respectively, for other benefits   95.2 108.1 5.6 3.7
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   $98.9 $112.4 $7.6 $6.0

 The following indicates amounts recognized in other comprehensive income during the twelve months ended December 31, 2007:

(In millions) Pension Benefi ts Other Benefi ts

Amounts arising during the period:
Net actuarial (gain) loss, net of taxes of $(4.7) for pension benefits and $1.2 for other benefits  $ (8.2)  $  2.1
Foreign currency exchange rate loss, net of taxes of $0.5 for pension benefits   0.8  –
Prior service cost, net of taxes of $0.1 for pension benefits    0.1  –
Amounts recognized in net periodic benefit cost during the period:
Recognized actuarial loss, net of taxes of $(3.3) for pension benefits and $(0.1) for other benefits (5.6)  (0.2)
Amortization of prior service cost, net of taxes of $(0.4) for pension benefits and $(0.2) for other benefits (0.6)  (0.3)
Total recognized in other comprehensive income      $(13.5)  $  1.6

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost.
 Pension Benefi ts Other Benefi ts

(In millions) 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Service cost $   10.8 $   10.0 $    7.7 $   0.4 $   0.4 $   0.4
Interest cost 33.2 32.1 31.8 1.7 1.6 1.6
Expected return on plan assets (42.9) (41.0) (40.5) (1.5) (1.2) (1.0)
Amortization of prior service cost 1.0 0.8 4.7 0.5 0.5 0.6
Recognized actuarial loss 8.9 10.0 8.3 0.3 0.2 –
Special termination benefit – 0.5 – – – –
Total net periodic benefit cost $   11.0 $  12.4 $   12.0 $   1.4 $   1.5 $   1.6

 The following represents the amount of prior service cost and actuarial loss included in accumulated other comprehensive loss that 
is expected to be recognized in net periodic benefi t cost during the twelve months ended December 31, 2008:

(In millions) Pension Benefi ts Other Benefi ts

Prior service cost, net of taxes of $0.4 for pension benefits and $0.1 for other benefits  $0.6  $0.3
Actuarial loss, net of taxes of $2.2 for pension benefits and $0.2 for other benefits  $3.9  $0.4
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Weighted-Average Assumptions.

Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine Benefi t Obligations at December 31, Pension Benefi ts Other Benefi ts

(In millions)   2007 2006 2007 2006

Discount rate   6.23% 5.86% 6.04% 5.84%
Rate of compensation increase   4.30% 4.28% N/A N/A

Weighted-Average Assumptions Used to Determine Net Periodic Benefi t Cost at December 31, Pension Benefi ts Other Benefi ts

(In millions) 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Discount rate 5.86% 5.68% 5.90% 5.84% 5.58% 5.92%
Expected return on plan assets 8.00% 7.99% 7.98% 8.00% 8.00% 8.00%
Rate of compensation increase 4.28% 4.28% 4.34% N/A N/A N/A

 The calculation of the net periodic benefi t cost for the USRIP, 
EIPP and CRIP utilizes a market-related value of assets. The 
market-related value of assets recognizes the difference between 
actual returns and expected returns over fi ve years at a rate of 20% 
per year.
 An initial 9.0% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of 
covered healthcare benefi ts was assumed for 2008. The rate was 
assumed to decrease gradually to an ultimate rate of 5.0% by 2012. 
Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a signifi cant effect on the 
amounts reported for the healthcare plan. A one-percentage point 
change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates at December 31, 2007 
would have had the following effects:

 1-Percentage 1-Percentage
(In millions) Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on total service and 
 interest cost components $0.2 $(0.2)
Effect on accumulated 
 postretirement benefit obligation $2.5 $(2.2)

 We estimate that the future benefi ts payable for our retirement 
and postretirement plans are as follows at December 31, 2007:

 U.S. Defined Non-U.S. Defined Other
Years Ending December 31, Benefit Plans Benefit Plans Benefit Plans

(In millions)

2008 $  37.8 $  2.5 $  3.8
2009 $  38.5 $  2.6 $  4.0
2010 $  38.6 $  2.6 $  3.9
2011 $  38.8 $  2.7 $  4.0
2012 $  39.3 $  2.8 $  3.8
Next five fiscal years 
 to December 31, 2017 $201.6 $15.3 $16.3

USRIP and EIPP, or the Plans, 
Investment and Asset Allocation Strategies.
The primary goal of the asset allocation strategy of the Plans is to 
produce a total investment return, employing the lowest possible 
level of fi nancial risk, which will: (1) satisfy annual cash benefi ts 
payments to the Plans’ participants and (2) maintain and increase 
the total market value of the Plans’ assets, after cash benefi ts 
payments, on a real (infl ation adjusted) basis. Maximization of total 
investment return is not, taken in isolation, a goal of the asset 
allocation strategies of the Plans. Return maximization is pursued 
subject to the asset allocation risk control constraints noted previ-
ously. The Plan’s investment managers are required to abide by the 
provisions of ERISA. Standards of performance for each manager 
include an expected return versus an assigned benchmark, a measure 
of volatility, and a time period of evaluation.
 The Plans’ asset allocation strategies are determined based upon 
guidelines provided by our external advisor. This forecasting process 
takes into account projected investment returns by asset category, 
the correlation among those returns, the standard deviation of those 
returns and the future pattern of actuarial liabilities to which the 
plan is obligated. Asset/liability forecasting is conducted periodically, 
as needed, utilizing input from our external consulting actuaries, 
and our external investment advisor. The Plans’ asset allocation and 
ranges are approved by in-house Plan Administrators, who are 
Named Fiduciaries under ERISA. Investment recommendations 
are made by our external advisor, working in conjunction with 
our in-house Investment Offi cer. The expected return on plan assets 
assumption of 8.00% and 8.25% for the USRIP and the EIPP, 
respectively, in 2007 was based on the 50th percentile return from 
our asset/liability forecasting process.
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 The Plans, in an effort to meet their asset allocation objectives, 
utilize a variety of asset classes which have historically produced 
returns which are relatively uncorrelated to those of the S&P 500. 
Asset classes included in this category are alternative assets (hedge 
fund-of-funds), venture capital (including secondary private equity) 
and real estate. The primary benefi ts to the Plans of using these 
types of asset classes are: (1) their non-correlated returns reduce 
the overall volatility of the Plans’ portfolio of assets, and (2) they 
produce superior risk-adjusted returns. Additionally, the Plans allow 
certain of their managers, subject to specifi c risk constraints, to 
utilize derivative instruments, in order to enhance asset return, reduce 
volatility or both. Derivatives are primarily employed by the Plans 
in their fi xed income portfolios and in the hedge fund-of-funds area.
 The Plans are prohibited from investing additional amounts 
in Equifax stock once the market value of stock held by each plan 
exceeds 10% of the total market value of each plan. At both 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, the USRIP’s assets included 
0.9 million shares of Equifax common stock, with a market value 
of $33.6 million and $37.5 million, respectively. At December 31, 
2007 and 2006, the EIPP’s assets included 0.1 million shares of 
Equifax common stock for both periods, with a market value 
of $3.9 million and $4.3 million, respectively. Not more than 5% 
of the portfolio (at cost) shall be invested in the securities of any 
one issuer, with the exceptions of Equifax common stock, and 
U.S. Treasury and government agency securities.
 During 2007, the Equifax Master Trust entered into certain 
allowed derivative arrangements in order to minimize potential 
losses in the Plans’ assets. The Company bears no responsibility 
or liability under these arrangements.
 The following USRIP and EIPP asset allocation ranges and 
actual allocations were in effect as of December 31, 2007 and 2006:

     Actual

USRIP   Range 2007 2006

Large-Cap Equity  15%–35% 20.6% 23.3%
Mid-Cap Equity  2%–10% 7.3% 8.0%
Small-Cap Equity  2%–10% 5.8% 6.7%
International Equity  10%–30% 17.5% 20.7%
Private Equity  2%–8% 6.2% 6.4%
Hedge Funds  15%–30% 19.4% 19.1%
Real Assets  2%–10% 1.7% 2.5%
Fixed Income  10%–25% 12.3% 11.4%
Cash    0%–15% 9.2% 1.9%

EIPP
Large-Cap Equity  15%–35% 26.6% 25.3%
Mid-Cap Equity  3%–10% 3.0% 13.9%
Small-Cap Equity  2%–10% 3.3% 7.4%
International Equity  10%–30% 20.7% 15.4%
Private Equity  2%–10% 3.0% 2.9%
Hedge Funds  15%–25% 14.3% 14.4%
Real Assets  5%–15% 11.7% 13.0%
Fixed Income  5%–20% 6.1% 6.8%
Cash    0%–15% 11.3% 0.9%

CRIP Investment and Asset Allocation Strategies.
The Pension Committee of the CRIP has retained an investment 
manager who has the discretion to invest in various asset classes 
with the care, skill, and diligence expected of professional prudence. 
The CRIP has a separate custodian of those assets, which are 
held in various segregated pooled funds. The Pension Committee 
maintains an investment policy for the CRIP, which imposes certain 
limitations and restrictions regarding allowable types of investments. 
The current investment policy imposes those restrictions on 
investments or transactions such as (1) Equifax common stock 
or securities, except as might be incidental to any pooled funds 
which the plan may have, (2) commodities or loans, (3) short sales 
and the use of margin accounts, (4) put and call options, (5) private 
placements, and (6) transactions which are “related-party” in nature 
as specifi ed by the Canadian Pension Benefi ts Standards Act and 
its regulations.
 Each pooled fund is associated with an asset classifi cation, which 
has a primary investment objective. The objective for each asset 
class is related to a standard investment index and to a period of 
four-years. The following includes the objectives for each of the 
current fi ve asset classes:

Asset Class Four-Year Objective

Canadian Equities S&P/TSX Composite Total Return 
  Index plus 1.5%
U.S. Equities S&P 500 Total Return Index plus 1.5%
   (Canadian $)
International Equities MSCI EAFE Total Return Index plus 1.5%
   (Canadian $)
Fixed Income Scotia Capital Universe Bond Index plus 0.5%
Money Market Scotia Capital 91-Day Treasury Bill 
  Index plus 0.3%

 The plan’s manager derives its investment return projections 
using several criteria. The determination of projected infl ation is 
necessary to apply the premium to compute the nominal return 
for each asset class. The risk premium is based on historical studies 
of capital markets. The real return expectations for the various 
asset classes are based on historical relationships that acknowledge 
the risk premium inherent among the various asset classes. The 
nominal return, computed as described above, is then adjusted 
for various market and economic factors, including the status of 
the economic cycle, currency issues, the direction of interest rates, 
and price/earnings multiples. Next, specifi c time-weighted return 
targets are set for the total fund, based on a benchmark portfolio 
return. The Pension Committee expects the investment manager 
to exceed that return by a predetermined value over a certain period.
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 The following specifi es the asset allocation ranges and actual 
allocation as of December 31, 2007 and 2006:

     Actual

CRIP    Range 2007 2006

Canadian Equities  30%–50% 39.1% 37.7%
U.S. Equities  9%–29% 19.3% 20.4%
International Equities  0%–19% 9.5% 12.0%
Fixed Income  20%–40% 30.0% 29.8%
Money Market  0%–10% 2.1% 0.1%

 The investment goal is to achieve the composite return calculated 
based on the above benchmark allocation plus 1% over successive 
four-year periods. An additional objective is to provide a real rate 
of return of 3.0% when compared with the Canadian Consumer 
Price Index, also over successive four-year periods. The actual 
investment returns for the CRIP were 1.7% for 2007 and 14.1% 
for 2006.

Equifax Retirement Savings Plans. Equifax sponsored two tax 
qualifi ed defi ned contribution plans in 2007, the Equifax Inc. 401(k) 
Plan, or Equifax Plan, and the TALX Corporation Savings and 
Retirement Plan, or TALX Plan. The Company assumed sponsor-
ship of the TALX Plan upon the acquisition of TALX. The TALX 
Plan was subsequently merged into the Equifax Plan.
 The Group Plans Administrative Committee governs both plans 
and determines the employer matching contributions, within 
specified ranges, for the benefit of eligible employees of each 
respective plan. The employer matching contributions to the TALX 
Plan were invested according to participant direction. The employer 
matching contributions to the Equifax Plan are invested in the 
Equifax Stock Fund, a unitized stock fund investment option within 
the Equifax Plan. Participants may divest of this stock fund into 
other available investment options within the Equifax Plan at any 
time. Our matching contributions are expensed. Expenses for the 
two plans in 2007 were $5.6 million. Expenses for the Equifax Plan 
in 2006 and 2005 were $3.7 million and $3.8 million, respectively.

Foreign Retirement Plans. We also maintain defi ned contribution 
plans for certain employees in the U.K. and Canada. For the years 
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, our expenses related 
to these plans were not material.

Deferred Compensation Plans. We maintain deferred compensation 
plans that allow for certain management employees and the Board 
of Directors to defer the receipt of compensation (such as salary, 
incentive compensation, commissions, and/or stock from the 
exercise of stock options or vested shares) until a later date based 
on the terms of the plans. The benefi ts under our deferred compensa-
tion plans are guaranteed by the assets of a grantor trust which, 
through our funding, purchased variable life insurance policies on 
certain consenting individuals, with this trust as benefi ciary. The 
purpose of this trust is to ensure the distribution of benefi ts accrued 
by participants of the deferred compensation plans in case of a 
change in control, as defi ned in the trust agreement.

Long-Term Incentive Plan. We have a shareholder-approved Key 
Management Incentive Plan (Annual Incentive Plan) for certain 
key offi cers that provides for annual or long-term cash awards at 
the end of various measurement periods, based on the earnings per 
share and/or various other criteria over the measurement period. 
Our total accrued incentive compensation for all incentive plans 
included in accrued salaries and bonuses on our Consolidated 
Balance Sheets was $53.6 million and $34.8 million at December 31, 
2007 and 2006, respectively.

10. 
SEVERANCE CHARGE
During the fourth quarter of 2006, we approved a plan for certain 
organizational changes, effective January 1, 2007. This plan provided 
for the realignment of our operations, resulting in the elimination 
of approximately 170 positions, with expected payments totaling 
$6.4 million, pre-tax, and $4.0 million, net of tax. In accordance 
with SFAS No. 112, “Employer’s Accounting for Postemployment 
Benefi ts – An Amendment of FASB Statements No. 5 and 43,” the 
severance cost liabilities were recognized in 2006 as payment was 
probable and estimable under existing plans. The realignment 
activities provided for by this plan were substantially complete at 
December 31, 2007.

11. 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

SUNTRUST BANKS, INC., OR SUNTRUST
We consider SunTrust a related party because L. Phillip Humann, 
a member of our Board of Directors, was the Chairman and Chief 
Executive Offi cer of SunTrust through January 1, 2007, and has 
continued to serve as SunTrust’s Chairman since that date. Larry L. 
Prince, a member of our Board of Directors, is also a director of 
SunTrust. Our relationships with SunTrust are described more 
fully as follows:
 •  We paid SunTrust $4.2 million, $3.1 million and $3.2 million, 

respectively, during the twelve months ended December 31, 
2007, 2006 and 2005 for services such as lending, foreign 
exchange, debt underwriting, cash management, trust, invest-
ment management, acquisition valuation, and shareholder 
services relationships.

 •  We also provide credit management services to SunTrust, as a 
customer, from whom we recognized revenue of $6.0 million, 
$4.9 million and $3.9 million, respectively, during the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. 
The corresponding outstanding accounts receivable balances 
due from SunTrust at December 31, 2007 and 2006 
were immaterial.
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 •  We have an $850.0 million Senior Credit Facility, as 
amended during the second quarter of 2007, with a group 
of banks, of which SunTrust is committed to $115.0 million. 
At December 31, 2007 and 2006, SunTrust’s portion of 
the outstanding borrowings under this facility totaled 
$50.7 million and $3.8 million, respectively.

 •  SunTrust is the holder of our $12.5 million mortgage 
obligation on the facility that houses our Atlanta, Georgia 
data center, which we acquired on July 26, 2007.

 •  SunTrust provides the $29.0 million synthetic lease facility 
related to our Atlanta corporate headquarters building. As 
of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the amount of this facility 
was $29.0 million.

 •  A subsidiary of SunTrust, AMA/Lighthouse, Inc., owned a 
24.9% minority interest in Lighthouse Investment Partners, 
L.L.C., which provides investment management services for 
our USRIP; SunTrust sold its minority interest in January 
2008. We had a similar arrangement with another of 
SunTrust’s subsidiaries, Trusco Capital Management, Inc., 
during 2005 and early 2006. As of December 31, 2007 and 
2006, a total of $30.1 million and $26.8 million, respectively, 
of USRIP assets were managed by one or both of these 
subsidiaries of SunTrust.

 •  SunTrust is a dealer under our commercial paper program. 
Fees paid to the dealers related to our issuance of commercial 
paper were immaterial during the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2007.

 •  SunTrust Robinson Humphrey served as underwriter for our 
public offering of $550.0 million of Notes in June 2007 for 
which they were paid underwriting fees of approximately 
$0.4 million.

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., OR B OF A
We consider B of A a related party because Jacquelyn M. Ward, a 
member of our Board of Directors, is also a director of B of A. Our 
relationships with B of A are described more fully as follows:
 •  We provide credit management services to B of A, as a 

customer, from whom we recognized revenue of $35.3 million, 
$37.1 million and $26.6 million, respectively, during the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. 
The corresponding outstanding accounts receivable balances 
due from B of A at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were 
$6.0 million and $5.5 million, respectively.

 •  As referenced above under SunTrust, we have an $850.0 million 
Senior Credit Facility, as amended during the second quarter 
of 2007, with a group of banks, of which B of A is committed 
to $115.0 million. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, B of A’s 
portion of the outstanding borrowings under this facility 
totaled $50.7 million and $3.8 million, respectively.

 •  B of A extends an uncommitted $25.0 million working capital 
line of credit to Equifax. The facility is cancelable at the 
discretion of either party. The uncommitted working capital 
line, at both December 31, 2007 and 2006, had an outstanding 
balance of zero.

 •  Bank of America Corporation provides investment management 
services for the USRIP and EIPP through its subsidiary, Bank 
of America Capital Advisors, LLC. At December 31, 2007 
and 2006, a total of $5.0 million and $7.1 million, respectively, 
of USRIP and EIPP assets were managed by this subsidiary.

 •  At December 31, 2007 and 2006, B of A was the counterparty 
on interest rate swaps related to our headquarters building 
lease with us with a notional value of $29.0 million.

 •  B of A is a dealer under our commercial paper program. Fees 
paid to the dealers related to our issuance of commercial 
paper were immaterial during the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2007.

 •  B of A Securities, LLC served as underwriter for our public 
offering of $550.0 million of Notes in June 2007 for which they 
were paid underwriting fees of approximately $1.4 million.

FIDELITY NATIONAL INFORMATION 
SERVICES, INC., OR FNIS
We consider FNIS a related party because Lee A. Kennedy, one 
of our directors, is President and Chief Executive Offi cer and a 
Director of FNIS. We sell telecommunication credit information 
reports and customer portfolio reviews to FNIS. Revenue from FNIS, 
as a customer, for credit disclosure reports and portfolio reviews 
was not material during the twelve months ended December 31, 
2007, 2006 and 2005. The corresponding outstanding accounts 
receivable balances due from FNIS at December 31, 2007 and 
2006 were also immaterial. In addition, FNIS provides customer 
invoice and disclosure notifi cation printing and mailing services to 
us. Amounts paid to FNIS for fulfi llment services were $11.5 million, 
$10.5 million and $10.0 million for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

12.
SEGMENT INFORMATION
Organizational Realignment. Effective January 1, 2007, we 
implemented certain organizational changes as a result of a strategic 
review of our business. The changes to our internal structure 
changed our operating segments to the following: U.S. Consumer 
Information Solutions, International, North America Personal 
Solutions and North America Commercial Solutions. U.S. Consumer 
Information Solutions consists of the former Marketing Services 
and North America Information Services, excluding U.S. 
Commercial Services and Canada. North America Commercial 
Solutions represents our former commercial business for the 
U.S. and Canada that was within North America Information 
Services as well as our October 2006 acquisition of Austin-Tetra. 
International consists of our consumer business in Canada and all 
of our businesses in Europe and Latin America. North America 
Personal Solutions remained unchanged. Our fi nancial results 
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 have 
been recast below to refl ect our new organizational structure.
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Reportable Segments. Effective with our organizational realignment 
on January 1, 2007 and the acquisition of TALX on May 15, 2007, 
we manage our business and report our fi nancial results through 
the following fi ve reportable segments, which are the same as our 
operating segments:
 •  U.S. Consumer Information Solutions
 •  TALX
 •  International
 •  North America Personal Solutions
 •  North America Commercial Solutions

 The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same 
as those described in our summary of signifi cant accounting policies 
(see Note 1). We evaluate the performance of these reportable 
segments based on their operating revenues, operating income and 
operating margins, excluding any unusual or infrequent items, if 
any. Inter-segment sales and transfers are not material for all periods 
presented. The measurement criteria for segment profi t or loss 
and segment assets are substantially the same for each reportable 
segment. All transactions between segments are accounted for at 
cost, and no timing differences occur between segments.
 A summary of segment products and services under our new 
organizational structure is as follows:

U.S. Consumer Information Solutions. This segment includes 
consumer information services (such as credit information and 
credit scoring, credit modeling services, locate services, fraud 
detection and prevention services, identity verifi cation services 
and other consulting services); mortgage loan origination information 
services; credit card marketing services; and consumer demographic 
and lifestyle information services.

TALX. This segment includes employment and income verifi cation 
services (known as The Work Number) and employment tax and 
talent management services.

International. This segment includes information services products, 
which includes consumer and commercial services (such as credit 
and fi nancial information, credit scoring and credit modeling 
services), credit marketing products and services, and products 
and services sold directly to consumers.

North America Personal Solutions. This segment includes credit 
information, credit monitoring and identity theft protection 
products sold directly to consumers via the Internet and in various 
hard-copy formats.

North America Commercial Solutions. This segment includes 
commercial products and services such as business credit and 
demographic information, credit scores and portfolio analytics 
(decisioning tools), which are derived from our databases of 
business credit and fi nancial information.
 Segment information for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2007, 2006 and 2005 and as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 is 
as follows:

     Twelve Months Ended
     December 31,

(In millions)  2007 2006 2005

Operating revenue:
U.S. Consumer 
 Information Solutions  $   969.7 $   968.1 $   933.3
International  472.8 402.8 358.3
North America Personal Solutions 153.5 126.0 114.7
North America Commercial Solutions 67.6 49.4 37.1
TALX   179.4 – –
  Total operating revenue  $1,843.0 $1,546.3 $1,443.4

     Twelve Months Ended
     December 31,

(In millions)  2007 2006 2005

Operating income:
U.S. Consumer 
 Information Solutions  $  383.5 $  395.7 $392.2
International  141.1 118.1 100.8
North America Personal Solutions 34.0 13.6 13.5
North America Commercial Solutions 12.0 9.9 4.4
TALX   29.3 – –
General Corporate Expense  (113.7) (101.2) (88.9)
  Total operating income  $  486.2 $  436.1 $422.0

     Twelve Months Ended
     December 31,

(In millions)  2007 2006 2005

Operating revenue:
Online Consumer 
 Information Solutions  $   639.0 $   619.2 $   594.5
Mortgage Reporting Solutions  66.1 71.7 85.1
Credit Marketing Services  156.4 166.3 150.7
Direct Marketing Services  108.2 110.9 103.0
  Total U.S. Consumer 
    Information Solutions  969.7 968.1 933.3
Europe   183.8 153.6 142.0
Latin America  182.5 154.0 126.7
Canada Consumer  106.5 95.2 89.6
  Total International  472.8 402.8 358.3
North America Personal Solutions 153.5 126.0 114.7
North America Commercial Solutions 67.6 49.4 37.1
The Work Number  72.6 – –
Tax and Talent Management Services 106.8 – –
  Total TALX  179.4 – –
  Total operating revenue  $1,843.0 $1,546.3 $1,443.4
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     December 31,

(In millions)   2007 2006

Total assets:
U.S. Consumer Information Solutions  $   973.6 $   988.2
International   652.0 574.4
North America Personal Solutions  15.5 14.3
North America Commercial Solutions  78.2 72.4
TALX    1,575.7 –
General Corporate   228.9 141.3
 Total assets   $3,523.9 $1,790.6

     Twelve Months Ended
     December 31,

(In millions)  2007 2006 2005

Depreciation and amortization expense:
U.S. Consumer Information Solutions $  47.0 $46.1 $47.2
International  21.4 19.2 18.4
North America Personal Solutions 2.9 3.0 2.7
North America Commercial Solutions 5.5 4.2 3.8
TALX   38.3 – –
General Corporate  12.6 10.3 10.1
 Total depreciation and 
  amortization expense  $127.7 $82.8 $82.2

     Twelve Months Ended December 31,

(In millions)  2007 2006 2005

Capital expenditures:
U.S. Consumer Information Solutions $  23.3 $32.0 $31.1
International  23.0 11.1 8.4
North America Personal Solutions 5.0 2.9 2.1
North America Commercial Solutions 1.0 0.8 0.1
TALX   6.4 – –
General Corporate  59.8 5.2 4.5
 Total capital expenditures  $118.5 $52.0 $46.2

 Financial information by geographic area is as follows:
  Twelve Months Ended
  December 31,

 2007 2006 2005

(In millions) Amount % Amount % Amount %

Operating revenue (based on location of customer):
U.S. $1,344.5 73% $1,120.5 72% $1,063.9 73%
Canada 132.2 7% 118.2 8% 110.8 8%
U.K. 158.0 9% 135.0 9% 124.3 9%
Brazil 83.0 4% 78.0 5% 67.4 5%
Other 125.3 7% 94.6 6% 77.0 5%
 Total operating revenue $1,843.0 100% $1,546.3 100% $1,443.4 100%

  December 31,

 2007 2006

(In millions)   Amount % Amount %

Long-Lived assets:
U.S.   $2,384.5 77% $898.3 62%
Canada   119.2 4% 114.6 8%
U.K.   131.3 4% 126.8 9%
Brazil   169.0 5% 141.5 10%
Other   294.9 10% 164.2 11%
 Total long-lived assets   $3,098.9 100% $1,445.4 100%
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13.
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
Quarterly fi nancial data for 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

  Three Months Ended

(In millions, except per share data)    March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2007
Operating revenue   $405.1 $454.5 $492.5 $490.9
Operating income   $117.0 $119.8 $129.2 $120.2
Net income   $  69.0 $  70.1 $  67.9 $  65.7
Basic earnings per common share*   $  0.55 $  0.52 $  0.49 $  0.50
Diluted earnings per common share*   $  0.54 $  0.51 $  0.48 $  0.49

  Three Months Ended

(In millions, except per share data)    March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,

2006
Operating revenue   $374.0 $387.7 $394.6 $390.0
Operating income   $109.2 $  96.4 $120.6 $109.9
Net income   $  62.9 $  69.6 $  78.9 $  63.1
Basic earnings per common share*   $  0.49 $  0.54 $  0.62 $  0.50
Diluted earnings per common share*   $  0.48 $  0.53 $  0.61 $  0.50

*  The sum of the quarterly EPS does not equal the annual EPS due to changes in the weighted-average shares between periods.

 The comparability of our quarterly fi nancial results during 
2007 and 2006 were impacted by certain events, as follows:
 •  During 2007 and 2006, we made several acquisitions, 

including TALX and a credit reporting business located in 
Peru during 2007 and Austin-Tetra during 2006. For additional 
information about these acquisitions, see Note 2 of the Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements.

 •  During the second and third quarters of 2006, there were 
several litigation matters that had an impact on our 

Consolidated Financial Statements, including litigation loss 
contingencies recorded by our North America Personal 
Solutions and USCIS operating segments and the non-taxable 
gain related to our settlement of claims we had against the 
former owners of Naviant, Inc. discussed further in Note 5.

 •  During the fourth quarter of 2006, we recorded a severance 
charge of $6.4 million ($4.0 million, net of tax) related to 
an organizational realignment.
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Item 9.
CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS 
WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING 
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

Item 9A.
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Our management, with the participation of our chief executive 
offi cer and chief fi nancial offi cer, evaluated our disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defi ned in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchange Act) as of 
December 31, 2007.
 No system of controls, no matter how well designed and 
operated, can provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the 
system of controls are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide 
absolute assurance that the system of controls has operated 
effectively in all cases. Our disclosure controls and procedures, 
however, are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the 
objectives of disclosure controls and procedures are met.
 Based on the evaluation discussed above, our chief executive 
offi cer and chief fi nancial offi cer have concluded that our disclosure 
controls and procedures were, as of December 31, 2007, effective 
and designed to provide reasonable assurance that information 
required to be disclosed by us in reports we fi le or submit under 
the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized, and 
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules 
and forms, and (2) is accumulated and communicated to our 
management, including our chief executive offi cer and chief 
fi nancial offi cer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosures.

INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management’s annual report on internal control over fi nancial 
reporting is included in Item 8 on page 49 and is incorporated 
by reference.
 The report of our independent registered public accounting fi rm 
on our internal control over fi nancial reporting is included in 
Item 8 on page 50 and is incorporated by reference.
 Upon our acquisition of TALX Corporation on May 15, 2007, 
we expanded our internal control over fi nancial reporting to include 
TALX’s results of operations, fi nancial statement disclosures and 
certain processes and systems that were integrated during 2007. 
There were no other changes in our internal control over fi nancial 
reporting (as defi ned in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) 
that occurred during the fourth fi scal quarter of 2007 that have 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, 
our internal control over fi nancial reporting.

PART I I I

Item 10.
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
OF THE REGISTRANT
Information required by Item 10 of Part III regarding our directors, 
nominees, and audit committee fi nancial experts is included in 
the sections captioned “Corporate Governance and Board Matters” 
and “Section 16(a) Benefi cial Ownership Reporting Compliance” 
in our defi nitive Proxy Statement, or 2008 Proxy Statement, relating 
to the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 9, 2008, to 
be fi led with the SEC within 120 days after December 31, 2007, 
and is incorporated herein by reference.
 Information regarding our Executive Offi cers required by 
Item 10 of Part III is set forth in Item 1 of Part I “Business – 
Executive Offi cers of the Registrant.”
 Information regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is included in the section of 
our 2008 Proxy Statement captioned “Section 16(a) Benefi cial 
Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and is incorporated herein 
by reference.
 Equifax has adopted codes of ethics and business conduct 
applicable to all directors, offi cers and employees, available at 
www.equifax.com/corp/aboutefx/ethics/main.shtml, or in print upon 
request to the Corporate Secretary, Equifax Inc., P.O. Box 4081, 
Atlanta, Georgia, 30302. We will post any amendments to the code 
of ethics and business conduct, and any waivers that are required 
to be disclosed by the rules of either the SEC or the New York 
Stock Exchange on our Internet site.

Item 11.
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information required by Item 11 of Part III is included in the sections 
of our 2008 Proxy Statement captioned “Executive Compensation,” 
“Director Compensation,” “Compensation Committee Interlocks 
and Insider Participation,” and “Compensation, Human Resources 
and Management Succession Committee Report” and is incorporated 
herein by reference.
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Item 12.
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF 
CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS 
AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Information required by Item 12 of Part III is included in the section 
of our 2008 Proxy Statement captioned “Stock Ownership” and 
is incorporated herein by reference.

Securities Authorized for Issuance 
Under Equity Compensation Plans
Information required by Item 12 regarding the securities authorized 
for issuance under our equity compensation plans is included in 
the section captioned “Equity Compensation Plan Information” 
in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders 
to be held May 9, 2008. This Proxy Statement will be fi led with 
the SEC and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13.
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND 
RELATED TRANSACTIONS, 
AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information required by Item 13 of Part III is included in the section 
of our 2008 Proxy Statement captioned “Corporate Governance 
and Board Matters,” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14.
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT 
FEES AND SERVICES
Information required by Item 14 of Part III is included in the section 
of our 2008 Proxy Statement captioned “Principal Accountant Fees 
and Services” and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

Item 15.
EXHIBITS AND 
FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) List of Documents Filed as a Part of This Report:
 (1)  Financial Statements. The following fi nancial statements 

are included in Item 8 of Part II:
  •  Consolidated Balance Sheets – December 31, 2007 

and 2006;
  •  Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended 

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005;
  •  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years 

Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005;
  •  Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity 

and Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005; and

  •  Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
 (2) Financial Statement Schedules.
  •  Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

 All other schedules for which provision is made in the 
applicable accounting regulation of the SEC are not required 
under the related instructions or are inapplicable and, therefore, 
have been omitted.
 (3)  Exhibits. A list of the exhibits required to be fi led as part 

of this Report by Item 601 of Regulation S-K is set forth 
in the Exhibit Index on page 86-89 of this Form 10-K, which 
immediately precedes such exhibits, and is incorporated 
herein by reference.

(b) Exhibits. See Item 15(a)(3).
(c)  Financial Statement Schedules. See Item 15(a)(2).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report 
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly 
authorized, on February 27, 2008.

  EQUIFAX Inc.
  (Registrant)

 By:

  /s/ RICHARD F. SMITH

  Richard F. Smith
  Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer

 We, the undersigned directors and executive offi cers of 
Equifax Inc., hereby severally constitute and appoint Lee Adrean 
and Nuala M. King, and each of them singly, our true and lawful 
attorneys with full power to them and each of them to sign for us, 
and in our names in the capacities indicated below, any and all 
amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K fi led with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and 
confirming our signatures as they may be signed by our said 
attorneys to any and all amendments to said Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.

  /s/ RICHARD F. SMITH

  Richard F. Smith
  Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer

  /s/ LEE ADREAN

  Lee Adrean
  Corporate Vice President and 
    Chief Financial Offi cer 

(Principal Financial Offi cer)

  /s/ NUALA M. KING

  Nuala M. King
  Senior Vice President and 
    Corporate Controller 

(Principal Accounting Offi cer)

  /s/ WILLIAM W. CANFIELD

  William W. Canfi eld
  Director

  /s/ JOHN L. CLENDENIN

  John L. Clendenin
  Director

  /s/ JAMES E. COPELAND, JR.

  James E. Copeland, Jr.
  Director

  /s/ ROBERT D. DALEO

  Robert D. Daleo
  Director

  /s/ WALTER W. DRIVER, JR.

  Walter W. Driver, Jr.
  Director

  /s/ MARK L. FEIDLER

  Mark L. Feidler
  Director

  /s/ L. PHILLIP HUMANN

  L. Phillip Humann
  Director

  /s/ LEE A. KENNEDY

  Lee A. Kennedy
  Director

  /s/ SIRI S. MARSHALL

  Siri S. Marshall
  Director

  /s/ LARRY L. PRINCE

  Larry L. Prince
  Director

  /s/ MARK B. TEMPLETON

  Mark B. Templeton
  Director

  /s/ JACQUELYN M. WARD

  Jacquelyn M. Ward
  Director

 Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on 
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 27, 2008.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description

 Plan of Acquisition, Reorganization, Arrangement, Liquidation or Succession
 2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger dated February 14, 2007, among Equifax Inc., TALX Corporation and Chipper Corporation 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Equifax’s Form 8-K fi led February 15, 2007).

 Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws
 3.1  Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Equifax Inc. as amended to date (incorporated by reference to Exhibit B 

to Equifax’s Schedule 14A fi led March 27, 1996).
 3.2  Bylaws of Equifax Inc. as amended to date (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2(I) to Equifax’s Form 8-K fi led 

 September 18, 2007).

 Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders, Including Indentures
 4.1  Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, dated as of October 14, 2005, between Equifax Inc. and SunTrust Bank, as Rights 

Agent, which includes as Exhibit A the form of Rights Certifi cate and as Exhibit B the Summary of Rights (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Equifax’s Form 8-K fi led on October 18, 2005).

 4.2  Form of Indenture dated as of June 29, 1998 between Equifax Inc. and The First National Bank of Chicago, Trustee (under 
which Equifax’s 6.9% Debentures due 2028 were issued) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to Equifax’s Form 10-K 
fi led March 31, 1999).

 4.3  First Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 28, 2007 between Equifax Inc. and The Bank of New York Trust Company, 
N.A. (under which Equifax’s 6.30% Senior Notes due 2017 were issued), to Indenture dated as of June 29, 1998 between 
Equifax Inc. and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Equifax’s 
Form 8-K fi led June 29, 2007).

 4.4  Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 28, 2007 between Equifax Inc. and The Bank of New York Trust Company, 
N.A. (under which Equifax’s 7.00% Senior Notes due 2037 were issued), to Indenture dated as of June 29, 1998 between 
Equifax Inc. and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Equifax’s 
Form 8-K fi led June 29, 2007).

 4.5  Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 24, 2006 among Equifax Inc., Equifax PLC, the Lenders named 
therein and SunTrust Bank as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led 
November 1, 2006).

 4.6  First and Second Amendments to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of May 11, 2007, to Amended and Restated 
Credit Agreement dated as of July 24, 2006 among Equifax Inc., Equifax PLC, the Lenders named therein and SunTrust 
Bank as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Equifax’s Form 8-K fi led May 15, 2007).

 4.7  Note Purchase Agreement dated as of May 25, 2006, among TALX Corporation and the Purchasers named therein (TALX 
Corporation Senior Guaranteed Notes due 2014) (including as Exhibit 1 the form of Senior Guaranteed Note due 2014) 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led August 1, 2007).

 4.8  Amendment Agreement dated as of May 15, 2007, among Equifax Inc., TALX Corporation and the Purchasers named therein 
(including form of Equifax Inc. parent guaranty), to Note Purchase Agreement between TALX Corporation and the Purchasers 
named therein dated as of May 25, 2006 (TALX Corporation Senior Guaranteed Notes due 2014) (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 4.2 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led August 1, 2007). 

   Except as set forth in the preceding Exhibits 4.1 through 4.8, instruments defi ning the rights of holders of long-term debt 
securities of Equifax have been omitted where the total amount of securities authorized does not exceed 10% of the total 
assets of Equifax Inc. and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Equifax agrees to furnish to the SEC, upon request, a 
copy of such instruments with respect to issuances of long-term debt of Equifax and its subsidiaries.

 Management Contracts and Compensatory Plans or Arrangements
 10.1  Equifax Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led 

March 31, 1998).
 10.2  Form of Tier 1 Change in Control Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led 

March 16, 2005).
 10.3  Form of Tier 2 Change in Control Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led 

March 16, 2005).
 10.4  Equifax Inc. Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led 

March 31, 1998).
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EXHIBIT INDEX (continued)

Exhibit
Number Description

 10.5  Equifax Inc. Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan and Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Option Agreement 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led March 31, 1999).

 10.6  Equifax Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Equifax’s Form 10-K 
fi led March 29, 2001).

 10.7  Supplemental Retirement Plan for Executives of Equifax Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Equifax’s 
Form 8-K fi led November 15, 2004).

 10.8  Equifax Inc. Executive Life and Supplemental Retirement Benefi t Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to 
Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led March 29, 2001).

 10.9  Equifax Inc. Key Management Long-Term Incentive Plan as amended and restated effective as of January 1, 2006 (incorporated 
by reference to Appendix A to Equifax’s defi nitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A fi led April 12, 2006).

 10.10  Equifax Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Equifax’s Form 8-K 
fi led November 3, 2004).

 10.11  Form of Non-Qualifi ed Stock Option Agreement under the Equifax Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Equifax’s Form 8-K fi led September 9, 2004).

 10.12  Form of Non-Qualifi ed Stock Option Agreement under the Equifax Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (U.K. approved option 
version) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Equifax’s Form 8-K fi led September 9, 2004).

 10.13  Form of Non-Qualifi ed Stock Option Agreement under the Equifax Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (U.K. unapproved 
option version) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Equifax’s Form 8-K fi led September 9, 2004).

 10.14  Form of Deferred Share Award Agreement (restricted stock units) under the Equifax Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Equifax’s Form 8-K fi led September 9, 2004).

 10.15  Equifax Inc. Bonus Exchange Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led 
March 29, 2001).

 10.16  Bonus Deferral Arrangement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led March 12, 2002).
 10.17  Equifax Inc. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to Equifax’s Form 10-K 

fi led March 28, 2003).
 10.18  Equifax Inc. Director Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended through November 21, 2006 (incorporated by reference 

to Exhibit 4.4 to Equifax’s Form S-8 fi led January 31, 2007).
 10.19  Equifax Grantor Trust dated as of January 1, 2003 between Equifax Inc. and Wachovia Bank, N.A., Trustee (incorporated 

by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led March 28, 2003).
 10.20  Equifax Inc. Director and Executive Stock Deferral Plan as amended through March 31, 2003 (incorporated by reference 

to Exhibit 4 to Equifax’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 fi led November 12, 2003).
 10.21  Form of Executive Offi cer Deferred Share Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to Equifax’s 

10-K fi led March 16, 2005).
 10.22  Form of Director Deferred Share Award Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Equifax’s Form 10-K 

fi led March 16, 2005).
 10.23  Summary of Annual Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led on 

March 16, 2005).
 10.24  Employment Agreement dated as of August 22, 2005 between Equifax Inc. and Richard F. Smith (incorporated by reference 

to Exhibit 10.1 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led November 7, 2005).
 10.25  Deferred Share Award Agreement dated as of September 19, 2005 between Equifax Inc. and Richard F. Smith (incorporated 

by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led November 7, 2005).
 10.26  Offer letter dated as of September 29, 2006 between Lee Adrean and Equifax Inc. (incorporated by reference to 

Exhibit 10.32 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led February 28, 2007).
 10.27  TALX Corporation Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Equifax’s 

Form 10-Q fi led August 1, 2007).
 10.28  Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (TALX Corporation Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan) 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led August 1, 2007).
 10.29  Form of Non-Qualifi ed Stock Option Agreement (TALX Corporation Amended and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan) 

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led August 1, 2007).
 10.30  TALX Corporation Outside Directors’ Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Equifax’s 

Form 10-Q fi led August 1, 2007).
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EXHIBIT INDEX (continued)

Exhibit
Number Description

 10.31  First Amendment to TALX Corporation Outside Directors’ Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 
to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led August 1, 2007).

 10.32  Second Amendment to TALX Corporation Outside Directors’ Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.6 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led August 1, 2007).

 10.33  Form of Director Stock Option Agreement (TALX Corporation, Outside Directors Stock Option Plan) (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led August 1, 2007).

 10.34  Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (TALX Corporation 2005 Omnibus Stock Plan) (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.8 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led August 1, 2007).

 10.35  Employment Agreement dated September 1, 1996, and Modifi cation of Employment Agreement dated February 1, 2007, 
between TALX Corporation and William W. Canfi eld (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q 
fi led August 1, 2007).

 10.36  First Amendment to and Complete Restatement of TALX Split-Dollar Agreements and Related Insurance Agreements, 
dated March 31, 1999, by and among TALX Corporation, William W. Canfi eld, and Thomas M. Canfi eld and James W. 
Canfi eld, Trustees of the Canfi eld Family Irrevocable Insurance Trust U/A March 31, 1993 (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.10 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led August 1, 2007).

 10.37  TALX Corporation 2005 Omnibus Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q fi led 
August 1, 2007).

 Material Contracts
 10.38  Agreement for Computerized Credit Reporting Services and Options to Purchase and Sell Assets dated as of August 1, 1988 

among The Credit Bureau, Incorporated of Georgia, Equifax Inc., Computer Sciences Corporation, CSC Credit Services, 
Inc., Credit Bureau of Greater Cincinnati, Inc., Credit Bureau of Greater Kansas City, Inc., Johns Holding Company, CSC 
Credit Services of Minnesota, Inc. and CSC Accounts Management, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to 
Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led March 30, 2000).

 10.39  First through Third Amendments dated as of December 28, 1990, 1991 and September 27, 1991, respectively, to Agreement 
for Computerized Credit Reporting Services and Options to Purchase and Sell Assets (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 
to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led March 31, 1997).

 10.40  Fourth Amendment dated as of December 31, 1992 to Agreement for Computerized Services and Options to Purchase and 
Sell Assets (incorporated by reference to pages 8 through 16 and Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S-3, Registration 
Statement No. 33-62820 fi led June 17, 1993).

 10.41  Fifth Amendment dated as of September 7, 1993 to Agreement for Computerized Credit Reporting Services and Options 
to Purchase and Sell Assets (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led March 30, 2000).

 10.42  Sixth Amendment dated as of 1994 to Agreement for Computerized Credit Reporting Services and Options to Purchase 
and Sell Assets (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led March 30, 1995).

 10.43  Lease Agreement dated as of March 18, 1994 between Equifax Inc. and William J. Wade, Individual Owner Trustee of 
Equifax Business Trust No. 1994-A, related to leveraged lease of JV White Technology Center (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.24 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led March 30, 2000).

 10.44  Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of June 28, 2007 between Equifax Inc. and First Chicago Leasing Corporation 
related to Equifax’s purchase of the JV White Technology Center (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Equifax’s 
Form 8-K fi led July 3, 2007).

 10.45  Ground Lease Agreement dated as of March 5, 1998 between Rhodes Center Property, L.L.C. and Equifax Inc. related 
to lease of Equifax’s corporate headquarters (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led 
March 31, 1999).

 10.46  Sale, Sublease, Assignment and License Agreement dated as of November 15, 2002 between Equifax Inc. and Seisint, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led March 28, 2003).

 10.47  Analytic Products and Services Master Contract Agreement between Equifax Inc. and Fair, Isaac and Company, Incorporated 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led March 28, 2003).

 10.48  Global Amendments between Equifax Credit Information Services, Inc. and Fair, Isaac and Company, Incorporated 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to Equifax’s Form 10-K fi led March 28, 2003).

 10.49 *  Agreement for Operations Support dated as of July 1, 2003 between International Business Machines Corporation and 
Equifax Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Equifax’s Form 10-Q/A fi led April 29, 2004).
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EXHIBIT INDEX (continued)

Exhibit
Number Description

 10.50  Credit and Security Agreement dated as of September 7, 2004, among Equifax Receivables Finance LLC, as Borrower, 
Equifax Capital Management, Inc., as Servicer, Blue Ridge Asset Funding Corporation, the Liquidity Banks from time to 
time party thereto, and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Equifax’s 
Form 8-K fi led September 9, 2004).

 10.51  (First Step) Receivables Sale Agreement dated as of September 7, 2004, among Equifax Inc., Equifax Information Services 
LLC, Equifax Direct Marketing Solutions LLC, Equifax Information Services of Puerto Rico Inc. and Compliance Data 
Center, Inc., as Originators, and Equifax Capital Management, Inc., as Buyer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to 
Equifax’s Form 8-K fi led September 9, 2004).

 10.52  (Second Step) Receivables Sale Agreement dated as of September 7, 2004 between Equifax Capital Management, Inc., as 
Seller, and Equifax Receivables Finance LLC, as Buyer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Equifax’s Form 8-K 
fi led September 9, 2004).

 10.53  Performance Undertaking dated as of September 7, 2004 between Equifax Capital Management, as Seller, and Equifax 
Receivables Finance LLC, as Buyer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Equifax’s Form 8-K fi led September 9, 2004).

 10.54  Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement dated May 22, 2007 between Equifax Inc. and Banc of America Securities LLC 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Equifax’s Form 8-K fi led May 23, 2007).

 10.55  Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement dated May 22, 2007 between Equifax Inc. and SunTrust Capital Markets Securities, 
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Equifax’s Form 8-K fi led May 23, 2007).

 Other Exhibits and Certifications
 11.1  Calculation of earnings per share. (The calculation of earnings per share is in Part II, Item 8, Note 1 to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements and is omitted in accordance with Section (b)(11) of Item 601 of the Notes to Regulation S-K).
 14.1  Code of Ethics (The Equifax Business Ethics and Compliance Program) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14 to Equifax’s 

Form 10-K fi led March 11, 2004).
 21.1 ** Subsidiaries of Equifax Inc.
 23.1 ** Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
 24.1 ** Powers of Attorney (included on signature page).
 31.1 ** Rule 13a-14(a) Certifi cation of Chief Executive Offi cer.
 31.2 ** Rule 13a-14(a) Certifi cation of Chief Financial Offi cer.
 32.1 ** Section 1350 Certifi cation of Chief Executive Offi cer.
 32.2 ** Section 1350 Certifi cation of Chief Financial Offi cer.

  *  Document omits information pursuant to a Request for Confidential Treatment under Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933 which has been granted by the SEC. 
Omitted portions have been filed separately with the SEC.

** Filed herewith. 
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2007
 Column A Column B Column C  Column D Column E

 Additions

   Balance at Charged to Charged to  Balance at
   Beginning Costs and Other  End of
(In millions) Description  of Period Expenses Accounts Deductions Period

Reserves deducted in the balance sheet 
 from the assets to which they apply:
  Trade accounts receivable  $  8.7 $7.3 $   – $ (7.1) $ 8.9
  Deferred income tax asset valuation allowance  74.8 0.2 8.6 (22.8) 60.8
   $83.5 $7.5 $8.6 $(29.9) $69.7

2006
 Column A Column B Column C  Column D Column E

 Additions

   Balance at Charged to Charged to  Balance at
   Beginning Costs and Other  End of
(In millions) Description  of Period Expenses Accounts Deductions Period

Reserves deducted in the balance sheet 
 from the assets to which they apply:
  Trade accounts receivable  $ 9.6 $5.2 $   – $ (6.1) $ 8.7
  Deferred income tax asset valuation allowance  81.2 0.3 5.5 (12.2) 74.8
     $90.8 $5.5 $5.5 $(18.3) $83.5

2005
 Column A Column B Column C  Column D Column E

 Additions

   Balance at Charged to Charged to  Balance at
   Beginning Costs and Other  End of
(In millions) Description  of Period Expenses Accounts Deductions Period

Reserves deducted in the balance sheet 
 from the assets to which they apply:
  Trade accounts receivable  $  9.3 $4.3 $0.9 $ (4.9) $ 9.6
   Deferred income tax asset valuation allowance  88.0 1.3 – (8.1) 81.2
     $97.3 $5.6 $0.9 $(13.0) $90.8

S C H E D U L E  I I  –  VA L U A T I O N  A N D  Q U A L I F Y I N G  A C C O U N T S
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF EQUIFAX INC.
Registrant – Equifax Inc. (a Georgia corporation)
The Registrant owns, directly or indirectly, 100% of the stock of the following subsidiaries as of January 1, 2008 (all of which are included 
in the consolidated fi nancial statements), except as noted in the footnotes below:

Name of Subsidiary State or Country of Incorporation

3032423 Nova Scotia Company (8)(10) Nova Scotia
3651754 Canada Inc. (9) Canada
Acrofax Inc. (11) Quebec
Alphafax Properties Limited Partnership Georgia
Austin Consolidated Holdings, Inc.  Texas
Clearing de Informes S.A. (6) Uruguay
Compliance Data Center LLC (1) Georgia
Computer Ventures, Inc. (1) Delaware
Credit Bureau Services, Inc. (1) Washington
Equifax Americas B.V. (11) The Netherlands
Equifax de Chile S.A. (7) Chile
Equifax Canada Inc. (11) Canada
Equifax Capital Management, Inc. (1) Georgia
Equifax Commercial Services Ltd. (4) Ireland
Equifax Consumer Services LLC (13) Georgia
Equifax Database Services, Inc. Delaware
Equifax Decision Systems, B.V. (4) The Netherlands
Equifax Direct Marketing Solutions LLC (13) Georgia
Equifax do Brasil Holdings Ltda. (6)(17) Brazil
Equifax do Brasil Ltda. (16)(17) Brazil
Equifax Enabling Technologies LLC (13) Louisiana
Equifax Europe LLC Georgia
Equifax Finance (1), Inc. (1) Georgia
Equifax Finance (2), Inc. (1) Georgia
Equifax Financial Services (9)(12) Ontario
Equifax Holdings Ltd. (21) Mauritius
Equifax Information Services LLC Georgia
Equifax Information Services of Puerto Rico, Inc. Georgia
Equifax Information Technology LLC Georgia
Equifax Investment (South America) LLC (6) Georgia
Equifax Luxembourg (No. 2) S.À R.L. Luxembourg
Equifax Luxembourg S.À R.L. Luxembourg
Equifax Marketing Solutions, Inc. (1) Florida

Name of Subsidiary State or Country of Incorporation

Equifax Mexico B.V. (20) The Netherlands
Equifax Plc (4) England
Equifax Real Estate Mortgage Solutions, LLC (1) Georgia
Equifax Receivables Finance LLC (15) Delaware
Equifax Secure Ltd. (18) United Kingdom
Equifax Settlement Services Holding LLC (1) Georgia
Equifax South America LLC (11) Georgia
Equifax Technology Solutions LLC Georgia
Equifax Ventures, Inc. Georgia
Inversiones Equifax de Chile S.A. (6) Chile
Jon-Jay Associates, Inc. (19) Massachusetts
Light Signatures, Inc. California
Management Insight Incentives, LLC (2) Missouri
NAV Acquisition Inc. (14) Georgia
Net Profi t, Inc. (2) South Carolina
New Management Services LLC (1) Delaware
Opt-Out Services LLC (1) Delaware
Performance Assessment Network, Inc. (2) Delaware
Propago S.A. (7) Chile
Scout Software Systems Private Limited (22) India
Soluciones Veraz Asnef Equifax, S.L. Spain
TBT Enterprises, Incorporated (2) Maryland
TALX Confi rmation Direct, Inc. (2) Missouri
TALX Corporation Missouri
TALX Employer Services, LLC (2) Missouri
TALX Fastime Services, Inc. (2) Texas
TALX Tax Credits and Incentives, LLC (2) Missouri
TALX Tax Incentive Services, LLC (19) Missouri
TALX UCM Services, Inc. (2) Missouri
The Infocheck Group Ltd. (5) England
UI Advantage, Inc. (2) Maryland
Unemployment Services, LLC (19) Missouri
Verdad Informatica de Costa Rica, S.A. (3) Costa Rica

NOTES:
Registrant’s subsidiary Equifax Europe LLC owns 85% of the stock of Equifax Iberica, 
S.L. (Spain), which owns 95% of the stock of ASNEF/Equifax Servicios de Informacion 
Sobre Solvencia y Credito S.L. (Spain); 95% of the stock of Soluciones Veraz Asnef 
Equifax, S.L.; 100% of the stock of Dicodi, S.A. (Spain); 100% of the stock of Informacion 
Tecnica Del Credito S.L. (Spain); and 50% of the stock of Credinformacoes Informacoes 
de Credito, LDA (Portugal), along with Equifax Decision Systems, B.V. which owns 25%.

Registrant’s subsidiary Equifax South America LLC owns 79% of the stock of 
Organizacion Veraz, S.A. (Argentina).

Registrant’s subsidiary Equifax South America LLC owns 100% of the stock of 
Inversiones Equifax de Chile S.A. which owns 100% of the stock of Equifax Chile S.A. 
which owns 25% of the stock of Credit Burode Informacion Crediticia (Ecuador), and 
owns 49% of the stock of Dicom of CentroAmerica (El Salvador), along with Equifax 
South America LLC, which owns 2%, and 16% of the stock of Equifax Peru S.A. (f/k/a 
InfoCorp S.A.), along with Equifax Chile S.A. which owns 35%.  Dicom of CentroAmerica 
(El Salvador) owns 100% of Infocom Honduras S.A. de C.V. (Honduras). 

Registrant’s subsidiary Equifax Information Services LLC owns 40% of FT/E Mortgage 
Solutions, LLC (Delaware) and 100% of Equifax Real Estate Mortgage Solutions, 
LLC (Georgia), which owns 59.4% of Total Credit Services, L.P. (Delaware), along 
with FT/E Mortgage Solutions, LLC, which owns 1%.

Registrant’s subsidiary Equifax Information Services LLC owns 25% of Online Data 
Exchange LLC (Delaware), 33% of Central Source LLC (Delaware), and 100% of 
Equifax Settlement Services Holding LLC (Georgia), and 50% of Equifax Settlement 
Services, LLC (Pennsylvania), which owns 100% of Equifax Settlement Services of 
Alabama, LLC (Alabama).

Registrant’s subsidiary Equifax Information Services LLC owns a 33% interest in 
VantageScore Solutions, LLC (Delaware).

 (1) Subsidiary of Equifax Information Services LLC
 (2) Subsidiary of TALX Corporation
 (3) Subsidiary of Equifax Direct Marketing Solutions LLC
 (4) Subsidiary of Equifax Luxembourg S.À R.L.
 (5) Subsidiary of Equifax Plc
 (6) Subsidiary of Equifax South America LLC
 (7) Subsidiary of Inversiones Equifax de Chile S.A.
 (8) Subsidiary of Equifax Finance (1), Inc.
 (9) Subsidiary of 3032423 Nova Scotia Company
 (10) Subsidiary of Equifax Finance (2), Inc.
 (11) Subsidiary of Equifax Information Services of Puerto Rico, Inc.
 (12) Subsidiary of 3651754 Canada Inc.
 (13) Subsidiary of Equifax Database Services, Inc.
 (14) Subsidiary of Equifax Marketing Solutions, Inc. 
 (15) Subsidiary of Equifax Capital Management, Inc.
 (16) Subsidiary of Equifax do Brazil Holdings Ltd.
 (17) Subsidiary of Equifax Investment (South America) LLC
 (18) Subsidiary of Equifax Capital Management, Inc.
 (19) Subsidiary of TALX UCM Services, Inc.
 (20) Subsidiary of Equifax Americas, B.V.
 (21) Subsidiary of Equifax Decision Systems, B.V. 
 (22) Subsidiary of Equifax Holdings Ltd.
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PULIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements of Equifax Inc. and subsidiaries and in the related 
Prospectuses of our reports dated February 26, 2008, with respect to the consolidated fi nancial statements and schedule of Equifax Inc. 
and subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting of Equifax Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) 
for the year ended December 31, 2007.

 1.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (File No. 33-34640); 
 2.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. Employee Stock Incentive Plan (File No. 33-58734); 
 3.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. 1995 Employees Stock Incentive Plan (File No. 33-58627); 
 4.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan and Equifax Inc. Employee 

Stock Incentive Plan to be funded in part through the Equifax Inc. Employee Stock Benefi ts Trust (File No. 33-86978); 
 5.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan and Equifax Inc. Employee 

Stock Incentive Plan to be funded in part through the Equifax Inc. Employee Stock Benefi ts Trust (File No. 33-71200); 
 6.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. Global Stock Sale Program to be funded through the Equifax Inc. 

Employee Stock Benefi ts Trust (File No. 333-52203);
 7.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. Employee Special Recognition Bonus Award Plan to be funded 

through the Equifax Inc. Employee Stock Benefi ts Trust (File No. 333-52201); 
 8.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (File No. 333-68421); 
 9.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. 1995 Employee Stock Incentive Plan (File No. 333-68477); 
 10.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (File No. 333-48702); 
 11.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. 401(k) Plan (File No. 333-97875);
 12.  Registration Statement on Form S-3 pertaining to the acquisition of Commercial Data Center (File No. 333-54764); 
 13.  Registration Statement on Form S-4 pertaining to the 4.95% Notes Due 2007 with an aggregate principal amount of $250,000,000 

(File No. 333-101701); 
 14.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Director and Executive Stock Deferral Plan (File No. 333-110411); 
 15.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (File No. 333-116185); 
 16.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. 2001 Nonqualifi ed Stock Incentive Plan (File No. 333-116186); 
 17.  Registration Statement on Form S-3 pertaining to the registration of an offering by selling security holders of 443,337 shares of 

Equifax common stock (File No. 333-129123); 
 18.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the Equifax Inc. Director Deferred Compensation Plan (File No. 333-140360); 
 19.  Registration Statement on Form S-4 pertaining to the acquisition of TALX Corporation (File No. 333-141389); 
 20.  Registration Statement on Form S-8 pertaining to the TALX Corporation 2005 Omnibus Incentive Plan, TALX Corporation Amended 

and Restated 1994 Stock Option Plan, and TALX Corporation Outside Directors’ Stock Option Plan (File No. 333-142997); and
 21.  Registration Statement on Form S-3 pertaining to the shelf registration of Equifax Inc. debt securities (File No. 333-144009). 

 Atlanta, Georgia
 February 26, 2008
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Richard F. Smith, certify that:

 1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Equifax Inc.;
 2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;

 3.  Based on my knowledge, the fi nancial statements, and other fi nancial information included in this report, fairly present in 
all material respects the fi nancial condition, results of operations and cash fl ows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report;

 4.  The registrant’s other certifying offi cer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defi ned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over fi nancial reporting 
(as defi ned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

   a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, 
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

   b)  Designed such internal control over fi nancial reporting, or caused such internal control over fi nancial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fi nancial reporting and the 
preparation of fi nancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

   c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and

   d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over fi nancial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fi scal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fi scal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, 
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over fi nancial reporting; and

 5.  The registrant’s other certifying offi cer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
fi nancial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing 
the equivalent functions): 

   a)  All signifi cant defi ciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over fi nancial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report fi nancial 
information; and

   b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a signifi cant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over fi nancial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2008   /s/ RICHARD F. SMITH

  Richard F. Smith
  Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Lee Adrean, certify that:

 1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Equifax Inc.;
 2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report;

 3.  Based on my knowledge, the fi nancial statements, and other fi nancial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the fi nancial condition, results of operations and cash fl ows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented 
in this report;

 4.  The registrant’s other certifying offi cer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defi ned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over fi nancial reporting (as defi ned in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

   a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

   b)  Designed such internal control over fi nancial reporting, or caused such internal control over fi nancial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fi nancial reporting and the preparation of 
fi nancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

   c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and

   d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over fi nancial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fi scal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fi scal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or 
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over fi nancial reporting; and

 5.  The registrant’s other certifying offi cer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
fi nancial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing 
the equivalent functions):

   a)  All signifi cant defi ciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over fi nancial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report fi nancial 
information; and

   b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a signifi cant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over fi nancial reporting.

Date: February 27, 2008   /s/ LEE ADREAN

  Lee Adrean
  Chief Financial Offi cer
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Equifax Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, as fi led 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Richard F. Smith, Chairman and Chief Executive 
Offi cer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that to my knowledge:

 (1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 (2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the fi nancial condition and results of operations 

of the Company.

Date: February 27, 2008   /s/ RICHARD F. SMITH

  Richard F. Smith
  Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Equifax Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, as fi led 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Lee Adrean, Chief Financial Offi cer of the Company, 
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

 (1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 (2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the fi nancial condition and results of operations 

of the Company.

Date: February 27, 2008   /s/ LEE ADREAN

  Lee Adrean
  Chief Financial Offi cer
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Business Description
Equifax empowers businesses and consumers with information they can trust. We are a global leader in 
credit, risk and marketing information solutions, employment and income verifi cation, as well as human 
resources business process outsourcing services. Leveraging one of the largest sources of consumer and 
commercial data, along with advanced analytics and proprietary technology, we create customized insights 
that enrich both the performance of businesses and the lives of consumers.
 Customers have trusted Equifax for more than 100 years to deliver innovative solutions with the highest 
integrity and reliability. Businesses – large and small – rely on us for consumer and business credit intelligence, 
portfolio management, fraud detection, decisioning technology, marketing tools, workforce solutions, and 
much more. We empower individual consumers to manage their personal credit information, protect their 
identities and maximize their fi nancial well-being.
 Headquartered in Atlanta, Georgia, Equifax Inc. employs approximately 7,000 people in 14 countries 
throughout North America, Latin America and Europe. Equifax is a member of Standard & Poor’s (S&P) 
500® Index. Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol EFX.

 Twelve Months Ended 
 December 31,
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2007 2006  Change

Operating revenue $ 1,843.0 $ 1,546.3 19%
Operating income $ 486.2 $ 436.1 11%
Operating margin  26.4%  28.2% nm
Net income $ 272.7 $ 274.5 -1%
Diluted earnings per share  $ 2.02 $ 2.12 -5%
Weighted-average common shares outstanding (diluted) $ 135.1  129.4 4%
Cash provided by operating activities  $ 449.9 $ 372.1 21%
Stock price per share at December 31, $ 36.36 $ 40.60 -10%

Diluted earnings per share, adjusted for certain items (Non-GAAP)* $ 2.32 $ 2.16 7%
 nm – not meaningful

*See reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measures to the corresponding GAAP financial measures on page 11.

Financial Highlights

E Q U I FA X  B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S

Richard F. Smith
Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer of Equifax since 
December 2005. Chief Executive Offi cer and Director 
since September 2005. Chief Operating Offi cer of GE 
Insurance Solutions from 2004 to August 2005; President 
and Chief Executive Offi cer of GE Property and Casualty 
Reinsurance from 2003 to 2004; President and Chief 
Executive Officer of GE Property and Casualty 
Reinsurance – Americas of GE Global Insurance Holdings 
Corporation from 2001 to 2003; and President and Chief 
Executive Offi cer of GE Capital Fleet Services from 
1995 to 2000.

William W. Canfi eld
Director since 2007. President of TALX Corporation, 
a subsidiary of Equifax Inc. Prior to the 2007 acquisition 
of TALX Corporation by Equifax Inc., Mr. Canfi eld served 
as President, Chief Executive Offi cer and director of 
TALX from 1986 to 1988 when he also became Chairman 
of the Board of TALX. He is also a director of Concur 
Technologies, Inc.

John L. Clendenin 
Director since 1982 and Lead Director from 2002 until 
2004. He served as Chairman, President and Chief 
Executive Offi cer of BellSouth Corporation from 1983 until 
his retirement in 1996. He continued to serve as Chairman 
until 1997. He also is a director of The Kroger Company, 
The Home Depot, Inc., Acuity Brands, Inc. and Powerwave 
Technologies, Inc. He will be retiring from the Equifax 
board in May 2008.

James E. Copeland, Jr. 
Director since 2003. Retired Chief Executive Offi cer of 
Deloitte & Touche LLP and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, 
public accounting fi rms. He served in such capacity from 
1999 until his retirement in 2003. He is also a director 
of Coca-Cola Enterprises Inc., ConocoPhillips and 
Time Warner Cable, Inc.

A. William Dahlberg 
Director from 1992 until his retirement in 2007. Retired 
Chairman of the Board of Mirant Corporation, an 
international energy producer, from 2000 to 2006. 
Previously, from 1995 until 2001, he served as Chairman 
and Chief Executive Offi cer of The Southern Company and, 
prior to that time, was President and Chief Executive 
Offi cer of Georgia Power Company.

Robert D. Daleo
Director since August 2006. Executive Vice President 
and Chief Financial Offi cer of The Thomson Corporation, 
a provider of integrated information solutions, since 1998. 
He has served as a director of The Thomson Corporation 
since 2001. He is a member of the Board of Trustees for 
the New Jersey Community Development Corporation.

Walter W. Driver, Jr.
Director since 2007. Chairman – Southeast of Goldman 
Sachs & Company since January 2006. Prior to that, 
Mr. Driver was Chairman of King & Spalding LLP, 
an international law fi rm, from 1999 to 2005. He is also 
a director of Total System Services, Inc.

Mark L. Feidler
Director since March 2007. Founding partner in 
MSouth Equity Partners, a private equity fi rm based in 
Atlanta. Former President, Chief Operating Offi cer and 
director of BellSouth Corporation from July 2005 until 
January 2007. He was appointed Chief Operating 
Offi cer of BellSouth Corporation in January 2005 and 
served as its Chief Staff Offi cer during 2004. He is also 
a director of New York Life Insurance Company. 

L. Phillip Humann 
Director since 1992. Executive Chairman of the Board 
of SunTrust Banks, Inc., a multi-bank holding company, 
since 2007. Also at SunTrust, he served as Chairman 
and Chief Executive Offi cer from 2004 to January 2007; 
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offi cer from 
1998 to 2004; and President from 1991 to 1998. He is 
also a director of Coca-Cola Enterprises Inc., Haverty 
Furniture Companies, Inc. and the Federal Reserve 
Bank of Atlanta.

Lee A. Kennedy 
Director since 2004. President, Chief Executive 
Offi cer and director of Fidelity National Information 
Services, Inc., since 2006. He served as Chief 
Executive Officer of Certegy Inc. from 2001 until 
2006 when Certegy merged with Fidelity National 
Information Services, Inc. Prior to the spin-off of 
Certegy from Equifax, he served as President and 
Chief Operating Offi cer and a director of Equifax 
from 1998 June 2001. 

Siri S. Marshall
Director since August 2006. Retired General Counsel, 
Secretary, and Chief Governance and Compliance 
Offi cer of General Mills, Inc., a diversifi ed foods maker 
and distributor. She served in such capacity from 1994 
until her retirement in January 2008. She is also a 
director of Ameriprise Financial, Inc. and the Yale Law 
School Center for the Study of Corporate Law.

Larry L. Prince 
Director since 1988 and Lead Director since 2006. 
Chairman of the Executive Committee of Genuine Parts 
Company, an automotive parts wholesaler since 2005. 
He served as Chairman of the Board of Genuine Parts 
Company from 1990 until 2005 and Chief Executive 
Offi cer from 1989 until 2004. He is also a director of 
SunTrust Banks, Inc. and Crawford & Co. 

Newly Appointed Board Member
Mark B. Templeton

Director since February 2008. 
President and a director of Citrix 
Systems, Inc., a global software 
development fi rm, since 1998 and 
Chief Executive Offi cer from 2001 
to the present. Mr. Templeton also 
served as Chief Executive Offi cer of 

Citrix from 1999 to 2000 and as Senior Executive Offi cer 
of Citrix from 2000 to 2001. 

Jacquelyn M. Ward 
Director since 1999. Retired Chairman and Chief 
Executive Offi cer of Computer Generation Inc., a 
telecommunications company she co-founded, from 
1968 until it was acquired by Intec Telecom Systems 
in 2000. She is also a director of Bank of America 
Corporation, Flowers Foods, Inc., Sanmina-SCI 
Corporation, SYSCO Corporation and WellPoint, Inc.

Left to right (seated): Larry L. Prince, A. William Dahlberg, Richard F. Smith; left to right (standing): William W. Canfi eld, Lee A. Kennedy, 
Siri S. Marshall, L. Phillip Humann, John L. Clendenin, James E. Copeland, Jr., Jacquelyn M. Ward, Walter W. Driver, Jr., Robert D. Daleo, Mark L. Feidler
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Our customers are better informed through our unique 
data on business, employment and consumers.

INFORM

Our analytics leverage our unique data to provide powerful 
insights that help enrich business customers’ performance 
and consumers’ lives.

ENRICH

Our proprietary technology delivers information solutions 
and insights that empower customers to make the right 
decisions at the right time – and with greater confi dence.

EMPOWER
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Equifax Inc.

1550 Peachtree Street, N.W.

Atlanta, Georgia 30309

Telephone (404) 885-8000

www.equifax.com
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